
ANNUAL REPORT 2017



Corporate Profile

Chairman’s Statement

Business Operations and Financial Review

Board of Directors

Key Management

Corporate Information

Group Structure

Financial Contents

CONTENTS

01

02

06

03

07

05

09

08

This annual report has been prepared by the Company and its contents have been reviewed by the Company’s sponsor, PrimePartners 
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CORPORATE
PROFILE

Sen Yue Holdings Limited (the “Company” and together with 
its subsidiaries, the “Group”), commenced operations in 1992 
as a tool and die designer and manufacturer; and becoming a 
specialist Electro Deposition (“ED”) coating service provider in 
the subsequent years.

In 2015, the Group expanded its core business activities into 
the resources industry, i.e. trading of commodities, especially 
in non-ferrous metals. Specifically, our core businesses now 
comprise the following:-

 ▪ Trading of commodities, including copper, non-ferrous 
metals and other special alloys;

 ▪ Provision of waste management solutions, treatment and 
recycling of metal scraps, industrial and electronic waste 
such as lithium ion batteries (with effect from 2017); 

 ▪ Trading of moulds used in the manufacture of speaker nets 
and frames, and other metal components;

 ▪ Manufacture and sale of speaker nets and frames, and 
other metal components; and

 ▪ Provision of  ED coating,  organic  coating,  powder  coating,  
spray-painting  and  silk-screening to  the manufacturers for 
automobiles, consumer electronics, motorcycles, bicycle 
components and iron metal gates.
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CHAIRMAN’S
STATEMENT

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS.
I am pleased and honoured to present to you the 
annual report of Sen Yue Holdings Limited (“Sen 
Yue”) for the financial year ended 30 September 
2017 (“FY2017”).

I am also extremely pleased that we have successfully 
turned around the business from a loss of S$1.5 
million (mainly due to foreign exchange losses) 
to a profit of approximately S$2.6 million. Efforts 
contributed by all levels of the Group, from the Board 
to the management and staff, helped ensure that the 
Group will emerge stronger after our setback in the 
previous financial year.

FY2017 marked a new beginning in the transformation 
of the business activities of Sen Yue. I am pleased 
that shareholders voted in favour of the acquisition 
of the remaining 50% shareholding interest of SMC 
Industrial Pte Ltd (“SMC”), thereby making SMC a 
100%-owned subsidiary of the Group. Since the 
completion of the acquisition in January 2017, we 
have made significant progress in its operational 
integration with the Group.

With the acquisition of SMC and again with 
shareholders’ approval, we expanded our business 
operations to include waste management and 
its related services. In FY2017, we have further  
expanded our business into e-waste management 
through capital investments made by SMC. Whilst 
currently at its preliminary stage of production, 
these investments in plant and machinery will allow 
us to process discarded lithium batteries into its 
raw metal commodities.  At the same time, we are 
building up our capabilities at our new premise at 
3 Jalan Pesawat (“New Premise”) to manage and 
recycle waste items including but not limited to 
consumer electronics components. We believe that 
the electronic waste recycling market will present 
new growth opportunities for the Group.

At the same time, SMC has also relocated to our 
New Premise, and sold the existing premise at 
16 Tuas Avenue 20 to Jurong Town Corporation. 
With the larger space made available, we are able 

to house the commodities and non-ferrous metals 
trading activities together with waste management 
activities all under one roof. Through this, we hope 
to be able to achieve better productivity and synergy 
in this new financial year.

Our Malaysia operations have remained stable, 
reporting higher profits for FY2017. Though 
we faced many challenges in the provision of 
manufacturing services, our management team in 
Malaysia have, with their many years of experience, 
managed the businesses prudently and effectively to 
achieve better margins through higher productivity. 
Operations in Indonesia have also done well, and the 
stable exchange rate (USD vs IDR) has allowed us to 
report better results from Indonesia as well.

Going forward, we will be strengthening our 
capabilities in the waste management businesses, 
and explore opportunities in this area. With the 
foundation built by SMC, we believe we stand in 
good stead to leverage on the tremendous growth 
potential within the e-waste management industry, 
including the recycling of lithium ion batteries.

APPRECIATION
On behalf of the Board, I would like to take this 
opportunity to thank all our stakeholders who have 
supported us throughout FY2017, and maintained 
their faith in us despite the setback in the preceding 
financial year. Our heartfelt thanks go to the Board 
of Directors for their valuable time, sharing of 
experiences, provision of guidance and contribution. 
I would also like to commend our staff for their 
dedication, hard work and perseverance in FY2017. 
The unwavering support from our customers and 
suppliers are also much appreciated. In addition, we 
would also like to thank our bankers and professional 
parties who have extended their support and 
provided valuable advice.

Lastly, a big thank you to all our shareholders and we 
look forward to your continued support.

Koh Mia Seng
Executive Chairman
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BUSINESS OPERATIONS &
FINANCIAL REVIEW

REVIEW OF INCOME STATEMENT

The Group’s revenue increased by $55.0 million 
or 36.1% to $207.2 million in FY2017 due mainly 
to the increase of revenue in the trading of 
commodities segment, as a result of higher demand 
from the People’s Republic of China. Revenues 
from other business segments of the Group such 
as ED Coating and Metal Components, tool and 
die, remain constant. The Group registered a profit 
before tax of $3.5 million in FY2017 compared with 
a loss before tax of $1.0 million in FY2016, mainly 
due to an increase in revenue and decrease in net 
foreign exchange translation loss from the trading of 
commodities segment (the “FX Loss”). 

Gross profit increased by $5.2 million or 43.7% 
mainly due to a higher gross profit margin of 8.3% 
in FY2017 (FY2016: 7.8%) as a result of lower 
cost overheads from tighter cost control measures 
adopted by the Group.

Other operating expenses decreased by $1.6 million 
to $1.6 million in FY2017 from $3.2 million in 
FY2016 mainly due to the absence of the FX loss. 

Administrative expenses increased by $1.5 million 
due to relocation expenses incurred during the 
financial year and dual depreciation charged in 
second half of the year, in which the purchase of new 
premise at 3 Jalan Pesawat was completed in May 
2017 and the sale of the premise at 16 Tuas Avenue 
20 to Jurong Town Corporation was completed after 
September 2017, by our subsidiary SMC Industrial 
Pte Ltd (“SMC”).

Finance cost increased by $0.4 million from $1.1 
million in FY2016 to $1.5 million in FY2017 mainly 
due to additional trade financing obtained for 
working capital purposes in relation to higher sales 
volume from trading of commodities segment. 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

The increase in property, plant and equipment from 
$19.1 million as at 30 September 2016 to $27.3 
million as at 30 September 2017 was mainly due 
to the purchase of equipment and the acquisition 
of new premise at 3 Jalan Pesawat in May 2017 
by SMC. The increase has been partially offset by 
the disposal of premise at 16 Tuas Ave 20 for $3.5 
million in September 2017 and depreciation charges 
of $2.0 million.

Insurance assets amounting to $3.4 million as at 30 
September 2017 relates to the cash surrender value 
of the life insurance policies purchased by one of 
the subsidiaries for the Executive Chairman of the 
Company, with the subsidiary being the beneficiary 
of the policies. These policies were pledged to banks 
as collaterals for banking facilities related to working 
capital purposes. 

The Group’s current assets amounted to $68.6 million 
in FY2017, comprising cash and cash equivalents of 
$10.4 million, trade and other receivables of $52.5 
million and inventories of $5.8 million. The increase 
in trade and other receivables of $11.1 million and 
the increase in inventories of $0.8 million, were 
both due to the increase in trading volume from the 
trading of commodities segment.

The Group’s current liabilities amounted to $59.6 
million as at 30 September 2017, comprising trade 
and other payables of $9.9 million, bank overdrafts, 
loans and trade bills of $47.0 million, convertible 
notes of $1.9 million, finance leases of $0.2 million 
and income tax payable of $0.5 million. 

Trade and other payables increased by $3.7 million 
due mainly to increase in purchases of materials 
under the trading of commodities segment during 
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BUSINESS OPERATIONS &
FINANCIAL REVIEW

the financial year. Bank overdrafts, loans and trade 
bills increased by $11.5 million, as the facilities were 
drawn down to finance the increase in trading volume 
for trading of commodities segment. Finance leases 
increased by $0.1 million due to the new finance 
lease obtained for financing of new machinery. 

Income tax payable increased marginally by $0.2 
million despite the significant increase in profit 
before tax, due mainly to the availability of unutilised 
business losses brought forward and tax credit to 
offset against the chargeable income. Convertible 
notes of $0.9 million and $1.0 million will mature 
on April 30, 2018 and July 18, 2018 respectively. 
Hence, it was reclassified from non-current liabilities 
to current liabilities within the balance sheet.

The Group had a positive working capital of $9.0 
million as at 30 September 2017, compared to $13.0 
million as at 30 September 2016.

The Group’s non-current liabilities as at 30 
September 2017 decreased by $1.1 million mainly 
due to the reclassification of convertible notes from 
non-current liabilities of $1.9 million, but partially 
offset by the increase of non-current finance leases 
of $0.4 million for the purchase of a new battery 
recycling machine and deferred tax liabilities of $0.3 
million. 

The Company completed the acquisition of the 
balance 50% shareholding interest in SMC on 24 
January 2017. Post completion, SMC became a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company; hence 
non-controlling interest is no longer present in the 
Group’s statement of financial position as at 30 
September 2017

CASH FLOW ANALYSIS

In FY2017, the Group generated net cash from 
operating activities before changes in working capital 
of $7.1 million and the net cash inflow from operating 
activities amounted to $7.0 million. This was mainly 
due to the higher profit before tax generated of $3.5 
million and adjustments for interest expense and 
depreciation of property, plant and equipment.

Net cash used in investing activities amounted to 
$8.4 million in FY2017, mainly due to the purchase 
of property, plant and equipment.

Net cash generated from financing activities of 
$1.5 million in FY2017 is mainly due to new bank 
loans raised of $6.6 million, partially offset by the 
interest paid to the banks of $1.5 million, repayment 
of borrowings of $1.7 million, increase in pledged 
deposits with financial institutions of $1.7 million 
and repayment of finance lease liabilities of $0.2 
million.
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BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

Mr. Koh Mia Seng is the Company’s Executive 
Director and Executive Chairman, first appointed as 
an Executive Director on 3 March 2015. He was re-
elected as a Director of the Company and appointed 
as Executive Chairman on 25 January 2016. Mr. Koh 
founded SMC Industrial Pte Ltd back in the 1980s. 
Prior to that, he operated a sole-proprietorship 
dealing with the trading of commodities, including 
copper, iron and other metallic commodities. Mr. 
Koh has an in-depth understanding of the business 
requirements in the commodities and resources 
industry, and is familiar with the international trends 
and the environmental concerns of the different 
countries in the region. Mr. Koh has also guided the 
growth of the Company to ensure that it complies 
with safety, environmental and other regulations.  
With more than 20 years of experience in the 
resources industry, Mr. Koh has grown and expanded 
the Group in the resources segment. 

Mr. Neo Gim Kiong is the Company’s Executive 
Director and Chief Executive Officer, appointed 
since 27 April 2015 and was re-elected as a Director 
of the Company on 25 January 2016. Mr. Neo is 
responsible for the strategic growth of the company 
and exploring of new opportunities of growth for the 
Group.  He is also the founding director of Dollar Tree 
Inc Pte Ltd, a business advisory firm incorporated in 
Singapore in 2004.  Mr. Neo is the lead independent 
director of International Press Softcom Limited, 
independent director of Ban Leong Technologies 
Ltd, independent non-executive chairman of Astaka 
Holdings Ltd and independent director of Trek 2000 
International Ltd. In addition, he is a board member 
of both P.R.China Guangdong Province Overseas 
Exchange Association and Ningxia Autonomous 
Region Overseas Exchange Association. He holds 
a Bachelor of Science Degree in Mathematics with 
Honours from the National University of Singapore.

Mr. Liew Nyok Wah is the Company’s Executive 
Director, appointed on 3 September 2014 and was 
re-elected as a Director of the Company on 29 
January 2015. Mr. Liew is the founder and managing 
director of Jackspeed Automobile (S) Pte. Ltd., the 
first company to bring in ABS (Anti-Lock Braking 
System) back in the 1980s and also the first company 
that actively promotes the use of cyclone, an additive 
which promotes better engine efficiency. In 1993, 
he co-founded Jackspeed Leather Special (S) Pte. 
Ltd., a company which subsequently listed on SGX 
Mainboard in 2003. Mr. Liew is actively involved in 
exploring new business opportunities and expansion 
possibilities for the Group.

Mr. Kevin Norbert Scully is the Company’s Lead 
Independent Non-Executive Director, appointed on 
11 April 2011 and was re-elected as a Director of the 
Company on 23 January 2017. He has more than 30 
years of experience in equities research and analysis, 
corporate advisory and related matters, having 
worked for more than 12 years in various positions 
in the Schroder Securities Group in Asia such as the 
head of research and managing director of Schroder 
Securities Singapore and a director of Schroder 
Asia Securities (Hong Kong) Limited. In 1999, he 
founded and was the executive chairman of the  
Net-research group of companies in Singapore. 
He holds a Bachelor of Social Science (Hons) in 
Economics & Statistics from the National University 
of Singapore. In the preceding three years, Mr 
Scully was an independent director of NTUC 
Income Insurance Co-operative and JEP Holdings 
Ltd in Singapore and Electro Optic Systems Ltd of 
Australia, a member of the Investment Committee 
of Singapore Institute of Management (“SIM”) Group 
and an Adjunct Professor of SIM University School of 
Human Development & Social Services.
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BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

KEY
MANAGEMENT

Mdm. Yu Lihong is the Company’s Independent Non-
Executive Director, appointed on 3 September 2014 
and was re-elected as a Director of the company on 
23 January 2017. She started her career as a journalist 
at Mediacorp and moved on subsequently to an 
investment analyst position with Kim Eng Securities 
Singapore in 2000. In 2012, Mdm. Yu found Gifted 
& Talented Education Group which specialises in 
providing early learning support to gifted children 
in Singapore and the region. Mdm. Yu graduated 
from the National University of Singapore, faculty of 
Business Administration (major in finance) with First 
Class Honours. She is a fellow of the Association 
of Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA, UK), a 
non-practising member of the Institute of Singapore 
Chartered Accountants (ISCA, Singapore), and a 
member of Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA, US).

Mr. Foo Say Kit is the Divisional Managing Director 
who is responsible for the overall performance, 
engineering and technical support of the business 
units in Peninsular Malaysia & Indonesia. He joined 
the Group in 2004, where his responsibilities 
included the exploration and business development 
with suppliers. Prior to joining the subsidiary, Mr. 
Foo worked in the HDDs (Hard Disk Drives) related 
industries such as ED (Electro-Deposition) coating, 
precision machining and aluminium die casting. Mr. 
Foo holds a Diploma in Mechanical Engineering and 
an Advance Diploma in Industrial Engineering from 
Singapore Polytechnic.

Mr. Lim Soon Wah is the Director and Operations 
Manager of PT PNE Indonesia, a subsidiary located in 
Indonesia. He joined one of the Group’s subsidiaries 
in 2000 and has more than 20 years’ experience in 
the metal surface finishing industry, specialising in 

Mr. Low Ka Choon Kevin is the Company’s 
Independent Non-Executive Director, appointed 
on 9 April 2015 and was re-elected as a Director of 
the Company on 25 January 2016.  Mr. Low is also 
the managing director/chief executive officer of 
International Press Softcom Limited. Prior to 1995, 
Mr. Low worked as a lawyer in a law firm in Singapore. 
He holds a Bachelor of Laws (Hons.) degree from the 
National University of Singapore. 

powder and Electro-Deposition coating process. He 
oversees PT PNE Indonesia’s marketing, day-to-day 
operations and is responsible for overall performance 
of the business unit in Indonesia.  

Mr. Pua Kai Chek is the General Manager, Malaysia 
who is responsible for the overall performance of the 
central and northern Peninsular Malaysia business 
units. He oversees the subsidiaries’ marketing, 
business development activities and daily operations. 
He has more than 10 years’ experience in the metal 
surface finishing industry. Mr. Pua started his career 
with a manufacturer of HDDs as a Process Engineer 
before joining one of the Group’s subsidiaries in 2003 
as Head of the Engineering Process Department. Mr. 
Pua graduated from the University of Technology 
Malaysia in 2002 with an Honours in Bachelor of 
Chemical Engineering (Bioprocess Engineering).
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CORPORATE
INFORMATION
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Low Ka Choon Kevin, Chairman
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Yu Lihong, Chairman
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GROUP
STRUCTURE

PNE Micron Engineering Pte Ltd
(Singapore)

PNE Resources Pte Ltd
(Singapore)

PNE-Sino Pte Ltd
(Singapore)

PNE Micron (Kuala Lumpur) Sdn Bhd
(Malaysia)

PNE Precision Sdn Bhd
(Malaysia)

PT PNE Indonesia
(Indonesia)

SMC Industrial (HK) Limited
(Hong Kong)

PT Le Royaume PNE
(Indonesia)

SMC Industrial (UK) Co Ltd
(United Kingdom)

PNE Marvellous Sdn Bhd
(Malaysia)

CED System Sdn Bhd
(Malaysia)

Hong Nam Industry (M) Sdn Bhd
(Malaysia)

PNE Micron Engineering Sdn Bhd
(Malaysia)

*The Company had completed the acquisition of balance 50% share-
holding interest in SMC on 24 January 2017. Post completion, SMC 
became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. 

SMC Industrial Pte Ltd
(Singapore)*

100%

Macore Technology (M) Sdn Bhd
(Malaysia)

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
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CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE
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The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Sen Yue Holdings Limited (the “Company”) are commi� ed to 
maintaining a high standard of corporate governance within the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”).

This report outlines the Company’s main corporate governance pracঞ ces that were in place through the 
fi nancial year ended 30 September 2017 (“FY2017”) with reference to the principles set out in the Code of 
Corporate Governance 2012 (the “Code”) and the disclosure guide developed by the Singapore Exchange 
Securiঞ es Trading Limited (the “SGX-ST”) in January 2015 (the “Guide”). The Company has complied with the 
principles and guidelines as set out in the Code and the Guide, where applicable. Appropriate explanaঞ ons 
have been provided in the relevant secঞ ons below where there are deviaঞ ons from the Code and the Guide.

Guidelines of the Code Sen Yue Corporate Governance Pracঞ ces

BOARD MATTERS

The Board’s Conduct of Aff airs

Principle 1
Every company should be headed by an eff ecঞ ve Board to lead and control the company. The Board is collecঞ vely 
responsible for the long-term success of the company. The Board works with Management to achieve this 
objecঞ ve and Management remains accountable to the Board.

1.1 The Board’s role is to: 

 (a) provide entrepreneurial leadership, set 
strategic objecঞ ves, and ensure that the 
necessary fi nancial and human resources 
are in place for the company to meet its 
objecঞ ves;

 (b) establish a framework of prudent and 
effective controls which enables risks 
to be assessed and managed, including 
safeguarding of shareholders’ interests 
and the company’s assets;

 (c) review management performance;

 (d) idenঞ fy the key stakeholder groups and 
recognise that their percepঞ ons aff ect the 
company’s reputaঞ on;

 (e) set the company’s values and standards 
(including ethical standards), and ensure 
that obligaঞ ons to shareholders and other 
stakeholders are understood and met; 
and

 (f) consider sustainability issues, e.g. 
environmental and social factors, as part 
of its strategic formulaঞ on.

The principal funcঞ ons of the Board, apart from its 
statutory and fi duciary responsibiliঞ es, include:-

• protecঞ ng and enhancing shareholders’ value; 

• overseeing the Management of the Group. 
The Board meets regularly to discharge this 
obligaঞ on;

• determining the overall strategies of the Group 
as well as policies covering various matters 
with an emphasis on values, standards, internal 
controls, budget, financial performance, 
half yearly reporting and risk management 
procedures, as well as environmental issues; and

• reviewing and approving all major investment 
and divestment proposals, acquisitions and 
disposal of assets and interested person 
transacঞ ons, if any.

Please refer to Table A set out on page 45 to page 46 
of this Annual Report for the composiঞ on and primary 
funcঞ ons of the Board.
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Guidelines of the Code Sen Yue Corporate Governance Pracঞ ces

1.2 All directors must objectively discharge their 
duties and responsibilities at all times as 
fi duciaries in the interests of the company.

Every Director, in the course of carrying out his or her 
duঞ es, acts in good faith and considers at all ঞ mes, the 
interests of the Group.

1.3 The Board may delegate the authority to make 
decisions to any Board Commi� ee but without 
abdicaঞ ng its responsibility. Any such delegaঞ on 
should be disclosed.

The Board delegates the implementaঞ on of business 
policies and day-to-day operations to the Chief 
Execuঞ ve Offi  cer (“CEO”), Mr. Neo Gim Kiong and the 
Group’s Management team.

The Board has established a Nominaঞ ng Commi� ee 
(“NC”), a Remuneration Committee (“RC”) and an 
Audit Committee (“AC”) (collectively, the “Board 
Committees”) to facilitate the discharge of their 
respecঞ ve responsibiliঞ es.

The Board Commi� ees, which operate within clearly 
defi ned terms of reference, are acঞ vely engaged and 
play an important role in ensuring good corporate 
governance of the Group. All recommendaঞ ons of the 
Board Commi� ees are subsequently reviewed by the 
Board.

Please refer to Table A set out on page 45 to page 46 
of this Annual Report for the composiঞ on and primary 
funcঞ ons of the Board Commi� ees.

1.4 The Board should meet regularly and as 
warranted by particular circumstances, as 
deemed appropriate by the board members. 
Companies are encouraged to amend their 
Articles of Association (or other constitutive 
documents) to provide for telephonic and video-
conference meeঞ ngs. The number of meeঞ ngs 
of the Board and Board Commi� ees held in the 
year, as well as the a� endance of every board 
member at these meeঞ ngs, should be disclosed 
in the company’s Annual Report.

The Board meets regularly on a half-yearly basis. 
Addiঞ onal meeঞ ngs are also held from ঞ me to ঞ me as 
may be required to address any signifi cant ma� ers that 
may arise.

The number of Board and Board Commi� ee meeঞ ngs 
and the record of a� endance of each Director during 
FY2017 are set out in Table B at page 47 of this Annual 
Report.

The Company’s constitution (the “Constitution”) 
provides for meeঞ ngs of the Directors to be held by 
means of telephone conference or other simultaneous 
communication methods. The Board may conduct 
conference calls to expedite the decision-making 
process for critical matters. The Board and Board 
Committees also approve transactions by way of 
wri� en resoluঞ ons, which are circulated to the Board 
together with all relevant informaঞ on regarding the 
proposed transacঞ on. 
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Guidelines of the Code Sen Yue Corporate Governance Pracঞ ces

Dates of Board meeঞ ngs, Board Commi� ee meeঞ ngs 
and annual general meeঞ ngs are scheduled in advance 
in consultaঞ on with all of the Directors. A Director who 
is unable to a� end the meeঞ ng in person is invited 
to parঞ cipate in the meeঞ ng via telephone or video 
conference.

1.5 Every company should prepare a document with 
guidelines seম  ng forth:

 (a) the matters reserved for the Board’s 
decision; and

 (b) clear directions to Management on 
ma� ers that must be approved by the 
Board.

 The types of material transacঞ ons that require 
board approval under such guidelines should be 
disclosed in the company’s Annual Report.

The matters which specifically require the Board’s 
approval or guidance are those involving:-

• material acquisitions and disposals of assets 
exceeding S$250,000;

• material new investments;

• borrowings, corporate or fi nancial restructuring;

• capital expenditures exceeding S$250,000;

• material interested person transacঞ ons;

• share issuances, dividends and other returns to 
shareholders;

• establishment of strategies and objecঞ ves;

• seম  ng the Group’s budget and fi nancial plans;

• monitoring financial and management 
performances;

• authorising execuঞ ve compensaঞ on;

• evaluating internal controls and risk 
management;

• approving half-yearly and year-end financial 
results announcements; and

• commitments to banking faciliঞ es granted by 
fi nancial insঞ tuঞ ons and overseeing corporate 
governance.

The Company documents the materiality threshold(s) 
and ma� ers reserved for board approval in its Financial 
Accounঞ ng Policy.
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Guidelines of the Code Sen Yue Corporate Governance Pracঞ ces

1.6 Incoming d i rectors  should receive 
comprehensive and tailored inducঞ on on joining 
the Board. This should include his duঞ es as a 
director and how to discharge those duties, 
and an orientaঞ on program to ensure that they 
are familiar with the company’s business and 
governance practices. The company should 
provide training for fi rst-ঞ me director in areas 
such as accounঞ ng, legal and industry-specifi c 
knowledge as appropriate. 

 It is equally important that all directors should 
receive regular training, parঞ cularly on relevant 
new laws, regulaঞ ons and changing commercial 
risks, from ঞ me to ঞ me. 

 The company should be responsible for 
arranging and funding the training of directors. 
The Board should also disclose in the company’s 
Annual Report the inducঞ on, orientaঞ on and 
training provided to new and exisঞ ng directors.

All newly appointed Directors will undergo an 
orientation program to get them familiarised with 
the Group’s business, organisaঞ on structure, policies 
and corporate governance pracঞ ces to facilitate the 
effective discharge of their duties. The Directors 
continuously update themselves on new laws, 
regulations and changing commercial risks. Every 
Director is also invited and encouraged to seek 
addiঞ onal training to further their skills in performing 
their duঞ es, including a� ending classes and/or events 
organised by the Singapore Institute of Directors. 
Directors are also informed of upcoming conferences 
or seminars relevant to their roles as directors of the 
Company. Such training by all newly appointed and 
exisঞ ng Directors are funded by the Company.

The Company Secretary (or her representatives) 
also briefs the Directors on key regulatory changes, 
while Deloi� e & Touche LLP, the Company’s external 
auditors (the “External Auditors”) briefs the AC on key 
amendments to the accounঞ ng standards.

During FY2017, some Directors attended seminars 
on fi nancial reporঞ ng, audits and sustainability jointly 
organised by ACRA, SGX and SID. 

The Directors may, at any time, visit the Group’s 
production facilities or attend trade shows and 
customer acঞ viঞ es to gain a be� er understanding of 
the Group’s business. The Directors visited the Group’s 
ba� ery recycling system line at the new premise, 3 
Jalan Pesawat, Singapore 619361 in November 2017. If 
regulatory changes have a material impact on either the 
Group or the Directors, the Management will update 
the Directors during the Board meeঞ ngs.

1.7 Upon appointment of each director, the 
company should provide a formal le� er to the 
director, seম  ng out the director’s duঞ es and 
obligaঞ ons.

The Company has issued a formal appointment le� er 
and service agreement, to all non-execuঞ ve directors 
and execuঞ ve directors, respecঞ vely. 
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Board Composiঞ on and Guidance

Principle 2
There should be a strong and independent element on the Board, which is able to exercise objecঞ ve judgement 
on corporate aff airs independently, in parঞ cular, from Management and 10% shareholders. No individual or small 
group of individuals should be allowed to dominate the Board’s decision making.

2.1 There should be a strong and independent 
element on the Board, with independent 
directors making up at least one-third of the 
Board.

During FY2017, the Board consisted of one Execuঞ ve 
Chairman, two Executive Directors and three 
Independent Non-Execuঞ ve Directors.

The Board is able to exercise objecঞ ve judgement on 
corporate affairs independently and constructively 
challenge key decisions, taking into consideraঞ on the 
long-term interests of the Group and its shareholders, 
as Independent Non-Executive Directors comprise 
50% of the Board. Further, all Board Commi� ees are 
chaired by Independent Non-Execuঞ ve Directors and a 
majority of the members of the Board Commi� ees are 
Independent Non-Execuঞ ve Directors. Please refer to 
Table A set out on page 45 to page 46 of this Annual 
Report for the composiঞ on of the Board and Board 
Commi� ees.

2.2 The independent directors should make up at 
least half of the Board where:

 (a) the Chairman of the Board (the 
“Chairman”) and the Chief Executive 
Offi  cer (or equivalent) (the “CEO”) is the 
same person; 

 (b) the Chairman and the CEO are immediate 
family members; 

 (c) the Chairman is part of the management 
team; or 

 (d) the Chairman is not an independent 
director. 

As the Chairman of the Board is part of the 
Management team and is not an Independent Non-
Execuঞ ve Director, the Company has complied and 
ensured that at least half of the Board comprises 
Independent Non-Execuঞ ve Directors.
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2.3 An “independent” director is one who has 
no relaঞ onship with the company, its related 
corporaঞ ons, its 10% shareholders or its offi  cers 
that could interfere, or be reasonably perceived 
to interfere, with the exercise of the director’s 
independent business judgement with a view to 
the best interests of the company. The Board 
should idenঞ fy in the company’s Annual Report 
each director it considers to be independent. 
The Board should determine, taking into 
account the views of the Nominaঞ ng Commi� ee 
(“NC”), whether the director is independent in 
character and judgement and whether there are 
relaঞ onships or circumstances which are likely to 
aff ect, or could appear to aff ect, the director’s 
judgement.

 If the Board wishes, in spite of the existence of 
one or more of these relaঞ onships, to consider 
the director as independent, it should disclose in 
full the nature of the director’s relaঞ onship and 
bear responsibility for explaining why he should 
be considered independent.

The NC is responsible for reviewing the independence 
of each Director based on the guidelines set out in 
the Code. The NC conducts the review annually and 
requires each Independent Non-Execuঞ ve Director to 
submit a confi rmaঞ on of independence based on the 
guidelines provided in the Code.

Based on the confi rmaঞ on of independence submi� ed 
by the Independent Non-Execuঞ ve Directors and the 
results of the NC’s review, the NC was of the view 
that each Independent Non-Executive Director is 
independent in accordance with the Code. 

There are no Directors who are deemed independent 
by the Board, notwithstanding the existence of a 
relaঞ onship in the Code that would otherwise deem 
him/her not to be independent.

2.4 The independence of any director who has 
served on the Board beyond nine years from the 
date of his fi rst appointment should be subject 
to parঞ cularly rigorous review. In doing so, the 
Board should also take into account the need for 
progressive refreshing of the Board. The Board 
should also explain why any such director should 
be considered independent.

As at 30 September 2017, no Independent Non-
Executive Directors on the Board had served for 
more than nine years from the date of his/her iniঞ al 
appointment.

2.5 The Board should examine its size and, with 
a view to determining the impact of the 
number upon effectiveness, decide on what 
it considers an appropriate size for the Board, 
which facilitates effective decision making. 
The Board should take into account the scope 
and nature of the operaঞ ons of the company, 
the requirements of the business and the 
need to avoid undue disrupঞ ons from changes 
to the composition of the Board and Board 
Commi� ees. The Board should not be so large 
as to be unwieldy.

The Board and the NC regularly examine the Board’s 
size and, with a view to determine the impact of the 
number upon eff ecঞ veness, decide on an appropriate 
size for the Board, taking into account the scope and 
nature of the Group’s operaঞ ons.

The Board and NC take into account, inter alia, the 
Directors’ contribuঞ ons, areas of experঞ se and scope 
of work on an annual basis in evaluaঞ ng whether the 
Board’s composiঞ on is adequate.

The Board and NC are satisfied that the current 
Board’s size and composiঞ on are appropriate for the 
Group.
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2.6 The Board and its Board Committees should 
comprise directors who as a group provide 
an appropriate balance and diversity of skills, 
experience, gender and knowledge of the 
company. They should also provide core 
competencies such as accounting or finance, 
business or management experience, industry 
knowledge, strategic planning experience and 
customer-based experience or knowledge.

The NC periodically reviews the exisঞ ng a� ributes and 
competencies of the Board in order to determine the 
desired experঞ se or experience required to strengthen 
or supplement the Board. This assists the NC in 
identifying and nominating suitable candidates for 
appointment to the Board.

The NC is saঞ sfi ed that the Board has the appropriate 
mix of expertise to lead and govern the Group 
effectively as the Board’s three Independent Non-
Execuঞ ve Directors are respected individuals drawn 
from a broad spectrum of expertise which enables 
them, in their collective wisdom, to contribute 
effectively and provide a balance of views at both 
Board and Board Commi� ee meeঞ ngs.

Each Director has been appointed based on his/her 
calibre and experience and is expected to bring his/
her knowledge and experience in his/her field of 
expertise to contribute to the development of the 
Group’s strategy and the performance of its business. 
The Board comprises 1 female and 5 male directors 
with diverse backgrounds such as accounঞ ng, fi nance, 
manufacturing and business management.

Details of the Directors’ academic and professional 
qualifi caঞ ons and other appointments are set out on 
page 5 and page 6 of this Annual Report. 

2.7 Non-execuঞ ve directors should:

 (a) construcঞ vely challenge and help develop 
proposals on strategy; and 

 (b) review the performance of management 
in meeঞ ng agreed goals and objecঞ ves 
and monitor the reporting of 
performance.

The Independent Non-Executive Directors 
confer regularly with the Executive Directors and 
Management to develop strategies for the Group, 
review the performance of Management, assess 
remuneration and discuss corporate governance 
ma� ers.

2.8 To facilitate a more effective check on 
management, non-executive directors are 
encouraged to meet regularly without the 
presence of Management.

The Group’s Independent Non-Executive Directors 
held periodic meetings without the presence of 
Management in FY2017. 
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Chairman and Chief Execuঞ ve Offi  cer

Principle 3
There should be a clear division of responsibiliঞ es between the leadership of the Board and the execuঞ ves 
responsible for managing the company’s business. No one individual should represent a considerable 
concentraঞ on of power.

3.1 The Chairman and the CEO should in principle 
be separate persons, to ensure an appropriate 
balance of power, increased accountability and 
greater capacity of the Board for independent 
decision making. The division of responsibiliঞ es 
between the Chairman and the CEO should be 
clearly established, set out in wriঞ ng and agreed 
by the Board. In addition, the Board should 
disclose the relaঞ onship between the Chairman 
and the CEO if they are immediate family 
members.

The role of the Chairman is separate from that of the 
CEO and there is a clear division of responsibiliঞ es 
between the Chairman and CEO. This is to ensure an 
appropriate balance of power, increased accountability 
and greater capacity for the Board in terms of 
independent decision making.

The Board is of the view that there is adequate 
accountability and transparency as Independent Non-
Execuঞ ve Directors make up 50% of the Board. The 
Board is able to exercise its power objecঞ vely and 
independently from Management. No individual or 
small group of individuals dominates the Board’s 
decision making.

3.2 The Chairman should:

 (a) lead the Board to ensure its eff ecঞ veness 
on all aspects of its role; 

 (b) set the agenda and ensure that adequate 
time is available for discussion of all 
agenda items, in particular strategic 
issues; 

 (c) promote a culture of openness and 
debate at the Board; 

 (d) ensure that the directors receive 
complete, adequate and timely 
informaঞ on; 

 (e) ensure effective communication with 
shareholders; 

 (f) encourage construcঞ ve relaঞ ons within 
the Board and between the Board and 
Management; 

 (g) facilitate the effective contribution of 
non-execuঞ ve directors in parঞ cular; and 

 (h) promote high standards of corporate 
governance.

The Chairman plays a key role in promoting high 
standards of corporate governance, scheduling 
meeঞ ngs that enable the Board to perform its duঞ es, 
establishing the agenda for the Board meetings 
in consultation with the CEO and ensuring that 
the Board reviews and approves the Group’s key 
strategies and policies. The Chairman also parঞ cipates 
in communicating with key stakeholders, including 
shareholders and senior management employees. 

The CEO’s responsibiliঞ es encompass managing the 
day-to-day business acঞ viঞ es of the Group, developing 
and execuঞ ng the Group’s strategies, reporঞ ng back 
to the Board on the performance of the Group, and 
providing guidance to the Group’s employees. The 
CEO also encourages construcঞ ve relaঞ ons between 
Management and the Board.
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3.3 Every company should appoint an independent 
director to be the lead independent director 
where:

 (a) the Chairman and the CEO is the same 
person; 

 (b) the Chairman and the CEO are immediate 
family members; 

 (c) the Chairman is part of the management 
team; or 

 (d) the Chairman is not an independent 
director. 

 The lead independent director (if appointed) 
should be available to shareholders where they 
have concerns and for which contact through 
the normal channels of the Chairman, the CEO 
or the Chief Financial Offi  cer (or equivalent) (the 
“CFO”) has failed to resolve or is inappropriate.

Mr. Kevin Norbert Scully is the Lead Independent 
Non-Execuঞ ve Director of the Company as Mr. Koh 
Mia Seng, the Execuঞ ve Chairman of the Board, is 
part of the Management team and is not considered 
independent according to the Code.

The Lead Independent Non-Execuঞ ve Director avails 
himself to address shareholders’ concerns and acts as a 
counterbalance in the decision making process. Where 
necessary, the Lead Independent Non-Executive 
Director will chair meetings without involvement 
of the Execuঞ ve Directors and provide feedback to 
the Chairman of the Board, to aid and facilitate well-
balanced viewpoints on the Board.

3.4 Led by the lead independent director, the 
independent directors should meet periodically 
without the presence of the other directors, and 
the lead independent director should provide 
feedback to the Chairman a[ er such meeঞ ngs.

The Lead Independent Non-Execuঞ ve Director met up 
with the Independent Non-Execuঞ ve Directors twice in 
FY2017 before the Board meeঞ ngs, for discussions in 
the absence of the Execuঞ ve Directors.
 

Board Membership

Principle 4
There should be a formal and transparent process for the appointment and re-appointment of directors to the 
Board.

4.1 The Board should establish a NC to make 
recommendations to the Board on all board 
appointments, with wri� en terms of reference 
which clearly set out its authority and duঞ es. 
The NC should comprise at least three 
directors, the majority of whom, including the 
NC Chairman, should be independent. The 
lead independent director, if any, should be a 
member of the NC. The Board should disclose 
in the company’s Annual Report the names of 
the members of the NC and the key terms of 
reference of the NC, explaining its role and the 
authority delegated to it by the Board.

The NC, which terms of reference are approved by the 
Board, comprises three Independent Non-Execuঞ ve 
Directors. The NC meets at least once a year.

Please refer to Table A set out on page 45 to page 
46 of this Annual Report for the composition and 
responsibiliঞ es of the NC, based on wri� en terms of 
reference. The Chairman and members of the NC are 
independent.
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4.2 The NC should make recommendaঞ ons to the 
Board on relevant ma� ers relaঞ ng to:

 (a) the review of board succession plans for 
directors, in parঞ cular, the Chairman and 
the CEO; 

 (b) the development of a process for 
evaluation of the performance of the 
Board, its Board Committees and 
directors; 

 (c) the review of training and professional 
development programs for the Board; and 

 (d) the appointment and re-appointment of 
directors (including alternate directors, if 
applicable). 

 Important issues to be considered as part of the 
process for the selecঞ on, appointment and re-
appointment of directors include composiঞ on 
and progressive renewal of the Board and 
each director’s competencies, commitment, 
contribuঞ on and performance (e.g. a� endance, 
preparedness, participation and candour) 
including, if applicable, as an independent 
director. All directors should be required to 
submit themselves for re-nominaঞ on and re-
appointment at regular intervals and at least 
once every three years.

The NC makes recommendations to the Board on 
all Board appointments and on the composition of 
Execuঞ ve and Independent Non-Execuঞ ve Directors 
of the Board. It is also charged with re-nominaঞ ng 
directors who are retiring by rotation as well as 
determining annually whether or not a director is 
independent.

In accordance with the Company’s Consঞ tuঞ on, one-
third of the Directors (or, if their number is not a 
mulঞ ple of three, then the number nearest to but not 
less than one-third) shall reঞ re from offi  ce by rotaঞ on 
at every annual general meeঞ ng of the Company. Any 
Director appointed by the Board during the fi nancial 
year shall hold offi  ce only unঞ l the next annual general 
meeঞ ng. A reঞ ring Director shall be eligible for re-
elecঞ on.

The Board recognises the contribuঞ on of its Directors 
who over ঞ me have developed deep insight into the 
Group’s operaঞ ons and industry and who are therefore 
able to provide invaluable contribuঞ ons to the Group. 
As such, the Board has not set a fi xed term of offi  ce for 
any of its Directors. 

Guideline 2.4 of the Code provides that the 
independence of Independent Non-Executive 
Directors serving for more than 9 years should be 
rigorously reviewed. The Board will take Guideline 
2.4 of the Code into account when determining the 
re-appointment of the Independent Non-Executive 
Directors.

4.3 The NC is charged with the responsibility 
of determining annually, and as and when 
circumstances require, if a director is 
independent, bearing in mind the circumstances 
set forth in Guidelines 2.3 and 2.4 and any 
other salient factors. If the NC considers 
that a director who has one or more of the 
relationships mentioned therein can be 
considered independent, it shall provide 
its views to the Board for the Board’s 
consideration. Conversely, the NC has the 
discretion to consider that a director is not 
independent even if he does not fall under 
the circumstances set forth in Guideline 2.3 or 
Guideline 2.4, and should similarly provide its 
views to the Board for the Board’s consideraঞ on.

A Director who has no relaঞ onship with the Company, 
its related corporation, its 10% shareholders or its 
offi  cers that could interfere, or be reasonably perceived 
to interfere, with the exercise of the Director’s 
independent business judgement, is considered to be 
independent.

The NC conducts an annual review of Directors’ 
independence based on the guidelines set forth in the 
Code and is of the view that Mr. Kevin Norbert Scully, 
Mdm. Yu Lihong and Mr. Low Ka Choon Kevin are 
independent.
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4.4 When a director has multiple board 
representaঞ ons, he must ensure that suffi  cient 
ঞ me and a� enঞ on is given to the aff airs of each 
company. The NC should decide if a director 
is able to and has been adequately carrying 
out his duঞ es as a director of the company, 
taking into consideraঞ on the director’s number 
of listed company board representations and 
other principal commitments. Guidelines should 
be adopted that address the compeঞ ng ঞ me 
commitments that are faced when directors 
serve on multiple boards. The Board should 
determine the maximum number of listed 
company board representations which any 
director may hold, and disclose this in the 
company’s Annual Report.

All Directors declare their board memberships as and 
when pracঞ cable. The NC has reviewed and is saঞ sfi ed 
that all Directors have devoted sufficient time and 
a� enঞ on to the aff airs of the Group to adequately 
perform their duঞ es as directors of the Group. 

In accessing the capacity of the Directors, the NC takes 
into consideraঞ on the expected and/or compeঞ ng ঞ me 
commitments of the Directors, size and composiঞ on 
of the Board, and nature and scope of the Group’s 
operaঞ ons and size.

The NC is saঞ sfi ed that the Directors are able to and 
have adequately carried out their duঞ es as Directors 
of the Company a[ er taking into consideraঞ on the 
number of listed company Board representaঞ ons and 
their principal commitments. Currently, the NC will 
conduct a rigorous review if any of the Directors hold 
more than 6 listed company board representaঞ ons. 
The Board and the NC will review the requirement 
to determine the maximum number of listed Board 
representaঞ ons as and when they deem fi t.

4.5 Boards should generally avoid approving the 
appointment of alternate directors. Alternate 
directors should only be appointed for limited 
periods in excepঞ onal cases such as when a 
director has a medical emergency. If an alternate 
director is appointed, the alternate director 
should be familiar with the company affairs, 
and be appropriately qualified. If a person 
is proposed to be appointed as an alternate 
director to an independent director, the NC and 
the Board should review and conclude that the 
person would similarly qualify as an independent 
director, before his appointment as an alternate 
director. Alternate directors bear all the duঞ es 
and responsibiliঞ es of a director.

The Company does not have any alternate directors.
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4.6 A descripঞ on of the process for the selecঞ on, 
appointment and re-appointment of directors to 
the Board should be disclosed in the company’s 
Annual Report. This should include disclosure on 
the search and nominaঞ on process.

When the need for a new director is idenঞ fi ed, either 
to replace a reঞ ring director or to enhance the Board’s 
capabilities, the NC will make recommendations to 
the Board regarding the idenঞ fi caঞ on and selecঞ on of 
suitable candidates based on the desired qualifi caঞ ons, 
skill sets, competencies and experience, which are 
required to supplement the Board’s exisঞ ng a� ributes. 
If need be, the NC may seek assistance from external 
search consultants for the selection of potential 
candidates. Directors and Management may also put 
forward names of potenঞ al candidates, together with 
their curriculum vitae, for consideraঞ on.

The NC, a[ er compleঞ ng its assessment, meets with 
the short-listed candidates to assess their suitability, 
before submiম  ng the appropriate recommendaঞ ons to 
the Board for approval.

For the board nomination process for re-electing 
incumbent Directors, please refer to Guideline 5.3.

4.7 Key information regarding directors, such 
as academic and professional qualifications, 
shareholding in the company and its related 
corporaঞ ons, Board Commi� ees served on (as a 
member or Chairman), date of fi rst appointment 
as a director, date of last re-appointment as a 
director, directorships or chairmanships both 
present and those held over the preceding 
three years in other listed companies, and other 
principal commitments, should be disclosed 
in the company’s Annual Report. In addiঞ on, 
the company’s annual disclosure on corporate 
governance should indicate which directors 
are executive, non-executive or considered 
by the NC to be independent. The names of 
the directors submi� ed for appointment or re-
appointment should also be accompanied by 
details and informaঞ on to enable shareholders 
to make informed decisions. Such informaঞ on, 
which should also accompany the relevant 
resoluঞ on, would include: 

 (a) any relationships including immediate 
family relationships between the 
candidate and the directors, the company 
or its 10% shareholders; 

 (b) a separate list of all current directorships 
in other listed companies; and 

 (c) details of other principal commitments. 

Details of the Directors’ academic and professional 
qualifications, date of first appointment and other 
relevant informaঞ on are set out on page 5 and page 6 
of this Annual Report as well as in Table C, on page 47 
of this Annual Report.
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Board Performance

Principle 5
There should be a formal annual assessment of the eff ecঞ veness of the Board as a whole and its Board 
Commi� ees and the contribuঞ on by each director to the eff ecঞ veness of the Board.

5.1 Every Board should implement a process 
to be carried out by the NC for assessing 
the effectiveness of the Board as a whole 
and its Board Committees and for assessing 
the contribution by the Chairman and each 
individual director to the eff ecঞ veness of the 
Board. The Board should state in the company’s 
Annual Report how the assessment of the 
Board, its Board Commi� ees and each director 
has been conducted. If an external facilitator 
has been used, the Board should disclose in the 
company’s Annual Report whether the external 
facilitator has any other connecঞ on with the 
company or any of its directors. This assessment 
process should be disclosed in the company’s 
Annual Report.

The NC assesses the eff ecঞ veness of the Board as 
a whole, its Board Commi� ees and the contribuঞ on 
of each individual Director to the effectiveness of 
the Board on an annual basis. Objecঞ ve performance 
criteria used to assess the performance of the Board 
include both quanঞ taঞ ve and qualitaঞ ve criteria. The 
Board and the NC believe that the fi nancial indicators 
are mainly used to measure the Management’s 
performance and hence are less applicable to the 
Directors. 

No external facilitator was engaged by the Company in 
FY2017.

5.2 The NC should decide how the Board’s 
performance may be evaluated and 
propose objective performance criteria. 
Such performance criteria, which allow for 
comparison with industry peers, should be 
approved by the Board and address how the 
Board has enhanced long-term shareholder 
value. These performance criteria should not 
be changed from year to year, and where 
circumstances deem it necessary for any of the 
criteria to be changed, the onus should be on 
the Board to jusঞ fy this decision.

The NC had conducted the Board’s performance 
evaluation as a whole for FY2017 together with 
the performance evaluaঞ on of the AC, RC and NC. 
The performance criteria for the Board and Board 
Committees’ evaluation, as determined by the NC, 
cover the following areas:- 

1. Board Composiঞ on and Structure;

2. Conduct of Meeঞ ngs;

3. Corporate Strategy and Planning;

4. Risk Management and Internal Control;

5. Measuring and Monitoring Performance;

6. Training and Recruitment;

7. Compensaঞ on and Financial Reporঞ ng;

8. Chairman of the Board;

9. Board Commi� ees; and

10. Communicaঞ on with Shareholders.
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The abovementioned performance criteria do not 
change from year to year.

The NC Chairman has completed the Board and Board 
Commi� ees’ evaluaঞ on forms menঞ oned above. The 
completed forms were circulated to the members of 
NC for their review, comments and discussion. 

All NC members have abstained from the voঞ ng or 
review process of any matters in connection with 
the assessment of his/her performance and/or re-
nominaঞ on as a Director.

The NC is saঞ sfi ed that the Board as a whole and 
Board Commi� ees had met its performance objecঞ ves 
for FY2017.

5.3 Individual evaluation should aim to assess 
whether each director conঞ nues to contribute 
eff ecঞ vely and demonstrate commitment to the 
role (including commitment of ঞ me for meeঞ ngs 
of the Board and Board Commi� ees, and any 
other duঞ es). The Chairman should act on the 
results of the performance evaluation, and, 
in consultaঞ on with the NC, propose, where 
appropriate, new members to be appointed to 
the Board or seek the resignaঞ on of directors.

The assessment parameters for each Director include 
their knowledge and abiliঞ es, a� endance records at the 
meeঞ ngs of the Board and Board Commi� ees, and the 
intensity and quality of parঞ cipaঞ on at meeঞ ngs. The 
NC and the Board have relied on the abovemenঞ oned 
parameters to evaluate the Directors’ contribution 
individually and have taken such evaluation into 
consideraঞ on for the re-nominaঞ on of the Directors.

The replacement of a Director, when it occurs, does 
not necessarily refl ect the Director’s performance, but 
may be driven by the need to align the Board with the 
needs of the Group.
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Access to Informaঞ on

Principle 6
In order to fulfil their responsibilities, directors should be provided with complete, adequate and timely 
informaঞ on prior to board meeঞ ngs and on an on-going basis so as to enable them to make informed decisions to 
discharge their duঞ es and responsibiliঞ es.

6.1 Management has an obligaঞ on to supply the 
Board with complete, adequate information 
in a timely manner. Relying purely on what 
is volunteered by Management is unlikely to 
be enough in all circumstances and further 
enquiries may be required if the particular 
director is to fulfil his duties properly. 
Hence, the Board should have separate and 
independent access to Management. Directors 
are entitled to request from Management 
and should be provided with such addiঞ onal 
information as needed to make informed 
decisions. Management shall provide the same 
in a ঞ mely manner.

The Directors have separate and independent access 
to the Management and all the Group’s records at all 
ঞ mes in carrying out their duঞ es.

Detailed Board papers and files are prepared and 
circulated in advance for each meeঞ ng. This is to give 
Directors suffi  cient ঞ me to review the ma� ers to be 
discussed so that discussions can be more meaningful 
and producঞ ve. Any other ma� ers may also be tabled 
at the Board meeঞ ng and discussed without papers 
being distributed. The Board papers and files include 
sufficient information from the Management on 
fi nancial, operaঞ ng and corporate issues for Directors 
to decide on issues presented at the Board and Board 
Commi� ee meeঞ ngs. Such informaঞ on may also be 
in the form of presentaঞ ons made by Management 
in a� endance at the meeঞ ngs, or given by external 
advisors and consultants engaged on specifi c projects.

The Management provides the Board updates on the 
developments of the business on a half yearly basis, 
with financial information, the explanations on the 
financial information, and the rationale for the key 
decisions taken by Management.

6.2 Information provided should include board 
papers and related materials, background or 
explanatory informaঞ on relaঞ ng to ma� ers to 
be brought before the Board, and copies of 
disclosure documents, budgets, forecasts and 
monthly internal fi nancial statements. In respect 
of budgets, any material variance between the 
projecঞ ons and actual results should also be 
disclosed and explained.

The Directors are regularly provided with complete, 
adequate and timely information prior to Board 
meetings to enable them to fulfil their duties. The 
Management provides the Board with half-yearly 
management accounts, as well as half yearly summary 
data comparing key fi nancial metrics relaঞ ve to the 
budget and results from prior periods. In respect of 
budgets and fi nancial results, any material variance 
between the projections and actual results are 
disclosed and explained.
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6.3 Directors should have separate and independent 
access to the company secretary. The role of the 
company secretary should be clearly defined 
and should include responsibility for ensuring 
that board procedures are followed and that 
applicable rules and regulaঞ ons are complied 
with. Under the direcঞ on of the Chairman, the 
company secretary’s responsibilities include 
ensuring good information flows within the 
Board and its Board Commi� ees and between 
Management and non-executive directors, 
advising the Board on all governance ma� ers, 
as well as facilitaঞ ng orientaঞ on and assisঞ ng 
with professional development as required. 
The company secretary should a� end all board 
meeঞ ngs.

The Directors have separate and independent access to 
the Company Secretary.

The Company Secretary ensures that applicable rules 
and regulations are complied with and assists the 
Board in implemenঞ ng corporate governance pracঞ ces. 
The Company Secretary also prepares minutes 
for all Board meetings and assists the Chairman, 
the Chairman of each Board Committee and key 
management personnel in the development of the 
agendas for the various Board and Board Commi� ee 
meeঞ ngs in ensuring good informaঞ on fl ows within 
the Board and its Board Committees and between 
Management and Non-Execuঞ ve Directors’, advising 
the Board on all governance matters’, as well as 
facilitaঞ ng orientaঞ on and assisঞ ng with professional 
development, if required. 

In addition, the Company Secretary (or her 
representatives), had attended all Board and Board 
Commi� ee meeঞ ngs of the Company in FY2017.

6.4 The appointment and the removal of the 
company secretary should be a ma� er for the 
Board as a whole.

The appointment and the removal of the Company 
Secretary are subject to the Board’s approval.

6.5 The Board should have a procedure for 
directors, either individually or as a group, in the 
furtherance of their duঞ es, to take independent 
professional advice, if necessary, and at the 
company’s expense.

All Directors have direct access to the Group’s 
independent professional advisors, as and when 
necessary, to discharge his/her responsibilities 
eff ecঞ vely. In addiঞ on, the Directors, either individually 
or as a group, may seek separate independent 
professional advice, if necessary. The cost of all such 
professional advice is borne by the Company.
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REMUNERATION MATTERS

Procedures for Developing Remuneraঞ on Policies

Principle 7
There should be a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on execuঞ ve remuneraঞ on and for 
fi xing the remuneraঞ on packages of individual directors. No director should be involved in deciding his/her own 
remuneraঞ on.

7.1 The Board should establish a Remuneration 
Committee (“RC”) with written terms of 
reference which clearly set out its authority and 
duঞ es. The RC should comprise at least three 
directors, the majority of whom, including the 
RC Chairman, should be independent. All of the 
members of the RC should be non-execuঞ ve 
directors. This is to minimise the risk of any 
potenঞ al confl ict of interest. The Board should 
disclose in the company’s Annual Report the 
names of the members of the RC and the key 
terms of reference of the RC, explaining its role 
and the authority delegated to it by the Board.

The RC, which terms of reference are approved by the 
Board, comprises three Independent Non-Execuঞ ve 
Directors and one Execuঞ ve Director. The majority of 
the members, including the Chairman of the RC, are 
independent. It meets at least once a year. The RC 
does not comprise wholly Non-Execuঞ ve Directors as 
recommended by the Code, as the Board is of the view 
that the inclusion of an Execuঞ ve Director in the RC 
will facilitate the fl ow of informaঞ on between the RC 
and the Company, when required.

Please refer to Table A set out on page 45 to page 46 
for the composiঞ on and funcঞ ons of the RC.

7.2 The RC should review and recommend to the 
Board a general framework of remuneraঞ on for 
the Board and key management personnel. The 
RC should also review and recommend to the 
Board the specifi c remuneraঞ on packages for 
each director as well as for the key management 
personnel. The RC’s recommendaঞ ons should be 
submi� ed for endorsement by the enঞ re Board.

 The RC should cover all aspects of 
remuneration, including but not limited to 
director’s fees, salaries, allowances, bonuses, 
opঞ ons, share-based incenঞ ves and awards, and 
benefi ts in kind.

The RC reviews and makes recommendaঞ ons to the 
Board on the framework of remuneraঞ on packages and 
policies applicable to the Execuঞ ve Chairman, CEO, 
Directors and key management personnel. 

The RC reviews the remuneration packages and 
employment contracts of the Executive Chairman, 
CEO, Directors and key management personnel in 
order to a� ract and retain capable execuঞ ves through 
competitive compensation. The RC recommends 
for the Board’s endorsement, a framework of 
compensation that covers aspects of remuneration 
including Directors’ fees, salaries, allowances, bonuses, 
benefi ts-in-kind and specifi c remuneraঞ on packages 
for the Execuঞ ve Chairman, CEO, Directors and key 
management personnel. 
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7.3 If necessary, the RC should seek expert 
advice inside and/or outside the company 
on remuneration of all directors. The RC 
should ensure that existing relationships, if 
any, between the company and its appointed 
remuneration consultants will not affect 
the independence and objectivity of the 
remuneration consultants. The company 
should also disclose the names and firms of 
the remuneration consultants in the annual 
remuneraঞ on report, and include a statement on 
whether the remuneraঞ on consultants have any 
such relaঞ onships with the company.

No remuneration consultants were engaged by the 
Company during FY2017. The RC and the Board 
were of the view that the Company does not need to 
engage remuneraঞ on consultants as the remuneraঞ on 
for Executive Directors and the key management 
personnel are based on their respecঞ ve exisঞ ng service 
agreements.

The RC may consider uঞ lising external expert advice 
and data, as and when necessary, to assist in the 
evaluation of its compensation recommendations. 
None of the RC members or Directors is involved 
in deliberations in respect of any remuneration, 
compensaঞ on or any form of benefi t to be granted to 
him/her or someone related to him/her.

7.4 The RC should review the company’s 
obligaঞ ons arising in the event of terminaঞ on 
of the execuঞ ve directors’ and key management 
personnel’s contracts of service, to ensure 
that such contracts of service contain fair and 
reasonable terminaঞ on clauses which are not 
overly generous. The RC should aim to be fair 
and avoid rewarding poor performance.

The RC reviews the Company’s obligations arising 
from terminaঞ on clauses and terminaঞ on processes 
in relation to the Executive Directors’ and key 
management personnel’s contracts of service to ensure 
that such clauses and processes are fair and reasonable.

Level and Mix of Remuneraঞ on

Principle 8
The level and structure of remuneraঞ on should be aligned with the long-term interest and risk policies of the 
company, and should be appropriate to a� ract, retain and moঞ vate (a) the directors to provide good stewardship 
of the company, and (b) key management personnel to successfully manage the company. However, companies 
should avoid paying more than is necessary for this purpose. 

8.1 A significant and appropriate proportion of 
executive directors’ and key management 
personnel’s remuneraঞ on should be structured 
so as to link rewards to corporate and individual 
performance. Such performance-related 
remuneration should be aligned with the 
interests of shareholders and promote the long-
term success of the company. It should take 
account of the risk policies of the company, be 
symmetric with risk outcomes and be sensiঞ ve 
to the ঞ me horizon of risks. There should be 
appropriate and meaningful measures for the 
purpose of assessing execuঞ ve directors’ and 
key management personnel’s performance.

In reviewing and determining the remuneration 
packages of the Executive Directors and key 
management personnel, the RC considers the 
Execuঞ ve Directors’ and key management personnel’s 
responsibiliঞ es, skills, experঞ se and contribuঞ on to the 
Group’s performance when designing their respecঞ ve 
remuneraঞ on packages. An appropriate proporঞ on of 
their remuneraঞ on is linked to individual and corporate 
performance and is aligned with the interests of 
Shareholders.

The performance criteria for the Execuঞ ve Directors 
and key management personnel have been met for 
FY2017.
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8.2 Long-term incentive schemes are generally 
encouraged for executive directors and key 
management personnel. The RC should 
review whether executive directors and key 
management personnel should be eligible for 
benefits under long-term incentive schemes. 
The costs and benefi ts of long-term incenঞ ve 
schemes should be carefully evaluated. In 
normal circumstances, offers of shares or 
grants of opঞ ons or other forms of deferred 
remuneraঞ on should vest over a period of ঞ me. 
The use of vesঞ ng schedules, whereby only a 
porঞ on of the benefi ts can be exercised each 
year, is also strongly encouraged.

 Executive directors and key management 
personnel should be encouraged to hold their 
shares beyond the vesঞ ng period, subject to the 
need to fi nance any cost of acquiring the shares 
and associated tax liability.

The Company had no long-term incenঞ ve schemes in 
place during FY2017. 

8.3 The remuneration of non-executive directors 
should be appropriate to the level of 
contribuঞ on, taking into account factors such as 
eff ort and ঞ me spent, and responsibiliঞ es of the 
directors. Non-execuঞ ve directors should not 
be over-compensated to the extent that their 
independence may be compromised.

 The RC should also consider implementing 
schemes to encourage non-execuঞ ve directors 
to hold shares in the company so as to be� er 
align the interests of such non-executive 
directors with the interests of shareholders.

No Independent Non-Execuঞ ve Directors have service 
agreements with the Company. They are paid Directors’ 
fees, which are determined by the Board based on the 
eff ort, ঞ me spent and responsibiliঞ es of the Directors 
(including but not limited to their appointments to 
the various Board Commi� ees). The Directors’ fees of 
the Independent Non-Execuঞ ve Directors are subject 
to approval by Shareholders at each AGM thereby 
ensuring that their independence is not compromised.

Each member of the RC abstains from deliberaঞ ng on 
or making recommendaঞ ons in respect of any proposed 
amounts to be paid by the Company to him/her.

Please see Table D set out on page 48 to page 49 for 
the detailed schedule of annual fees for Independent 
Non-Executive Directors being proposed to 
Shareholders.

8.4 Companies are encouraged to consider the 
use of contractual provisions to allow the 
company to reclaim incenঞ ve components of 
remuneration from executive directors and 
key management personnel in exceptional 
circumstances of misstatement of financial 
results, or of misconduct resulঞ ng in fi nancial 
loss to the company.

There are currently no incentive schemes for the 
Execuঞ ve Directors and key management personnel. 
The Board uses contractual provisions or other 
measures to reclaim the incentives or any related 
payments from the parঞ es involved should there be 
any misstatements of fi nancial results, or of misconduct 
resulঞ ng in fi nancial loss to the Group.
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Disclosure on Remuneraঞ on

Principle 9
Every company should provide clear disclosure of its remuneraঞ on policies, level and mix of remuneraঞ on, and 
the procedure for seম  ng remuneraঞ on, in the company’s Annual Report. It should provide disclosure in relaঞ on 
to its remuneraঞ on policies to enable investors to understand the link between remuneraঞ on paid to directors 
and key management personnel, and performance.

9.1 The company should report to the shareholders 
each year on the remuneraঞ on of directors, the 
CEO and at least the top fi ve key management 
personnel (who are not also directors or the 
CEO) of the company. This annual remuneraঞ on 
report should form part of, or be annexed to 
the company’s annual report of its directors. 
It should be the main means through which 
the company reports to shareholders on 
remuneraঞ on ma� ers.

 The annual remuneraঞ on report should include 
the aggregate amount of any termination, 
reঞ rement and post-employment benefi ts that 
may be granted to directors, the CEO and the 
top fi ve key management personnel (who are 
not directors or the CEO).

Please refer to Table D set out on page 48 to page 49 
for remuneraঞ on details for the Directors and top four 
key management personnel. The Group has only four 
key management personnel.

9.2 The company should fully disclose the 
remuneraঞ on of each individual director and the 
CEO on a named basis. 

 There should be a breakdown (in percentage 
or dollar terms) of each director’s and the 
CEO’s remuneraঞ on earned through base/fi xed 
salary, variable or performance-related income/
bonuses, benefi ts in kind, stock opঞ ons granted, 
share-based incenঞ ves and awards, and other 
long-term incenঞ ves

Please refer to Table D set out on page 48 to page 49 
for remuneraঞ on details for the Directors and the CEO.
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9.3 The company should name and disclose the 
remuneration of at least the top five key 
management personnel (who are not directors 
or the CEO) in bands of S$250,000. Companies 
need only show the applicable bands. 

 There should be a breakdown (in percentage 
or dollar terms) of each key management 
personnel’s remuneraঞ on earned through base/
fixed salary, variable or performance-related 
income/bonuses, benefi ts in kind, stock opঞ ons 
granted, share-based incenঞ ves and awards, and 
other long-term incenঞ ves.

 In addition, the company should disclose in 
aggregate the total remuneraঞ on paid to the top 
fi ve key management personnel (who are not 
directors or the CEO).

 As best pracঞ ce, companies are encouraged to 
fully disclose the remuneraঞ on of the said top 
fi ve key management personnel.

Please refer to Table D set out on page 48 to page 49 
for remuneraঞ on bands and details for the top four key 
management personnel. 

The Board believes that it is for the benefi t of the 
Company and the Group that the remuneraঞ on of key 
management personnel (who are not Directors of the 
Company) be kept confi denঞ al, due to its sensiঞ ve 
nature and concerns of poaching. As a company with 
a small and ঞ ghtly-knit team, such disclosure would 
be disadvantageous to the Company in relaঞ on to its 
compeঞ tors and may aff ect adversely the cohesion and 
spirit of team work prevailing amongst the employees 
of the Company. 

9.4 For transparency, the annual remuneration 
report should disclose the details of the 
remuneraঞ on of employees who are immediate 
family members of a director or the CEO, 
and whose remuneration exceeds S$50,000 
during the year. This will be done on a named 
basis with clear indication of the employee’s 
relaঞ onship with the relevant director or the 
CEO. Disclosure of remuneraঞ on should be in 
incremental bands of S$50,000. The company 
need only show the applicable bands.

Please refer to Table D set out on page 48 to page 49 
for remuneraঞ on bands and details of employees who 
are immediate family members of a Director or the 
CEO and whose remuneration exceeded S$50,000 
during FY2017.

9.5 The annual remuneration report should also 
contain details of employee share schemes to 
enable their shareholders to assess the benefi ts 
and potential cost to the companies. The 
important terms of the share schemes should be 
disclosed, including the potenঞ al size of grants, 
methodology of valuing stock opঞ ons, exercise 
price of opঞ ons that were granted as well as 
outstanding, whether the exercise price was at 
the market or otherwise on the date of grant, 
market price on the date of exercise, the vesঞ ng 
schedule, and the jusঞ fi caঞ ons for the terms 
adopted.

The Company had no employee share schemes in place 
during FY2017.
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9.6 For greater transparency, companies should 
disclose more information on the link 
between remuneration paid to the executive 
directors and key management personnel, and 
performance. The annual remuneraঞ on report 
should set out a description of performance 
condiঞ ons to which enঞ tlement to short-term 
and long-term incenঞ ve schemes are subject, 
an explanation on why such performance 
conditions were chosen, and a statement of 
whether such performance condiঞ ons are met.

The Company’s remuneraঞ on policy is one that seeks 
to ensure that the remuneraঞ on off ered is compeঞ ঞ ve 
and sufficient to attract, retain and motivate the 
Execuঞ ve Directors and key management personnel 
to achieve the Company’s business vision and create 
sustainable value for its stakeholders.

The remuneration policy adopted by the Group 
comprises a fixed component and a performance-
related variable component. The fi xed component is 
in the form of a base salary. The variable component 
is in the form of a bonus and depends on the relaঞ ve 
performance of the Company and the performance 
of each individual Executive Director and key 
management personnel, allowing for the alignment of 
their interests with that of Shareholders. The Execuঞ ve 
Directors do not receive addiঞ onal Directors’ fees.

The performance criteria used to assess the 
remuneration of Executive Directors and key 
management personnel is based on the profi tability 
of the Group, leadership, as well as the Executive 
Directors’ and key management personnel’s compliance 
in all audit matters. There are currently no long 
term incenঞ ves for the Execuঞ ve Directors and key 
management personnel. The Execuঞ ve Directors’ and 
key management personnel’s short term incentives 
(namely the performance-related variable component) 
are recommended by the RC and approved by the 
Board.

For FY2017, the Executive Directors and key 
management personnel have met the relevant 
performance condiঞ ons.

Please refer to Guideline 8.1 and 8.2 for further 
details regarding the Executive Directors’ and key 
management personnel’s remuneraঞ on.

The Independent Non-Executive Directors receive 
Directors’ fees, in accordance with their contribuঞ ons, 
taking into account factors such as eff ort, ঞ me spent 
and the individual responsibiliঞ es of the respecঞ ve 
Directors. 
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Accountability

Principle 10
The Board should present a balanced and understandable assessment of the company’s performance, posiঞ on 
and prospects.

10.1 The Board’s responsibility to provide a balanced 
and understandable assessment of the 
company’s performance, posiঞ on and prospects 
extends to interim and other price sensitive 
public reports, and reports to regulators (if 
required).

The Board provides a balanced and understandable 
assessment of the Group’s performance, position 
and prospects in its annual fi nancial statements and 
half-yearly and full year results announcements to 
Shareholders.

10.2 The Board should take adequate steps to ensure 
compliance with legislative and regulatory 
requirements, including requirements under 
the lisঞ ng rules of the securiঞ es exchange, for 
instance, by establishing wri� en policies where 
appropriate.

The Board reviews compliance issues, if any, with 
Management on a half-yearly basis and as and when 
required.

10.3 Management should provide all members of 
the Board with management accounts and such 
explanaঞ on and informaঞ on on a monthly basis 
and as the Board may require from time to 
ঞ me to enable the Board to make a balanced 
and informed assessment of the company’s 
performance, posiঞ on and prospects.

Management provides the Execuঞ ve Directors with 
the management accounts on a monthly basis and 
Independent Non-Execuঞ ve Directors are updated on 
half-yearly basis.

The Board is of the opinion that the Management 
provides relevant information on a timely basis, 
comprehensive half yearly financial statements and 
analysis of the results so that the Board can make a 
balanced and informed assessment of the Company’s 
performance, posiঞ on and prospects. 

The Board also provides a negative assurance 
statement to the Shareholders in respect of the interim 
fi nancial statements. During FY2017, the Execuঞ ve 
Directors and the Chief Financial Offi  cer (“CFO”) have 
provided assurance to the Board on the integrity of the 
Group’s half yearly fi nancial statements. 
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Risk Management and Internal Controls

Principle 11
The Board is responsible for the governance of risk. The Board should ensure that Management maintains a 
sound system of risk management and internal controls to safeguard shareholders’ interests and the company’s 
assets, and should determine the nature and extent of the signifi cant risks which the Board is willing to take in 
achieving its strategic objecঞ ves. 

11.1 The Board should determine the company’s 
levels of risk tolerance and risk policies, 
and oversee Management in the design, 
implementation and monitoring of the risk 
management and internal control systems.

The Board reviews the Group’s business and 
operaঞ onal acঞ viঞ es to idenঞ fy areas of signifi cant 
business risk as well as the measures in place to control 
and miঞ gate these risks within the Group’s policies and 
business strategies. The risk assessment exercise also 
includes idenঞ fying and assessing key risk areas to the 
Group such as fi nancial, operaঞ onal, compliance and 
informaঞ on technology risks based on the feedback of 
the Internal Auditors and External Auditors. The Board 
also oversees the Management in implemenঞ ng the 
risk management and internal controls system.

The Board is also responsible for governance of risk 
management, and determining the Company’s levels 
of risk tolerance and risk policies. The Board consults 
with the External Auditors and Internal Auditors to 
determine the risk tolerance level and corresponding 
risk policies.

11.2 The Board should, at least annually, review the 
adequacy and eff ecঞ veness of the company’s 
risk management and internal control systems, 
including financial, operational, compliance 
and information technology controls. Such 
review can be carried out internally or with the 
assistance of any competent third parঞ es.

The statutory auditors carry out statutory audits 
annually in accordance with their audit plan. Control 
observaঞ ons noted during their audits and the auditors’ 
recommendaঞ ons are reported to the AC. 

The internal audit funcঞ on is outsourced to an external 
organisaঞ on, Foo Kon Tan Advisory Services Pte Ltd 
for FY2017. They performed their work according 
to the detailed internal audit scope including focus 
on operaঞ onal and fi nancial risks, evaluaঞ on of the 
adequacy of internal control system and applicaঞ on 
of controls in practice, and making appropriate 
recommendaঞ ons for improvements to the Group.
 
The internal controls of the Group provide reasonable 
but not absolute assurance that the Group will not 
be adversely affected by any event that could be 
reasonably foreseen as it strives to achieve its business 
objecঞ ves. The Board also recognises that no system 
of internal control or risk management can provide 
absolute assurance against the occurrence of errors, 
poor judgement in decision-making, losses, frauds or 
other irregulariঞ es. 
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11.3 The Board should comment on the adequacy 
and effectiveness of the internal controls, 
including financial, operational, compliance 
and informaঞ on technology controls, and risk 
management systems, in the company’s Annual 
Report. The Board’s commentary should include 
informaঞ on needed by stakeholders to make an 
informed assessment of the company’s internal 
control and risk management systems. 

 The Board should also comment in the 
company’s Annual Report on whether it has 
received assurance from the CEO and the CFO:

 (a) that the financial records have been 
properly maintained and the financial 
statements give a true and fair view of 
the company’s operaঞ ons and fi nances; 
and 

 (b) regarding the effectiveness of the 
company’s risk management and internal 
control systems. 

Based on internal controls established and maintained 
by the Group, the works performed by the Internal 
Auditors and External Auditors, and the reviews 
performed by Management and the various Board 
Commi� ees, the Board, with the concurrence of the 
AC, is of the opinion that the Group’s internal controls, 
including financial, operational, compliance and 
informaঞ on technology controls, and risk management 
systems are adequate and eff ecঞ ve as at 30 September 
2017.

The Board met 4 times in FY2017 and have 
conঞ nuously updated the AC on the developments of 
the Company.

During FY2017, the CFO had tendered her resignaঞ on 
with effect from 15 August 2017. Following her 
cessation, the finance team is led by the Group 
Finance Manager (“GFM”) and the Finance Manager 
(“FM”) in the interim unঞ l the fi nalizaঞ on of a suitable 
candidate as CFO. Both report directly to the CEO. 
The GFM is responsible for the fi nance ma� ers of the 
Company and its Malaysia subsidiaries, while the FM 
is responsible for the fi nance ma� ers of the Singapore 
subsidiaries. 

The CEO together with the GFM and FM have also 
assured the Board that internal controls are in place 
and updated the Board on the internal controls 
measures taken during FY2017. Discussion between 
Internal Auditors, External Auditors and the AC in 
the absence of the Management have also further 
reassured the AC that for FY2017, the internal controls 
established are maintained for the operaঞ ons of the 
business. 

The Board has also received assurance from the GFM 
and CEO in FY2017 that :-

(a) The financial records have been properly 
maintained and the fi nancial statements give a 
true and fair view of the Company’s operaঞ ons 
and fi nances; and

(b) The Company’s risk management and internal 
control systems are eff ecঞ ve.
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11.4 The Board may establish a separate board risk 
committee or otherwise assess appropriate 
means to assist it in carrying out its 
responsibility of overseeing the company’s risk 
management framework and policies.

The Company manages risks under an overall strategy 
determined by the Board and supported by the 
AC, RC and NC. The Company sets acceptable risk 
management standards and periodically reviews the 
risks that the Group is subject to. 

Audit Commi� ee

Principle 12
The Board should establish an Audit Commi� ee (“AC”) with wri� en terms of reference which clearly set out its 
authority and duঞ es.

12.1 The AC should comprise at least three directors, 
the majority of whom, including the AC 
Chairman, should be independent. All of the 
members of the AC should be non-execuঞ ve 
directors.

 The Board should disclose in the company’s 
Annual Report the names of the members of the 
AC and the key terms of reference of the AC, 
explaining its role and the authority delegated to 
it by the Board.

The AC comprises three members, all of whom 
are Independent Non-Executive Directors. The AC 
members are appropriately qualified to discharge 
their responsibiliঞ es and funcঞ ons under the terms of 
reference approved by the Board. 

Please refer to Table A set out on page 45 to page 46 
for the composiঞ on and the main funcঞ ons of the AC.

12.2 The Board should ensure that the members of 
the AC are appropriately qualifi ed to discharge 
their responsibilities. At least two members, 
including the AC Chairman, should have recent 
and relevant accounting or related financial 
management expertise or experience, as 
the Board interprets such qualification in its 
business judgement.

The Board is satisfied that the members of the 
AC are appropriately qualified to discharge their 
responsibiliঞ es. The Chairman Mr. Kevin Norbert Scully, 
Mdm. Yu Lihong and Mr. Low Ka Choon Kevin are 
trained in accounঞ ng and fi nancial management. 

12.3 The AC should have explicit authority to 
investigate any matter within its terms of 
reference, full access to and co-operation 
by Management and full discretion to invite 
any director or execuঞ ve offi  cer to a� end its 
meeঞ ngs, and reasonable resources to enable it 
to discharge its funcঞ ons properly.

The AC has explicit authority to invesঞ gate any ma� er 
within its terms of reference and has full access to and 
co-operaঞ on of the Management and full discreঞ on to 
invite any Director or key management personnel to 
a� end its meeঞ ngs. The AC has reasonable resources 
to enable it to discharge its duঞ es properly.
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12.4 The duঞ es of the AC should include:

 (a) reviewing the significant financial 
reporting issues and judgements so as 
to ensure the integrity of the fi nancial 
statements of the company and any 
announcements relaঞ ng to the company’s 
fi nancial performance;

 (b) reviewing and reporting to the Board 
at least annually the adequacy and 
eff ecঞ veness of the company’s internal 
controls, including fi nancial, operaঞ onal, 
compliance and informaঞ on technology 
controls (such review can be carried out 
internally or with the assistance of any 
competent third parঞ es);

 (c) reviewing the effectiveness of the 
company’s internal audit funcঞ on;

 (d) reviewing the scope and results of the 
external audit, and the independence and 
objecঞ vity of the external auditors; and

 (e) making recommendaঞ ons to the Board 
on the proposals to the shareholders on 
the appointment, re-appointment and 
removal of the external auditors, and 
approving the remuneraঞ on and terms 
of engagement of the external auditors.

The AC meets at least on a half yearly basis to 
review the half yearly and full year results of the 
Group and the audited annual fi nancial statements, 
SGXNET announcements and all related disclosures 
to shareholders before recommending the same 
to the Board for approval. In the process, the AC 
reviews the basis and reasoning of the Management 
in the preparaঞ on of the fi nancial statements, criঞ cal 
accounঞ ng policies and any signifi cant changes that 
would have an impact on the Company’s fi nancials.

The AC evaluates on a yearly basis the adequacy and 
eff ecঞ veness of the internal controls including fi nancial, 
operaঞ onal, compliance and informaঞ on technology 
controls and regulatory compliance of the Group 
through discussion with Management and its Internal 
and External Auditors.

Please refer to Guidelines 13.1 and 13.2. 

The AC reviews the scope of the External Auditors’ 
audit plan and the eff ecঞ veness of the results from 
the independent audit. The AC also reviews the 
independence and objecঞ vity of the External Auditors 
as well as the Group’s compliance with Secঞ on B: Rules 
of the Catalist of the SGX-ST (the “Catalist Rules”), the 
Code, as well as interested person transacঞ ons and 
whistleblowing reports, if any.

The AC recommends to the Board the appointment, 
re-appointment and removal of External Auditors, and 
approves the remuneraঞ on and terms of engagement 
of the External Auditors.

12.5 The AC should meet (a) with the external 
auditors, and (b) with the internal auditors, in 
each case without the presence of Management, 
at least annually.

The AC meets with the Internal Auditors and External 
Auditors separately, at least once a year, without the 
presence of the Management to review any ma� ers 
that might have arisen. The AC met with the Internal 
Auditors and External Auditors once without the 
presence of Management in FY2017. 
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12.6 The AC should review the independence of 
the external auditors annually and should 
state (a) the aggregate amount of fees paid to 
the external auditors for that financial year, 
and (b) a breakdown of the fees paid in total 
for audit and non-audit services respecঞ vely, 
or an appropriate negative statement, in the 
company’s Annual Report.

 Where the external auditors also supply a 
substanঞ al volume of non-audit services to the 
company, the AC should keep the nature and 
extent of such services under review, seeking to 
maintain objecঞ vity.

In FY2017, total audit fees were approximately 
S$195,000 as disclosed under Note 28 of the Notes to 
the Financial Statements and there was no non-audit 
fee paid to the Company’s External Auditors, Deloi� e 
& Touche LLP. In compliance with Rule 1204(6)(b) of 
the Catalist Rules, the AC undertook the annual review 
of the independence and objecঞ vity of the External 
Auditors by reviewing the non-audit services provided 
and the fees paid to them, if any. It is the opinion of 
the AC that the nature and extent of non-audit services 
provided by the External Auditors do not aff ect the 
independence and objecঞ vity of the External Auditors, 
and has recommended the re-appointment of the 
External Auditors at the forthcoming AGM.

Deloi� e & Touche LLP and its member fi rms are the 
auditors of all the Company’s Singapore incorporated 
subsidiaries and foreign-incorporated subsidiaries 
except PT. PNE Indonesia, which is audited by Tjahjadi 
& Tamara, an independent member fi rm of Morison 
Internaঞ onal. The Board and AC are of the view that 
the Company has complied with Catalist Rules 712 and 
715 in relaঞ on to its External Auditors. 

12.7 The AC should review the policy and 
arrangements by which staff  of the company 
and any other persons may, in confi dence, raise 
concerns about possible improprieঞ es in ma� ers 
of fi nancial reporঞ ng or other ma� ers. The AC’s 
objecঞ ve should be to ensure that arrangements 
are in place for such concerns to be raised and 
independently invesঞ gated, and for appropriate 
follow-up acঞ on to be taken.

 The existence of a whistle-blowing policy should 
be disclosed in the company’s Annual Report, 
and procedures for raising such concerns should 
be publicly disclosed as appropriate.

The Group has established a whistleblowing policy 
which provides the channel for employees of the 
Group and external parties to raise their concerns 
about improprieties in financial reporting or other 
ma� ers to the AC Chairman or CEO, in good faith 
and in confi dence, sending their mails directly to the 
Company’s registered address, if any. There were no 
whistleblowing reports received in FY2017. 

The procedures for whistle blowing are displayed 
clearly on the noঞ ce boards of the Company and its 
subsidiaries where staff can call or email the CEO 
directly on all ma� ers not related to the CEO, and they 
have access to the Lead Independent Non-Execuঞ ve 
Director for ma� ers relaঞ ng to the CEO or as they 
deem appropriate. The follow up procedures regarding 
ma� ers raised are also stated and whistleblowers are 
assured that all acঞ ons in good faith will not aff ect 
them in their work and staff  appraisals.
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12.8 The Board should disclose a summary of all 
the AC’s activities in the company’s Annual 
Report. The Board should also disclose in the 
company’s Annual Report measures taken by 
the AC members to keep abreast of changes to 
accounঞ ng standards and issues which have a 
direct impact on fi nancial statements.

Please refer to the Group’s pracঞ ces in Guidelines 1.6 
and 12.4.

12.9 A former partner or director of the company’s 
exisঞ ng audiঞ ng fi rm or audiঞ ng corporaঞ on 
should not act as a member of the company’s 
AC: (a) within a period of 12 months 
commencing on the date of his ceasing to be a 
partner of the audiঞ ng fi rm or director of the 
auditing corporation; and in any case (b) for 
as long as he has any fi nancial interest in the 
audiঞ ng fi rm or audiঞ ng corporaঞ on.

None of the AC members were previous partners 
or directors of the exisঞ ng audiঞ ng fi rms within the 
previous 12 months and none of the AC members hold 
any fi nancial interest in the above-menঞ oned audiঞ ng 
fi rms.

Internal Audit

Principle 13
The company should establish an eff ecঞ ve internal audit funcঞ on that is adequately resourced and independent 
of the acঞ viঞ es it audits.

13.1 The Internal Auditor’s primary line of reporঞ ng 
should be to the AC Chairman although 
the Internal Auditor would also report 
administraঞ vely to the CEO.

 The AC approves the hiring, removal, evaluaঞ on 
and compensaঞ on of the head of the internal 
audit function, or the accounting / auditing 
fi rm or corporaঞ on to which the internal audit 
function is outsourced. The Internal Auditor 
should have unfettered access to all the 
company’s documents, records, properঞ es and 
personnel, including access to the AC.

The AC, in consultaঞ on with Management, approves 
the hiring, removal, evaluaঞ on and the fees of the 
Internal Auditors. The Internal Auditors have unfe� ered 
access to all the Group’s documents, records, personnel 
and the AC.

The internal audit function of the Group was out-
sourced to Foo Kon Tan Advisory Services Pte Ltd 
in FY2017. The Internal Auditors report primarily 
to the AC Chairman and has unrestricted access to 
documents, records, properঞ es and personnel of the 
Group.
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13.2 The AC should ensure that the internal audit 
function is adequately resourced and has 
appropriate standing within the company. 
For the avoidance of doubt, the internal 
audit function can be in-house, outsourced 
to a reputable accounting/auditing firm 
or corporation, or performed by a major 
shareholder, holding company or controlling 
enterprise with an internal audit staff .

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining a 
system of internal controls, procedures and processes 
for the Group to safeguard the shareholders’ 
investments and the Group’s assets. The Management 
is responsible for establishing and implementing 
the internal control procedures in a timely and 
appropriate manner. For example, the key features of 
the internal control environment include having clear 
and defi ned terms of reference for Board Commi� ees, 
assigning authority and responsibility in accordance 
with an authority matrix and wri� en internal control 
procedures. 

The role of the Internal Auditors is to assist the AC in 
ensuring that the controls are adequate, eff ecঞ ve and 
funcঞ oning as intended, to undertake invesঞ gaঞ ons 
as directed by the AC and to conduct regular in-depth 
audits of high risk areas. The AC is saঞ sfi ed that the 
internal audit funcঞ on is adequately resourced and 
has the appropriate standing within the Company to 
perform its funcঞ on eff ecঞ vely. 

13.3 The internal audit funcঞ on should be staff ed 
with persons with the relevant qualifi caঞ ons and 
experience.

The AC is saঞ sfi ed that the internal audit funcঞ on 
is staffed by suitably qualified and experienced 
professionals.

13.4 The Internal Auditor should carry out its 
function according to the standards set 
by nationally or internationally recognised 
professional bodies including the Standards for 
the Professional Pracঞ ce of Internal Audiঞ ng set 
by The Insঞ tute of Internal Auditors.

Foo Kon Tan Advisory Services Pte Ltd is a member of 
the Insঞ tute of Internal Auditors (“IIA”). The internal 
audit work carried out is guided by the Internaঞ onal 
Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal 
Audiঞ ng set by IIA.

13.5 The AC should, at least annually, review the 
adequacy and eff ecঞ veness of the internal audit 
funcঞ on.

The internal audit function plans its internal audit 
schedules in consultation with, but independent of 
the Management. The audit plan is submitted to 
the AC for approval prior to the commencement 
of the internal audit work. In addiঞ on, the Internal 
Auditors may be involved in ad-hoc projects iniঞ ated 
by the Management which require the assurance of 
the Internal Auditors in specific areas of concerns. 
Please refer to Guidelines 13.1 and 13.2 above on 
the adequacy and eff ecঞ veness of the internal audit 
funcঞ on.
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SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

Shareholders Rights

Principle 14
Companies should treat all shareholders fairly and equitably, and should recognise, protect and facilitate the 
exercise of shareholders’ rights, and conঞ nually review and update such governance arrangements

14.1 Companies should facilitate the exercise 
of ownership rights by all shareholders. In 
particular, shareholders have the right to 
be sufficiently informed of changes in the 
company or its business which would be likely 
to materially aff ect the price or value of the 
company’s shares.

The Company has adopted half-yearly results reporঞ ng 
since the half year ended 31 March 2002.

In line with the Group’s disclosure obligaঞ ons pursuant 
to the Catalist Rules and the Companies Act, Chapter 
50 of Singapore (the “Act”) the Board’s policy is that 
all Shareholders should be informed simultaneously in 
an accurate and comprehensive manner for all material 
developments that impact the Group via SGXNET on 
an immediate basis.

14.2 Companies should ensure that shareholders 
have the opportunity to parঞ cipate eff ecঞ vely 
in and vote at general meeঞ ngs of shareholders. 
Shareholders should be informed of the rules, 
including voঞ ng procedures, that govern general 
meeঞ ngs of shareholders.

At general meetings, Shareholders are given the 
opportunity to raise quesঞ ons to the Directors and the 
Management relaঞ ng to the Company’s business or 
performance. The Chairpersons of the AC, NC and RC, 
as well as the External Auditors, are present to assist 
the Directors in addressing any relevant queries raised 
by Shareholders.

Shareholders are also informed of the voting 
procedures prior to the commencement of voঞ ng by 
poll.

14.3 Companies should allow corporations which 
provide nominee or custodial services to appoint 
more than two proxies so that shareholders 
who hold shares through such corporaঞ ons can 
a� end and parঞ cipate in general meeঞ ngs as 
proxies.

The Company’s Consঞ tuঞ on also allows an individual 
Shareholder to appoint not more than two proxies to 
a� end and vote on his or her behalf at the general 
meeঞ ngs. In line with the amendments to the Act, 
the Consঞ tuঞ on allows corporate Shareholders of the 
Company which provide nominee or custodial services 
to third parঞ es to appoint more than two proxies to 
a� end and vote on their behalf at general meeঞ ngs.
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Communicaঞ on with Shareholders

Principle 15
Companies should acঞ vely engage their shareholders and put in place an investor relaঞ ons policy to promote 
regular, eff ecঞ ve and fair communicaঞ on with shareholders.

15.1 Companies should devise an eff ecঞ ve investor 
relaঞ ons policy to regularly convey perঞ nent 
information to shareholders. In disclosing 
informaঞ on, companies should be as descripঞ ve, 
detailed and forthcoming as possible, and avoid 
boilerplate disclosures.

The Company does not have an Investor Relations 
Policy in place. However, the Board’s policy is that all 
Shareholders should be informed simultaneously in 
an accurate and comprehensive manner regarding 
all material developments that impact the Group 
via SGXNET on an immediate basis, in line with the 
Group’s disclosure obligaঞ ons pursuant to the Catalist 
Rules and the Act. There is no dedicated investor 
relaঞ ons team in place as the Board was of the view 
that the current communicaঞ on channels are suffi  cient 
and cost-eff ecঞ ve. 

Shareholders of the Company receive the annual 
reports and noঞ ces of AGMs which are also adverঞ sed 
in the newspapers within the prescribed deadlines prior 
to the AGMs. The Board encourages Shareholders’ 
participation at the AGMs and periodically 
communicates with Shareholders through SGXNET 
throughout the fi nancial year.

Similarly, Shareholders receive the circulars and noঞ ces 
of Extraordinary General Meeঞ ngs (“EGMs”) which are 
adverঞ sed in the newspapers within the prescribed 
deadlines prior to the EGMs.

15.2 Companies should disclose information on 
a timely basis through SGXNET and other 
information channels, including a well-
maintained and updated corporate website. 
Where there is inadvertent disclosure made to 
a select group, companies should make the same 
disclosure publicly to all others as promptly as 
possible.

The Company does not pracঞ ce selecঞ ve disclosure of 
material informaঞ on.

The Group makes all necessary disclosures to 
Shareholders and the public via SGXNET. 

15.3 The Board should establish and maintain regular 
dialogue with shareholders, to gather views or 
inputs, and address shareholders’ concerns.

Both Executive and Independent Non-Executive 
Directors meet or speak with Shareholders regularly, 
primarily through general meeঞ ngs of Shareholders, to 
gather their views and address concerns.
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15.4 The Board should state in the company’s Annual 
Report the steps it has taken to solicit and 
understand the views of the shareholders e.g. 
through analyst briefi ngs, investor roadshows or 
Investors’ Day briefi ngs.

Please refer to the Group’s practices set out in 
Guideline 15.3.

15.5 Companies are encouraged to have a policy on 
payment of dividends and should communicate 
it to shareholders. Where dividends are not paid, 
companies should disclose their reasons.

The Company does not have a fi xed dividend policy 
at present. The issue of payment of dividends is 
deliberated by the Board annually, having regards to 
various factors (e.g. Company’s profi t, cash fl ow, capital 
requirements for investment and growth, general 
business condiঞ ons and other factors as the Board 
deems appropriate).

The Board has not declared or recommended a 
dividend for FY2017 in order to conserve cash for 
future operaঞ ons and expansion of business acঞ viঞ es 
in a challenging business environment.

Conduct of Shareholder Meeঞ ngs

Principle 16
Companies should encourage greater shareholder parঞ cipaঞ on at general meeঞ ngs of shareholders, and allow 
shareholders the opportunity to communicate their views on various ma� ers aff ecঞ ng the company.

16.1 Shareholders should have the opportunity to 
parঞ cipate eff ecঞ vely in and to vote at general 
meetings of shareholders. Companies should 
make the appropriate provisions in their Arঞ cles 
of Associaঞ on (or other consঞ tuঞ ve documents) 
to allow for absenঞ a voঞ ng at general meeঞ ngs 
of shareholders.

Accompanying the noঞ ce of AGM and EGM, is a proxy 
form, so that (i) Shareholders who are individuals may 
appoint up to 2 proxies; and (ii) Shareholders which 
are intermediaries (such as banks and capital markets 
services licence holders) providing custodial services 
may appoint more than 2 proxies to a� end on their 
behalf, should Shareholders be unable to personally 
a� end the meeঞ ngs.

Voঞ ng in absenঞ a, which is currently not permi� ed, 
may only be possible following careful study to ensure 
that the integrity of informaঞ on and authenঞ caঞ on of 
the idenঞ ty of Shareholders through the web are not 
compromised, and legislaঞ ve changes are eff ected to 
recognise remote voঞ ng.

16.2 There should be separate resoluঞ ons at general 
meeঞ ngs on each substanঞ ally separate issue. 
Companies should avoid “bundling” resoluঞ ons 
unless the resoluঞ ons are interdependent and 
linked so as to form one signifi cant proposal.

The Company has separate resolutions at general 
meeঞ ngs for each disঞ nct issue.
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16.3 All directors should a� end general meeঞ ngs of 
shareholders. In parঞ cular, the Chairman of the 
Board and the respecঞ ve Chairman of the AC, 
NC and RC should be present and available to 
address shareholders’ queries at these meeঞ ngs.

 The external auditors should also be present to 
address shareholders’ queries about the conduct 
of audit and the preparaঞ on and content of the 
auditors’ report.

The respecঞ ve chairpersons of the AC, RC and NC 
are present at the AGMs and EGMs to answer queries 
raised at the AGMs and EGMs. 

The External Auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP, 
are invited to attend the AGMs to address any 
Shareholders’ queries about the conduct of their audits.

16.4 Companies should prepare minutes of general 
meeঞ ngs that include substanঞ al and relevant 
comments or queries from shareholders relaঞ ng 
to the agenda of the meeঞ ng, and responses 
from the Board and Management, and to make 
these minutes available to shareholders upon 
their request.

The Company prepares minutes of general meeঞ ngs 
which incorporate substanঞ al comments and queries 
from Shareholders and responses from the Board and 
Management. These minutes are made available upon 
request by Shareholders.

16.5 Companies should put all resoluঞ ons to vote by 
poll and make an announcement of the detailed 
results showing the number of votes cast for 
and against each resoluঞ on and the respecঞ ve 
percentages. Companies are encouraged to 
employ electronic polling.

In line with Catalist Rule 730A, all resoluঞ ons will be 
voted by way of poll and the Company will announce 
the detailed results showing the number of votes cast 
for and against each resolution and the respective 
percentages to the Shareholders and the public.

The Company has adopted electronic poll voঞ ng for all 
general meeঞ ngs.
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1. Material Contracts
 [Catalist Rule 1204(8)]

 The Company had entered into a sale and purchase agreement dated 11 May 2016 for the acquisiঞ on 
of the balance 50% shareholding interest in SMC Industrial Pte Ltd, the Company’s 50%-owned 
subsidiary, from the Execuঞ ve Chairman, at the consideraঞ on of S$8.9 million on the terms and 
condiঞ ons set out therein. Please refer to the circular to Shareholders dated 7 December 2016 for 
further informaঞ on about the above interested person transacঞ on. The Company had completed the 
acquisiঞ on of balance 50% shareholding interest in SMC on 24 January 2017.

 Save as disclosed above and in the Notes to the Financial Statements, no material contracts were 
entered into involving the interests at any Director, CEO or controlling shareholders and the Group 
either sঞ ll subsisঞ ng at the end of the fi nancial year or if not then subsisঞ ng entered into since the 
end of the previous fi nancial year. In addiঞ on, no Director, CEO, controlling shareholders or a company 
related to the aforesaid persons have received a benefi t from any contract entered into by the Group 
since the end of the previous fi nancial year. 

2. Interested Person Transacঞ ons
 [Catalist Rule 1204(17)]

 The Company does not have a general mandate from shareholders for recurrent interested person 
transacঞ ons. 

 There were no interested person transacঞ ons with a value of S$100,000 or more during FY2017.

3. Dealing in Securiঞ es
 [Catalist Rule 1204(19)]

 In compliance with Rule 1204(19), the Group has adopted a Code of Conduct to provide guidance to 
Directors and execuঞ ve offi  cers with regards to dealing in the Company’s securiঞ es.

 The Company, Directors and offi  cers of the Group are advised not to deal in the Company’s shares on 
short-term consideraঞ ons or when they are in possession of unpublished price-sensiঞ ve informaঞ on. 
They are also reminded regularly not to deal in the Company’s shares during the period commencing 
one month before the announcement of the Group’s half-yearly and annual fi nancial results and ending 
on the date of announcement of those results. The Company, its Directors and offi  cers are required to 
report to the Company Secretary whenever they deal in the Company’s shares. The Company Secretary 
assists the AC and the Board in monitoring such share transacঞ ons and making the necessary 
announcements. Directors and offi  cers are also reminded to be mindful of the laws on insider trading 
at all ঞ mes and to ensure that their dealings in securiঞ es do not contravene the laws on insider trading 
as determined by the Securiঞ es and Futures Act (Chapter 289) of Singapore, the Companies Act and 
other appropriate regulaঞ ons.

 “Directors and offi  cers” include the following classes of employees:-

 1) All directors and managers;
 
 2) All signifi cant parঞ cipants in the fi nancial consolidaঞ on process;
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 3) Others with signifi cant management responsibility whose decisions can materially impact the 
Company’s fi nancial results; and

 
 4) Certain accounঞ ng and fi nance personnel who assist the Company’s CFO/Company Secretary in 

preparing all public announcements and materials distributed to the Board of Directors. 

4. Non-sponsor Fees
 [Catalist Rule 1204(21)]

 No non-sponsor fees were paid to the Company’s sponsor, PrimePartners Corporate Finance Pte Ltd in 
FY2017.

TABLE A

Board comprises:-

Koh Mia Seng (Executive Chairman and Executive Director)
Neo Gim Kiong (Executive Director & CEO)
Liew Nyok Wah (Executive Director)
Kevin Norbert Scully (Lead Independent Non-Executive Director)
Yu Lihong (Independent Non-Executive Director)
Low Ka Choon Kevin (Independent Non-Executive Director)

The primary funcঞ ons of the Board include:-

1. charঞ ng the overall strategy, growth and direcঞ on of the Group;

2. overseeing and monitoring the performance of the management team;

3. ensuring there are in place appropriate and adequate systems of internal controls and risk management 
policies;

4. approving the annual budget, major capital expenditures and funding proposals, and investment and 
divestment proposals; and

5. assuming responsibiliঞ es for good corporate pracঞ ces.

The Board’s approval is also required on ma� ers such as major acquisiঞ ons and disposals, corporate or 
fi nancial restructuring, share issuance and dividends. 

Audit Commi  ee comprises:-

Kevin Norbert Scully (Chairman, Lead Independent Non-Executive)
Yu Lihong (Member, Independent Non-Executive)
Low Ka Choon Kevin (Member, Independent Non-Executive)

The responsibiliঞ es of the AC, based on the wri� en terms of reference, are as follows :-

1. reviewing the fi nancial statements of the Company and the Group before they are submi� ed to the 
Board for approval;
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2. reviewing the audit plans with the external auditors;

3. reviewing the independence of the external auditors;

4. reviewing management le� ers from the external auditors and responses from the management;

5. recommending to the Board the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external auditors, 
and approving the remuneraঞ on and terms of engagement of the external auditors;

6. reviewing the scope and results of the internal audit procedures;

7. reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls, including financial, 
operaঞ onal and compliance controls and risk management; and

8. reviewing interested person transacঞ ons, if any.

Nominaঞ ng Commi� ee comprises:-

Low Ka Choon Kevin (Chairman, Independent Non-Executive)
Yu Lihong (Member, Independent Non-Executive)
Kevin Norbert Scully (Member, Lead Independent Non-Executive)

The responsibiliঞ es of the NC, based on the wri� en terms of reference, includes the following:-

1. making recommendaঞ ons to the Board on the appointment and re-appointment of Directors to the 
Board;

2. reviewing the size and composiঞ on of the Board;

3. evaluaঞ ng the eff ecঞ veness of the Board as a whole and the contribuঞ on by each individual Director 
to the eff ecঞ veness of the Board; and

4. determining the independence of Directors, at least annually.

Remuneraঞ on Commi� ee comprises:-

Yu Lihong (Chairman, Independent Non-Executive)
Kevin Norbert Scully (Member, Lead Independent Non-Executive)
Koh Mia Seng (Member, Executive)
Low Ka Choon Kevin (Member, Independent Non-Executive)

The responsibiliঞ es of the RC, based on the wri� en terms of reference, includes the following:-

1. recommending to the Board a framework of review procedures for fi xing the remuneraঞ on packages of 
the Directors and key management personnel of the Group; and

2. reviewing the appropriateness of the remuneraঞ on packages in relaঞ on to the level of contribuঞ on and 
performance of each Director and key management personnel of the Group.
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The RC ensures that a formal and transparent procedure is in place for fi xing the remuneraঞ on packages of 
each individual Director and key management personnel of the Group. The recommendaঞ ons of the RC are 
submi� ed for endorsement by the Board. Each member of the RC shall abstain from voঞ ng on any resoluঞ on 
in respect of his or her own remuneraঞ on package.

TABLE B

Name of Director

Board of
 Directors 
Meeঞ ngs

Audit 
Commi� ee 
Meeঞ ngs

Remuneraঞ on 
Commi� ee 
Meeঞ ngs

Nominaঞ ng 
Commi� ee 
Meeঞ ngs

No.
held

No.
 a� ended

No. 
held

No. 
a� ended

No. 
held

No. 
a� ended

No.
held

No. 
a� ended

Koh Mia Seng 4 4 2* 2* 1 1 2* 2*
Neo Gim Kiong 4 4 2* 2* 1* 1* 2* 2*
Liew Nyok Wah 4 4 2* 2* 1* 1* 2* 2*
Kevin Norbert Scully 4 3 2 2 1 1 2 1
Yu Lihong 4 4 2 2 1 1 2 2
Low Ka Choon Kevin 4 4 2 2 1 1 2 2

* By Invitaঞ on

TABLE C

The Directors named below are reঞ ring and being eligible, off er themselves for re-elecঞ on at the upcoming 
AGM:-

Name of Director Date of Appointment Date of Last Elecঞ on

Liew Nyok Wah 3 September 2014 29 January 2015
Low Ka Choon Kevin 9 April 2015 25 January 2016



CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE

Sen Yue Holdings Limited | Annual Report 201748

TABLE D

The tables below show the remuneraঞ on of the Directors and the top four key management personnel of the 
Group, who are not directors as well as the approximate percentage breakdown of the remuneraঞ on during 
FY2017.

(a) Remuneraঞ on of Directors of the Company 

Name of Director
Salary*

(S$)
Bonus#

(S$)

Directors’ 
Fees
(S$)

Allowance 
and other 
benefi ts

(S$)
Total
(S$)

S$500,001 to S$750,000
Koh Mia Seng
(Execuঞ ve Director) 503,052 40,901 – – 543,953

S$250,000 to S$500,000
Neo Gim Kiong
(Execuঞ ve Director and CEO) 353,000 28,000 – 36,000 417,000
Liew Nyok Wah
(Execuঞ ve Director) 276,220 22,000 – 36,000 334,220

Below S$250,000
Kevin Norbert Scully
(Lead Independent Non-Execuঞ ve 
Director) – – 37,000 750 37,750
Yu Lihong
(Independent Non-Execuঞ ve Director) – – 28,500 750 29,250
Low Ka Choon Kevin
(Independent Non-Execuঞ ve Director) – – 28,500 500 29,000

 *  The salary amount shown is inclusive of Central Provident Fund (“CPF”), all fees other than 
directors’ fees and other emoluments.

 #  The bonus amount shown is inclusive of CPF.
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(b) Remuneraঞ on of top four Key Management Personnel 

Name of Top 4 
Key Management Personnel

Salary*
(%)

Bonus*
(%)

Directors’ 
Fees
(%)

Allowance 
and other 
benefi ts

(%)
Total
(%)

S$250,000 to S$500,000: -
Foo Say Kit
(Managing Director, Malaysia and 
Indonesia) 68% 18% – 14% 100%

Below S$250,000: -
Chai Lee Shun^
(CFO/Company Secretary) 88% 7% – 5% 100%
Pua Kai Chek
(General Manager,Malaysia) 76% 19% – 5% 100%
Lim Soon Wah 
(Director, Indonesia) 73% 26% – 1% 100%

 *  The salary and bonus amounts shown are inclusive of CPF.

 ^ Ms. Chai Lee Shun resigned as CFO/Company Secretary of the Company on 15 August 2017.

 The total remuneraঞ on paid to the above top four key management personnel in FY2017 was 
S$691,021.

 
 No stock opঞ ons were granted in FY2017 as the Company has no employees shares opঞ on scheme in 

place. Please refer to the disclosure under Guideline 9.5 for more details.

(c) Remuneraঞ on of employee related to Director 

Name of Employee 
who are family members of a Director

Salary*
(%)

Bonus*
(%)

Directors’ 
Fees
(%)

Allowance 
and other 
benefi ts

(%)
Total
(%)

S$50,000 to S$100,000
Xu Yi Rui^
(Assistant Manager) 92% 8% – – 100%

 *  The salary and bonus amounts shown are inclusive of CPF.

 ^ Mr. Xu Yi Rui is the nephew of Mr. Koh Mia Seng (Execuঞ ve Chairman and Execuঞ ve Director).

 Mr. Xu Yi Rui is the nephew of Mr. Koh Mia Seng (Execuঞ ve Chairman and Execuঞ ve Director) and he 
is the Assistant Manager of SMC Industrial Pte Ltd. The remuneraঞ on of Mr. Xu in FY2017 was in the 
band of S$50,000 to S$100,000.

 Save as disclosed above, there was no employee of the Group who is an immediate family member of 
any Director or the CEO whose remuneraঞ on exceeds S$50,000 in FY2017.
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The Directors present their statement together with the audited consolidated fi nancial statements of the 
Group and statement of fi nancial posiঞ on and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the 
fi nancial year ended September 30, 2017.

In the opinion of the Directors, the consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group and the statement of 
fi nancial posiঞ on and statement of changes in equity of the Company as set out on pages 57 to 121 are 
drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the fi nancial posiঞ on of the Group and of the Company as at 
September 30, 2017, and the fi nancial performance, changes in equity and cash fl ows of the Group and 
changes in equity of the Company for the fi nancial year then ended and at the date of this statement, there 
are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts when they fall due.

1 DIRECTORS

 The Directors of the Company in offi  ce at the date of this statement are:

 Koh Mia Seng
   Neo Gim Kiong
 Liew Nyok Wah
 Kevin Norbert Scully
 Yu Lihong
 Low Ka Choon Kevin

2 ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE BENEFITS BY MEANS OF THE 
ACQUISITION OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES

 Neither at the end of the fi nancial year nor at any ঞ me during the fi nancial year did there subsist any 
arrangement whose object is to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire benefi ts by means of 
the acquisiঞ on of shares or debentures in the Company or any other body corporate.
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3 DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES

 The Directors of the Company holding offi  ce at the end of the fi nancial year had no interests in the 
share capital and debentures of the Company and related corporaঞ ons as recorded in the register of 
Directors’ shareholdings kept by the Company under Secঞ on 164 of the Singapore Companies Act 
except as follows:

Names of Directors and companies 
in which interests are held

Shareholdings registered 
in the name of Director

Shareholdings in which Director 
is deemed to have an interest

At beginning of
fi nancial year

At end of
fi nancial year

At beginning of
fi nancial year

At end of
fi nancial year

The Company
(Ordinary shares)

Koh Mia Seng 142,638,458 369,109,046 – –
Liew Nyok Wah 62,000,000 62,000,000 – –
Neo Gim Kiong 4,150,000 4,150,000 – –
Yu Lihong – 6,000,000* 6,000,000* –
Low Ka Choon Kevin – 1,000,000 – –

 *  The 6,000,000 shares held in a nominee account with United Overseas Bank Nominees (Private) Limited were transferred to 
direct shareholding on November 30, 2016.

 By virtue of Secঞ on 7 of the Singapore Companies Act, Koh Mia Seng is deemed to have an interest in 
the Company and in all the related corporaঞ ons of the Company.

 The Directors’ interests in the Shares of the Company and related corporaঞ ons as at 21 October 2017 
were the same as at September 30, 2017.

4 SHARE OPTIONS

 (a) Opঞ ons to take up unissued shares

  During the fi nancial year, no opঞ ons to take up unissued shares of the Company or any 
corporaঞ on in the Group were granted.

 (b) Opঞ ons exercised

  During the fi nancial year, there were no shares of the Company or any corporaঞ on in the Group 
issued by virtue of the exercise of an opঞ on to take up unissued shares.

 (c) Unissued shares under opঞ on

  At the end of the fi nancial year, there were no unissued shares of the Company or any 
corporaঞ on in the Group under opঞ on.
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5 AUDIT COMMITTEE

 The Audit Committee carries out its functions in accordance with the principles of corporate 
governance as prescribed in the Code of Corporate Governance 2012 issued by the Singapore Council 
on Corporate Disclosure and Governance. The funcঞ ons carried out are detailed in the Corporate 
Governance Report.

6 AUDITORS

 The auditors, Deloi� e & Touche LLP, have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

Koh Mia Seng

Neo Gim Kiong

December 28, 2017
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Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying fi nancial statements of Sen Yue Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and 
its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of fi nancial posiঞ on of the Group 
and the statement of fi nancial posiঞ on of the Company as at September 30, 2017, and the consolidated 
statement of profi t or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and 
consolidated statement of cash fl ows of the Group and the statement of changes in equity of the Company 
for the year then ended, and notes to the fi nancial statements, including a summary of signifi cant accounঞ ng 
policies, as set out on pages 57 to 121.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group and the statement of 
fi nancial posiঞ on and statement of changes in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance 
with the provisions of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (“the Act”) and Financial Reporঞ ng Standards in 
Singapore (“FRSs”) so as to give a true and fair view of the consolidated fi nancial posiঞ on of the Group 
and the fi nancial posiঞ on of the Company as at September 30, 2017 and of the consolidated fi nancial 
performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash fl ows of the Group and of the changes in 
equity of the Company for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Audiঞ ng (“SSAs”). Our responsibiliঞ es 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibili  es for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements secঞ on of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounঞ ng and 
Corporate Regulatory Authority (“ACRA”) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and 
Accoun  ng En   es (“ACRA Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
fi nancial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfi lled our other ethical responsibiliঞ es in accordance with 
these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi  cient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Ma� ers

Key audit ma� ers are those ma� ers that, in our professional judgement, were of most signifi cance in our 
audit of the fi nancial statements of the current year. These ma� ers were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the fi nancial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these ma� ers.
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Key Audit Ma� ers (cont’d)

Key audit ma� er How the ma� er was addressed in the audit

Allowance for trade receivables

As at September 30, 2017, the Group has trade 
receivables of $47.7 million, representing 69% 
of the Group’s current assets. 68% of trade 
receivables for the Group relate to amounts due 
from two major overseas customers. Significant 
judgement is required by management in assessing 
the recoverability of trade receivables including 
those that are past due but not provided for and 
the level of allowance for doub� ul debts that may 
be required. Inappropriate judgement and esঞ mates 
made in the impairment assessment would result in 
a signifi cant impact on the carrying amount of trade 
receivables.

Our audit procedures focused on evaluaঞ ng and 
challenging key assumpঞ ons used by management 
in conducঞ ng the impairment assessment. These 
procedures included:

 understanding management’s process over 
the monitoring of trade receivables and the 
assessment of allowance for doub� ul debts;

 assessing the recoverability of the Group’s 
signifi cant past due trade receivables as at 
the reporঞ ng date, including the assessment 
of any allowance to be made in respect of 
these past due debts; and

 discussing with management on the reasons 
for the delay in payments for signifi cant aged 
debts and assessing the appropriateness of 
any allowance for doub� ul debts to be made, 
by considering amongst other factors such as, 
subsequent cash receipts, payment history, 
settlement arrangement or the ongoing 
business relationship with the debtors 
involved.

We have also reviewed the adequacy and 
appropriateness of the disclosures made in Note 7 
to the fi nancial statements.

Informaঞ on Other than the Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon

Management is responsible for the other informaঞ on. The other informaঞ on comprises the informaঞ on 
included in the Annual Report, but does not include the fi nancial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the fi nancial statements does not cover the other informaঞ on and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connecঞ on with our audit of the fi nancial statements, our responsibility is to read the other informaঞ on 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other informaঞ on is materially inconsistent with the fi nancial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based 
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is material misstatement of this other informaঞ on, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibiliঞ es of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparaঞ on of fi nancial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act and FRSs, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal 
accounঞ ng controls suffi  cient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss 
from unauthorised use or disposiঞ on; and transacঞ ons are properly authorised and that they are recorded 
as necessary to permit the preparaঞ on of true and fair fi nancial statements and to maintain accountability of 
assets.

In preparing the fi nancial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to conঞ nue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, ma� ers related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounঞ ng unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operaঞ ons, or has 
no realisঞ c alternaঞ ve but to do so.

The Directors’ responsibiliঞ es include overseeing the Group’s fi nancial reporঞ ng process.

Auditor’s Responsibiliঞ es for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objecঞ ves are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the fi nancial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to infl uence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these fi nancial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepঞ cism throughout the audit. We also:

a) Idenঞ fy and assess the risks of material misstatement of the fi nancial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is suffi  cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecঞ ng a material 
misstatement resulঞ ng from fraud is higher than for one resulঞ ng from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intenঞ onal omissions, misrepresentaঞ ons, or the override of internal control.

b) Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
eff ecঞ veness of the Group’s internal control.

c) Evaluate the appropriateness of accounঞ ng policies used and the reasonableness of accounঞ ng 
esঞ mates and related disclosures made by management.

d) Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounঞ ng and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
condiঞ ons that may cast signifi cant doubt on the Group’s ability to conঞ nue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw a� enঞ on in our auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the fi nancial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or condiঞ ons may cause the Group to cease to conঞ nue as a going 
concern.
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Auditor’s Responsibiliঞ es for the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)

e) Evaluate the overall presentaঞ on, structure and content of the fi nancial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the fi nancial statements represent the underlying transacঞ ons and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentaঞ on.

f) Obtain suffi  cient appropriate audit evidence regarding the fi nancial informaঞ on of the enঞ ঞ es or 
business acঞ viঞ es within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated fi nancial statements. 
We are responsible for the direcঞ on, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other ma� ers, the planned scope and ঞ ming of the 
audit and signifi cant audit fi ndings, including any signifi cant defi ciencies in internal control that we idenঞ fy 
during our audit.

We also provide the Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relaঞ onships and other ma� ers that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the ma� ers communicated with the Directors, we determine those ma� ers that were of most 
signifi cance in the audit of the fi nancial statements of the current year and are therefore the key audit 
ma� ers. We describe these ma� ers in our auditor’s report unless law or regulaঞ on precludes public 
disclosure about the ma� er or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a ma� er should 
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 
expected to outweigh the public interest benefi ts of such communicaঞ on.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the accounঞ ng and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by the 
subsidiary corporaঞ ons incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act.

The engagement partner on the audit resulঞ ng in this independent auditor’s report is Tsia Chee Wah.

Deloi� e & Touche LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore

December 28, 2017
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Group Company
Note 2017 2016 2017 2016

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6 10,407 8,904 278 325
Trade and other receivables 7 52,470 41,347 2,125 2,554
Inventories 8 5,772 4,949 – –
Total current assets 68,649 55,200 2,403 2,879

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 9 27,289 19,081 – –
Goodwill 10 338 338 – –
Subsidiaries 11 – – 31,554 25,864
Joint venture 12 – – – –
Other receivables 7 677 740 – –
Insurance assets 13 3,359 3,316 – –
Deferred tax assets 14 49 26 – –
Total non-current assets 31,712 23,501 31,554 25,864

Total assets 100,361 78,701 33,957 28,743

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current liabiliঞ es
Bank overdra[ s, loans and trade bills 15 47,034 35,495 1,283 1,861
Trade and other payables 16 9,876 6,217 3,434 2,610
Converঞ ble notes 18 1,900 – 1,900 –
Finance leases 17 238 110 – –
Income tax payable 545 343 – –
Total current liabiliঞ es 59,593 42,165 6,617 4,471

Non-current liabiliঞ es
Converঞ ble notes 18 – 1,900 – 1,900
Finance leases 17 578 147 – –
Other payables 16 63 41 – –
Deferred tax liabiliঞ es 14 1,455 1,147 – –
Total non-current liabiliঞ es 2,096 3,235 – 1,900
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Group Company
Note 2017 2016 2017 2016

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Capital, reserves and non-controlling 
 interests
Share capital 19 40,255 34,366 40,255 34,366
Merger defi cit 20 (3,454) (3,454) – –
Translaঞ on reserve 21 (7,421) (6,934) – –
Revaluaঞ on reserve 22 8,066 6,481 – –
Capital reserve 23 2,605 (26) – –
Accumulated losses (1,379) (5,807) (12,915) (11,994)
Equity a� ributable to owners of
 the Company 38,672 24,626 27,340 22,372
Non-controlling interests – 8,675 – –
Total equity 38,672 33,301 27,340 22,372

Total liabiliঞ es and equity 100,361 78,701 33,957 28,743
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Group
Note 2017 2016

$’000 $’000

Revenue 24 207,198 152,224

Cost of sales (190,088) (140,314)

Gross profi t 17,110 11,910
Other operaঞ ng income 25 923 1,209
Distribuঞ on costs (1,166) (1,124)
Administraঞ ve expenses (10,191) (8,711)
Other operaঞ ng expenses (1,645) (3,211)
Finance costs 26 (1,517) (1,111)

Profi t (Loss) before tax 3,514 (1,038)
Income tax expense 27 (918) (465)
Profi t (Loss) for the year 28 2,596 (1,503)

Profi t (Loss) a� ributable to:
Owners of the Company 2,076 (826)
Non-controlling interests 520 (677)

2,596 (1,503)

Earnings (Loss) per share
Basic and diluted (cents) 29 0.26 (0.13)

Other comprehensive income (loss):
Items that will not be reclassifi ed subsequently to profi t or loss:

Revaluaঞ on of properঞ es 3,962 (30)
Reversal of deferred tax liability on disposal of property 367 –
Disposal of property (392) –

3,937 (30)

Items that may be reclassifi ed subsequently to profi t or loss:
Exchange diff erences on translaঞ on of foreign operaঞ ons (487) 517

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 3,450 487

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year 6,046 (1,016)

Total comprehensive income (loss) a� ributable to:
Owners of the Company 5,526 (324)
Non-controlling interests 520 (692)

6,046 (1,016)
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Group

Share
capital

Merger
defi cit

Translaঞ on
reserve

Revaluaঞ on
reserve

Capital 
reserve

Accumulated
losses

A� ributable 
to owners 

of the
Company

Non-
controlling
interests Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
(Note 19) (Note 20) (Note 21) (Note 22) (Note 23)

Balance as at October 1, 2015 34,366 (3,454) (7,451) 6,496 (26) (4,981) 24,950 9,367 34,317

Total comprehensive loss for 
 the year

Loss for the year – – – – – (826) (826) (677) (1,503)
Other comprehensive income 
 for the year – – 517 (15) – – 502 (15) 487

Total – – 517 (15) – (826) (324) (692) (1,016)

Balance as at September 30, 2016 34,366 (3,454) (6,934) 6,481 (26) (5,807) 24,626 8,675 33,301

Total comprehensive income for 
 the year

Profi t for the year – – – – – 2,076 2,076 520 2,596
Other comprehensive income 
 for the year – – (487) 3,937 – – 3,450 – 3,450

Total – – (487) 3,937 – 2,076 5,526 520 6,046

Transacঞ ons with owners,
 recognised directly in equity

Transfer to retained earnings (a) – – – (2,352) – 2,352 – – –
Eff ect of acquiring remaining
 non-controlling interest in 
 a subsidiary (Note 11) 5,889 – – – 2,631 – 8,520 (9,195) (675)

Total 5,889 – (487) 1,585 2,631 4,428 14,046 (8,675) 5,371

Balance as at September 30, 2017 40,255 (3,454) (7,421) 8,066 2,605 (1,379) 38,672 – 38,672

(a) This pertains to the transfer of the revaluaঞ on surplus and relevant tax eff ect upon disposal of a property.
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Company Share capital
Accumulated

losses Total
$’000 $’000 $’000

(Note 19)

Balance as at October 1, 2015 34,366 (12,576) 21,790

Profi t for the year, represenঞ ng total comprehensive
 income for the year – 582 582

Balance as at September 30, 2016 34,366 (11,994) 22,372

Loss for the year, represenঞ ng total comprehensive
 loss for the year – (921) (921)

Issue of share capital, represenঞ ng transacঞ ons 
 with owners, recognised directly in equity 5,889 – 5,889

Balance as at September 30, 2017 40,255 (12,915) 27,340
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Group
Note 2017 2016

$’000 $’000

Operaঞ ng acঞ viঞ es
Profi t (Loss) before income tax 3,514 (1,038)
Adjustments for:

Allowance for inventories 64 1
Bad debts wri� en off  on other receivables 1 54
Allowance for doub� ul debts 4 –
Interest income (44) (23)
Interest expense 1,517 1,111
Depreciaঞ on of property, plant and equipment 9 1,955 1,617
Recovery of other receivables previously wri� en off – (287)
Net foreign exchange gain 88 67
(Gain) Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (7) 4
Property, plant and equipment wri� en off 14 1
Post-employment benefi ts 30 34
Increase in fair value of insurance assets (66) (192)
Deposit forfeited – 7

Operaঞ ng cash fl ows before movements in working capital 7,070 1,356

Trade and other receivables (8,425) (2,924)
Inventories (891) (1,852)
Trade and other payables 3,070 645
Trade bills and banker acceptances 6,987 4,124

Cash generated from operaঞ ons 7,811 1,349

Income taxes paid (879) (797)
Income taxes refund 83 –

Net cash from operaঞ ng acঞ viঞ es 7,015 552

Invesঞ ng acঞ viঞ es
Interest received 29 23
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 15 10
Purchase of plant and equipment (8,484) (430)
Purchase of insurance assets – (1,496)

Net cash used in invesঞ ng acঞ viঞ es (8,440) (1,893)
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Group
Note 2017 2016

$’000 $’000

Financing acঞ viঞ es
 Interest paid (1,517) (1,111)
Repayments of borrowings (1,683) (1,976)
Repayments of fi nance lease liabiliঞ es (216) (129)
(Increase) Decrease in pledged deposits with fi nancial insঞ tuঞ ons (1,675) 907
New bank loans raised 6,575 1,339
Issuance of converঞ ble notes – 1,900

Net cash from fi nancing acঞ viঞ es 1,484 930

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 59 (411)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 1,706 2,140
Eff ect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash
 held in foreign currencies 33 (23)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 6 1,798 1,706

Note

During the fi nancial year, the Group acquired plant and equipment with an aggregate cost of $9,259,000 (2016: $516,000) of which 
$775,000 (2016: $86,000) was acquired under fi nance lease arrangement.

During the fi nancial year, the Group disposed of a property for $3,050,000 which is included in other receivables as at September 30, 
2017.
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1 GENERAL

 The Company (Registraঞ on No. 200105909M) is incorporated in Singapore with its principal place of 
business and registered offi  ce at 3 Jalan Pesawat, Singapore 619361.  The Company is listed on the 
Singapore Exchange Securiঞ es Trading Limited.  The fi nancial statements are expressed in Singapore 
dollars.

 The principal acঞ vity of the Company is that of investment holding.

 The principal acঞ viঞ es of the subsidiaries and joint venture are disclosed in Notes 11 and 12 to the 
fi nancial statements, respecঞ vely.

 The consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group and the statement of fi nancial posiঞ on and 
statement of changes in equity of the Company for the year ended September 30, 2017 were 
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on December 28, 2017.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 BASIS OF ACCOUNTING - The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
the historical cost basis, except as disclosed in the accounঞ ng policies below, and are drawn up in 
accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act and Financial Reporঞ ng Standards in 
Singapore (“FRSs”).

 Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideraঞ on given in exchange for goods and 
services.

 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transacঞ on between market parঞ cipants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price 
is directly observable or esঞ mated using another valuaঞ on technique. In esঞ maঞ ng the fair value of 
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characterisঞ cs of the asset or liability which 
market parঞ cipants would take into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement 
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated fi nancial statements 
is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transacঞ ons that are within the scope 
of FRS 102 Share-based Payment, leasing transacঞ ons that are within the scope of FRS 17 Leases, and 
measurements that have some similariঞ es to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable 
value in FRS 2 Inventories or value in use in FRS 36 Impairment of Assets.

 In addiঞ on, for fi nancial reporঞ ng purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 
or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the 
signifi cance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its enঞ rety, which are described as follows:

  Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in acঞ ve markets for idenঞ cal assets or liabiliঞ es 
that the enঞ ty can access at the measurement date;

  Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable 
for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

  Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS - On October 1, 2016, the Group adopted all the 
new and revised FRSs and Interpretaঞ ons of FRS (“INT FRS”) that are eff ecঞ ve from that date and are 
relevant to its operaঞ ons.  The adopঞ on of these new/revised FRSs and INT FRSs does not result in 
changes to the Group’s and Company’s accounঞ ng policies and has no material eff ect on the amounts 
reported for the current or prior years.

 At the date of authorisaঞ on of these fi nancial statements, the following FRSs, and amendments to FRS 
that are relevant to the Company were issued but not eff ecঞ ve:

  FRS 109 Financial Instruments 1

  FRS 115 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (with clarifi ca  ons issued) 1

  FRS 116 Leases 2

 1 Applies to annual periods beginning on or a[ er January 1, 2018, with early applicaঞ on permi� ed.
 2 Applies to annual periods beginning on or a[ er January 1, 2019, with early applicaঞ on permi� ed if FRS 115 is adopted.

 Consequenঞ al amendments were also made to various standards as a result of these new/revised 
standards.

 Management anঞ cipates that the adopঞ on of the above FRSs and amendments to FRS in future 
periods will not have a material impact on the fi nancial statements of the Group and of the Company 
in the period of their iniঞ al adopঞ on except for the following:

 FRS 109 Financial Instruments

 FRS 109 was issued in December 2014 to replace FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recogni  on and 
Measurement and introduced new requirements for (i) the classifi caঞ on and measurement of fi nancial 
assets and fi nancial liabiliঞ es (ii) general hedge accounঞ ng (iii) impairment requirements for fi nancial 
assets.

 Key requirements of FRS 109 include:

  All recognised fi nancial assets that are within the scope of FRS 39 are now required to 
be subsequently measured at amorঞ sed cost or fair value through profi t or loss (FVTPL). 
Specifi cally, debt investments that are held within a business model whose objecঞ ve is to collect 
the contractual cash fl ows, and that have contractual cash fl ows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal outstanding are generally measured at amorঞ sed cost at 
the end of subsequent accounঞ ng periods. Debt instruments that are held within a business 
model whose objecঞ ve is achieved both by collecঞ ng contractual cash fl ows and selling fi nancial 
assets, and that have contractual terms that give rise on specifi ed dates to cash fl ows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, are measured at 
fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI). All other debt investments and equity 
investments are measured at FVTPL at the end of subsequent accounঞ ng periods. In addiঞ on, 
under FRS 109, enঞ ঞ es may make an irrevocable elecঞ on, at iniঞ al recogniঞ on, to measure an 
equity investment (that is not held for trading) at FVTOCI, with only dividend income generally 
recognised in profi t or loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

  With some excepঞ ons, fi nancial liabiliঞ es are generally subsequently measured at amorঞ sed 
cost. With regard to the measurement of fi nancial liabiliঞ es designated as at FVTPL, FRS 109 
requires that the amount of change in fair value of the fi nancial liability that is a� ributable to 
changes in the credit risk of that liability is presented in other comprehensive income, unless 
the recogniঞ on of the eff ects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive 
income would create or enlarge an accounঞ ng mismatch to profi t or loss. Changes in fair value 
a� ributable to a fi nancial liability’s credit risk are not subsequently reclassifi ed to profi t or 
loss. Under FRS 39, the enঞ re amount of the change in the fair value of the fi nancial liability 
designated as at FVTPL is presented in profi t or loss.

  In relaঞ on to the impairment of fi nancial assets, FRS 109 requires an expected credit loss model, 
as opposed to an incurred credit loss model under FRS 39. The expected credit loss model 
requires an enঞ ty to account for expected credit losses and changes in those expected credit 
losses at each reporঞ ng date to refl ect changes in credit risk since iniঞ al recogniঞ on. In other 
words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are 
recognised.

  The new general hedge accounঞ ng requirements retain the three types of hedge accounঞ ng 
mechanisms currently available in FRS 39. Under FRS 109, greater flexibility has been 
introduced to the types of transacঞ ons eligible for hedge accounঞ ng, specifi cally broadening 
the types of instruments that qualify for hedging instruments and the types of risk components 
of non-fi nancial items that are eligible for hedge accounঞ ng. In addiঞ on, the eff ecঞ veness test 
has been overhauled and replaced with the principle of an ‘economic relaঞ onship’. Retrospecঞ ve 
assessment of hedge eff ecঞ veness is also no longer required. Enhanced disclosure requirements 
about an enঞ ty’s risk management acঞ viঞ es have also been introduced.

 Management anঞ cipates that the iniঞ al applicaঞ on of the new FRS 109 may result in changes to the 
accounঞ ng policies relaঞ ng to the impairment of fi nancial assets. Addiঞ onal disclosures will also be 
made.

 It is currently impracঞ cable to disclose any further informaঞ on on the known or reasonably esঞ mable 
impact to the Group’s fi nancial statements in the period of iniঞ al applicaঞ on as management has yet to 
complete its detailed assessment. Management does not plan to early adopt the above new FRSs.

 FRS 115 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

 In November 2014, FRS 115 was issued which establishes a single comprehensive model for enঞ ঞ es 
to use in accounঞ ng for revenue arising from contracts with customers. FRS 115 will supersede the 
current revenue recogniঞ on guidance including FRS 18 Revenue, FRS 11 Construc  on Contracts and the 
related Interpretaঞ ons when it becomes eff ecঞ ve. Further clarifi ca ঞons to FRS 115 were also issued in 
June 2016.

 The core principle of FRS 115 is that an enঞ ty should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of 
promised goods or services to customers in an amount that refl ects the consideraঞ on to which 
the enঞ ty expects to be enঞ tled in exchange for those goods or services. Specifi cally, the Standard 
introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recogniঞ on:

  Step 1: Idenঞ fy the contract(s) with a customer.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

  Step 2: Idenঞ fy the performance obligaঞ ons in the contract.

  Step 3: Determine the transacঞ on price.

  Step 4: Allocate the transacঞ on price to the performance obligaঞ ons in the contract.

  Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the enঞ ty saঞ sfi es a performance obligaঞ on.

 Under FRS 115, an enঞ ty recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligaঞ on is saঞ sfi ed, i.e. 
when “control” of the goods or services underlying the parঞ cular performance obligaঞ on is transferred 
to the customer. Far more prescripঞ ve guidance has been added in FRS 115 to deal with specifi c 
scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by FRS 115.

 Applicaঞ on of this guidance will depend on the facts and circumstances present in a contract with 
a customer and will require the exercise of judgment. Applicaঞ on of the standard is mandatory for 
annual reporঞ ng periods starঞ ng from January 1, 2018 onwards. Earlier applicaঞ on is permi� ed. 

 Management anঞ cipates that the iniঞ al applicaঞ on of the new FRS 115 will result in changes to the 
accounঞ ng policies relaঞ ng to revenue recogniঞ on. Addiঞ onal disclosures will also be made with 
respect of trade receivables and revenue, including any signifi cant judgement and esঞ maঞ on made. 

 The Group is currently in the process of assessing the full impact of the applicaঞ on of FRS 115 on the 
Group’s fi nancial statements and it is not pracঞ cal to provide a reasonable fi nancial esঞ mate or the 
impact of the eff ect unঞ l management completes the detailed review.

 FRS 116 Leases

 FRS 116 was issued in June 2016 and will supersede FRS 17 Leases and its associated interpretaঞ ve 
guidance.

 The Standard provides a comprehensive model for the idenঞ fi caঞ on of lease arrangements and 
their treatment in the fi nancial statements of both lessees and lessors. The idenঞ fi caঞ on of leases, 
disঞ nguishing between leases and service contracts, are determined on the basis of whether there is 
an idenঞ fi ed asset controlled by the customer.

 Signifi cant changes to lessee accounঞ ng are introduced, with the disঞ ncঞ on between operaঞ ng and 
fi nance leases removed and assets and liabiliঞ es recognised in respect of all leases (subject to limited 
excepঞ ons for short-term leases and leases of low value assets). The Standard maintains substanঞ ally 
the lessor accounঞ ng approach under the predecessor FRS 17.

 The Group anঞ cipates that the iniঞ al applicaঞ on of the new FRS 116 will result in operaঞ ng leases 
to be recognised as right-of-use assets with corresponding lease liabiliঞ es, unless they qualify for low 
value or short-term leases. The new requirement to recognise a right-of-use asset and a related lease 
liability is expected to have a signifi cant impact to the amounts recognised in the Group’s fi nancial 
statements and management is currently assessing its potenঞ al impact. It is not pracঞ cal to provide 
a reasonably esঞ mate impact to the Group’s fi nancial statements unঞ l management completes its 
detailed assessment. 
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION - The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial 
statements of the Company and enঞ ঞ es (including structured enঞ ঞ es) controlled by the Company and 
its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

  Has power over the investee;

  Is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 

  Has the ability to use its power to aff ect its returns.

 The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that 
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

 When the Company has less than a majority of the voঞ ng rights of an investee, it has power over 
the investee when the voঞ ng rights are suffi  cient to give it the pracঞ cal ability to direct the relevant 
acঞ viঞ es of the investee unilaterally. The Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in 
assessing whether or not the Company’s voঞ ng rights in an investee are suffi  cient to give it power, 
including:

  The size of the Company’s holding of voঞ ng rights relaঞ ve to the size and dispersion of holdings 
of the other vote holders;

  Potenঞ al voঞ ng rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parঞ es; 

  Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and 

  Any addiঞ onal facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, 
the current ability to direct the relevant acঞ viঞ es at the ঞ me that decisions need to be made, 
including voঞ ng pa� erns at previous shareholders’ meeঞ ngs.

 Consolidaঞ on of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases 
when the Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifi cally, income and expenses of a subsidiary 
acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profi t or loss 
and other comprehensive income from the date the Company gains control unঞ l the date when the 
Company ceases to control the subsidiary.

 Profi t or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are a� ributed to the owners of the 
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is a� ributed 
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a defi cit balance.

 When necessary, adjustments are made to the fi nancial statements of subsidiaries to bring their 
accounঞ ng policies in line with the Group’s accounঞ ng policies.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

 Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in exisঞ ng subsidiaries

 Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing 
control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transacঞ ons. The carrying amounts of the 
Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to refl ect the changes in their relaঞ ve 
interests in the subsidiaries. Any diff erence between the amount by which the non-controlling interests 
are adjusted and the fair value of the consideraঞ on paid or received is recognised directly in equity and 
a� ributed to owners of the Company.

 In the Company’s separate fi nancial statements, investments in subsidiaries and joint venture are 
carried at cost less any impairment in net recoverable value that has been recognised in profi t or loss.

 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS - Acquisiঞ on of subsidiaries are accounted for using the acquisiঞ on 
method.  The consideraঞ on for each acquisiঞ on is measured at the aggregate of the acquisiঞ on date 
fair values of assets given, liabiliঞ es incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree, and 
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisiঞ on-related costs 
are recognised in profi t or loss as incurred.

 Where applicable, the consideraঞ on for the acquisiঞ on includes any asset or liability resulঞ ng from 
a conঞ ngent consideraঞ on arrangement, measured at its acquisiঞ on-date fair value.  Subsequent 
changes in such fair values are adjusted against the cost of acquisition where they qualify as 
measurement period adjustments (see below).  The subsequent accounঞ ng for changes in the fair value 
of the conঞ ngent consideraঞ on that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on 
how the conঞ ngent consideraঞ on is classifi ed.  Conঞ ngent consideraঞ on that is classifi ed as equity is 
not remeasured at subsequent reporঞ ng dates and its subsequent se� lement is accounted for within 
equity.  Conঞ ngent consideraঞ on that is classifi ed as an asset or a liability is remeasured at subsequent 
reporঞ ng dates at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised in profi t or loss.

 Where a business combinaঞ on is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held interests in the 
acquired enঞ ty are remeasured to fair value at the acquisiঞ on date (i.e. the date the Group a� ains 
control) and the resulঞ ng gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profi t or loss.  Amounts arising from 
interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisiঞ on date that have previously been recognised in other 
comprehensive income are reclassifi ed to profi t or loss, where such treatment would be appropriate if 
that interest were disposed of.

 The acquiree’s idenঞ fi able assets, liabiliঞ es and conঞ ngent liabiliঞ es that meet the condiঞ ons for 
recogniঞ on under the FRS are recognised at their fair value at the acquisiঞ on date, except that:

  Deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to employee benefit 
arrangements are recognised and measured in accordance with FRS 12 Income Taxes and FRS 19 
Employee Benefi ts respecঞ vely;

  Liabiliঞ es or equity instruments related to share-based payment transacঞ ons of the acquiree or 
the replacement of an acquiree’s share-based payment awards transacঞ ons with share-based 
payment awards transacঞ ons of the acquirer in accordance with the method in FRS 102 Share-
based Payment at the acquisiঞ on date; and

  Assets (or disposal groups) that are classifi ed as held for sale in accordance with FRS 105 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discon  nued Opera  ons are measured in accordance with that 
Standard.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

 Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a 
proporঞ onate share of the enঞ ty’s net assets in the event of liquidaঞ on may be iniঞ ally measured 
either at their fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proporঞ onate share of the recognised 
amounts of the acquiree’s idenঞ fi able net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a 
transacঞ on-by-transacঞ on basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value or, 
when applicable, on the basis specifi ed in another FRS.

 If the iniঞ al accounঞ ng for a business combinaঞ on is incomplete by the end of the reporঞ ng period 
in which the combinaঞ on occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the 
accounঞ ng is incomplete.  Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period 
(see below), or addiঞ onal assets or liabiliঞ es are recognised, to refl ect new informaঞ on obtained about 
facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisiঞ on date that, if known, would have aff ected the 
amounts recognised as of that date.

 The measurement period is the period from the date of acquisiঞ on to the date the Group obtains 
complete informaঞ on about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisiঞ on date and is 
subject to a maximum of one year from acquisiঞ on date.

 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Financial assets and fi nancial liabiliঞ es are recognised on the statement 
of fi nancial posiঞ on when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

 Eff ecঞ ve interest method

 The eff ecঞ ve interest method is a method of calculaঞ ng the amorঞ sed cost of a fi nancial instrument 
and of allocaঞ ng interest income or expense over the relevant period.  The eff ecঞ ve interest rate is 
the rate that exactly discounts esঞ mated future cash receipts or payments (including all fees on points 
paid or received that form an integral part of the eff ecঞ ve interest rate, transacঞ on costs and other 
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the fi nancial instrument, or where appropriate, a 
shorter period. Income and expense is recognised on an eff ecঞ ve interest basis for debt instruments 
other than those fi nancial instruments “at fair value through profi t or loss”.

 Financial assets

 All fi nancial assets are recognised and de-recognised on a trade date basis where the purchase 
or sale of an investment is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within 
the ঞ meframe established by the market concerned, and are iniঞ ally measured at fair value plus 
transacঞ on costs, except for those fi nancial assets classifi ed as at fair value through profi t or loss which 
are iniঞ ally measured at fair value.

 Financial assets comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and insurance assets.

 Insurance assets

 Certain insurance policies held by the Group are classifi ed as insurance assets and are stated at fair 
value. Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 4. Gains and losses arising from 
changes in fair value, impairment losses and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profi t 
or loss. The fair value of monetary assets denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that 
foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at end of the reporঞ ng period. The change in fair value 
a� ributable to translaঞ on diff erences that result from a change in amorঞ sed cost of the monetary 
asset is recognised in profi t or loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

 Loans and receivables

 Trade and other receivables that have fi xed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an acঞ ve 
market are classifi ed as “loans and receivables”.  Loans and receivables (including trade and other 
receivables and cash and cash equivalents) are measured at amorঞ sed cost using the eff ecঞ ve interest 
method less impairment.  Interest is recognised by applying the eff ecঞ ve interest method, except for 
short-term receivables when the eff ect of discounঞ ng is immaterial.

 Impairment of fi nancial assets

 Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profi t or loss, are assessed for indicators 
of impairment at the end of each reporঞ ng period.  Financial assets are considered to be impaired 
when there is objecঞ ve evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred a[ er the iniঞ al 
recogniঞ on of the fi nancial asset, the esঞ mated future cash fl ows of the asset have been impacted.

 For all other fi nancial assets, objecঞ ve evidence of impairment could include:

  signifi cant fi nancial diffi  culty of the issuer or counterparty; or

  default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

  it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or fi nancial re-organisaঞ on.

 For certain categories of fi nancial assets, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be 
impaired individually are, in addiঞ on, assessed for impairment on a collecঞ ve basis.  Objecঞ ve evidence 
of impairment for a por� olio of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of collecঞ ng 
payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the por� olio past the average credit 
period, as well as observable changes in naঞ onal or local economic condiঞ ons that correlate with 
default on receivables.

 For fi nancial assets carried at amorঞ sed cost, the amount of the impairment is the diff erence between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of esঞ mated future cash fl ows, discounted at the 
original eff ecঞ ve interest rate.

 The carrying amount of the fi nancial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all fi nancial 
assets with the excepঞ on of receivables where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of 
an allowance account.  When receivables are uncollecঞ ble, they are wri� en off  against the allowance 
account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously wri� en off  are credited against the profi t or 
loss. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profi t or loss.

 For fi nancial assets measured at amorঞ sed cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the 
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objecঞ vely to an event occurring a[ er the 
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profi t or 
loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the fi nancial asset at the date the impairment is reversed 
does not exceed what the amorঞ sed cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

 Derecogniঞ on of fi nancial assets

 The Group derecognises a fi nancial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash fl ows from the 
asset expire, or it transfers the fi nancial asset and substanঞ ally all the risks and rewards of ownership 
of the asset to another enঞ ty.  If the Group neither transfers nor retains substanঞ ally all the risks 
and rewards of ownership and conঞ nues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its 
retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay.  If the Group 
retains substanঞ ally all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred fi nancial asset, the Group 
conঞ nues to recognise the fi nancial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the 
proceeds received.

 Financial liabiliঞ es and equity instruments

 Classifi caঞ on as debt or equity

 Financial liabiliঞ es and equity instruments issued by the Group are classifi ed according to the 
substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the defi niঞ ons of a fi nancial liability and 
an equity instrument.

 Equity instruments

 An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group a[ er 
deducঞ ng all of its liabiliঞ es.  Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct 
issue costs.

 Financial liabiliঞ es

 Trade and other payables are iniঞ ally measured at fair value, net of transacঞ on costs, and are 
subsequently measured at amorঞ sed cost, using the eff ecঞ ve interest method, with interest expense 
recognised on an eff ecঞ ve yield basis.

 Interest-bearing bank overdra[ s and loans are iniঞ ally measured at fair value, and are subsequently 
measured at amorঞ sed cost, using the eff ecঞ ve interest method.  Interest expense calculated using 
the eff ecঞ ve interest method is recognised over the term of the borrowings in accordance with the 
Group’s accounঞ ng policy for borrowing costs (see below).

 Converঞ ble notes

 Converঞ ble notes are regarded as compound instruments, consisঞ ng of a liability component and an 
equity component. The component parts of compound instruments are classifi ed separately as fi nancial 
liabiliঞ es and equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. At the date of 
issue, the fair value of the liability component is esঞ mated using the prevailing market interest rate 
for a similar non-converঞ ble instrument. This amount is recorded as a liability on an amorঞ sed cost 
basis unঞ l exঞ nguished upon conversion or at the instrument’s maturity date. The equity component 
is determined by deducঞ ng the amount of the liability component from the fair value of the compound 
instrument as a whole. This is recognised and included in equity, net of income tax eff ects, and is not 
subsequently remeasured.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

 Derecogniঞ on of fi nancial liabiliঞ es

 The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or they expire.

 Derivaঞ ve fi nancial instruments

 The Group enters into foreign currency forward contracts and commodity forward contracts to manage 
its exposure to foreign exchange rate risk and commodity price risk.  Further details of derivaঞ ve 
fi nancial instruments are disclosed in Note 32 to the fi nancial statements.

 Derivaঞ ves are iniঞ ally recognised at fair value at the date a derivaঞ ve contract is entered into and are 
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporঞ ng period.  The resulঞ ng gain or 
loss is recognised in profi t or loss immediately.

 A derivaঞ ve is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity 
of the instrument is more than 12 months and it is not expected to be realised or se� led within 
12 months. Other derivaঞ ves are presented as current assets or current liabiliঞ es.

 OFFSETTING ARRANGEMENTS - Financial assets and fi nancial liabiliঞ es are off set and the net 
amount presented in the statement of fi nancial posiঞ on when the Company and the Group has a 
legally enforceable right to set off  the recognised amounts; and intends either to se� le on a net basis, 
or to realise the asset and se� le the liability simultaneously. A right to set-off  must be available today 
rather than being conঞ ngent on a future event and must be exercisable by any of the counterparঞ es, 
both in the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy.

 LEASES - Leases are classifi ed as fi nance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substanঞ ally 
all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classifi ed as operaঞ ng leases.

 The Group as lessor

 Rental income from operaঞ ng leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant 
lease unless another systemaঞ c basis is more representaঞ ve of the ঞ me pa� ern in which use benefi t 
derived from the leased asset is diminished. Iniঞ al direct costs incurred in negoঞ aঞ ng and arranging 
an operaঞ ng lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense 
over the lease term on the same basis as the lease income.

 The Group as lessee

 Assets held under fi nance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value at the 
inception of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The 
corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the statement of fi nancial posiঞ on as a fi nance 
lease obligaঞ on. Lease payments are apporঞ oned between fi nance charges and reducঞ on of the lease 
obligaঞ on so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance 
charges are charged directly to profi t or loss, unless they are directly a� ributable to qualifying assets, in 
which case they are capitalised in accordance with the Group’s general policy on borrowing costs (see 
below). Conঞ ngent rentals are recognised as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

 Rentals payable under operaঞ ng leases are charged to profi t or loss on a straight-line basis over the 
term of the relevant lease unless another systemaঞ c basis is more representaঞ ve of the ঞ me pa� ern 
in which economic benefi ts from the leased asset are consumed. Conঞ ngent rentals arising under 
operaঞ ng leases are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

 In the event that lease incenঞ ves are received to enter into operaঞ ng leases, such incenঞ ves are 
recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefi t of incenঞ ves is recognised as a reducঞ on of rental 
expense on a straight-line basis, except where another systemaঞ c basis is more representaঞ ve of the 
ঞ me pa� ern in which economic benefi ts from the leased asset are consumed.

 INVENTORIES - Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Cost comprises 
direct materials and, where applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads that have been incurred 
in bringing the inventories to their present locaঞ on and condiঞ on.  Cost is calculated using the fi rst-in 
fi rst-out method.  Net realisable value represents the esঞ mated selling price less all esঞ mated costs of 
compleঞ on and costs to be incurred in markeঞ ng, selling and distribuঞ on.

 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - Land and buildings held for use in the producঞ on or supply 
of goods or services, or for administraঞ ve purposes, are stated in the statement of fi nancial posiঞ on 
at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluaঞ on, less any subsequent 
accumulated depreciaঞ on and subsequent accumulated impairment losses. Revaluaঞ ons are performed 
with suffi  cient regularity such that the carrying amount does not diff er materially from that which 
would be determined using fair values at the end of the reporঞ ng period.

 Any revaluaঞ on increase arising on the revaluaঞ on of such land and buildings is recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in revaluaঞ on reserve, except to the extent that it reverses 
a revaluaঞ on decrease for the same asset previously recognised in profi t or loss, in which case the 
increase is credited to profi t or loss to the extent of the decrease previously charged. A decrease in 
carrying amount arising on the revaluaঞ on of such land and buildings is charged to profi t or loss to the 
extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, held in the property revaluaঞ on reserve relaঞ ng to a previous 
revaluaঞ on of that asset.

 Properঞ es in the course of construcঞ on for producঞ on, supply or administraঞ ve purposes, or for 
purposes not yet determined, are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes 
professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the 
Group’s accounঞ ng policy. Depreciaঞ on of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets, 
commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

 Plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciaঞ on and any accumulated impairment 
losses.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

 Depreciaঞ on is charged so as to write off  the cost or valuaঞ on of assets, other than land and 
properঞ es under construcঞ on, over their esঞ mated useful lives, using the straight-line method, on the 
following bases:

 Freehold buildings - 50 years
 Leasehold land and buildings - 10.5 to 50 years or over the lease period, whichever 

is shorter
 Plant and equipment  - 2 to 17 years
 Furniture, fi ম  ngs and offi  ce equipment - 2 to 12 years
 Renovaঞ on and installaঞ on - 5 to 10 years
 Motor vehicles - 5 to 10 years
 Computers - 2 to 6 years

 No depreciaঞ on is provided on freehold land.

 The esঞ mated useful lives, residual values and depreciaঞ on method are reviewed at each year end, 
with the eff ect of any changes in esঞ mate accounted for on a prospecঞ ve basis.

 Assets held under fi nance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as 
owned assets or, if there is no certainty that the lessee will obtain ownership by the end of the lease 
term, the asset shall be fully depreciated over the short of the lease term and its useful life.

 The gain or loss arising on disposal or reঞ rement of an item of property, plant and equipment 
is determined as the diff erence between the sales proceeds and the carrying amounts of the asset 
and is recognised in profi t or loss. On the subsequent sale or reঞ rement of a revalued property, the 
a� ributable revaluaঞ on surplus remaining in the properঞ es revaluaঞ on reserve is transferred directly to 
retained earnings. No transfer is made from the revaluaঞ on reserve to retained earnings except when 
an asset is derecognised.

 GOODWILL - Goodwill arising in a business combinaঞ on is recognised as an asset at the date that 
control is acquired (the acquisiঞ on date). Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the 
consideraঞ on transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value 
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest (if any) in the enঞ ty over net of the acquisiঞ on-date 
amounts of the idenঞ fi able assets acquired and the liabiliঞ es assumed.

 If, a[ er reassessment, the Group’s interest in the fair value of the acquiree’s idenঞ fi able net assets 
exceeds the sum of the consideraঞ on transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the 
excess is recognised immediately in profi t or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

 Goodwill is not amorঞ sed but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. For the purpose of 
impairment tesঞ ng, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generaঞ ng units expected to 
benefi t from the synergies of the combinaঞ on. Cash-generaঞ ng units to which goodwill has been 
allocated are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indicaঞ on that the 
unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generaঞ ng unit is less than its carrying 
amount, the impairment loss is allocated fi rst to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated 
to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of 
each asset in the unit. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent 
period.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

 On disposal of a subsidiary or the relevant cash generaঞ ng unit, the a� ributable amount of goodwill is 
included in the determinaঞ on of the profi t or loss on disposal.

 IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS EXCLUDING GOODWILL - At the end of each reporঞ ng period, the 
Group reviews the carrying amounts of its assets to determine whether there is any indicaঞ on that 
those assets have suff ered an impairment loss. If any such indicaঞ on exists, the recoverable amount 
of the asset is esঞ mated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it 
is not possible to esঞ mate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group esঞ mates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generaঞ ng unit to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and 
consistent basis of allocaঞ on can be idenঞ fi ed, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-
generaঞ ng units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generaঞ ng units for 
which a reasonable and consistent allocaঞ on basis can be idenঞ fi ed.

 Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in 
use, the esঞ mated future cash fl ows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 
that refl ects current market assessments of the ঞ me value of money and the risks specifi c to the asset 
for which the esঞ mates of future cash fl ows have not been adjusted.

 If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generaঞ ng unit) is esঞ mated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generaঞ ng unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. 
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profi t or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a 
revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluaঞ on decrease.

 Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generaঞ ng 
unit) is increased to the revised esঞ mate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment 
loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generaঞ ng unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss 
is recognised immediately in profi t or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in 
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluaঞ on increase.

 JOINT VENTURE - A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parঞ es that have joint control 
of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the 
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the 
relevant acঞ viঞ es require unanimous consent of the parঞ es sharing control.

 The results and assets and liabiliঞ es of joint ventures are incorporated in these consolidated fi nancial 
statements using the equity method of accounঞ ng, except when the investment, or a porঞ on thereof, 
is classifi ed as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance with FRS 105. Under the 
equity method, an investment in a joint venture is iniঞ ally recognised in the consolidated statement of 
fi nancial posiঞ on at cost and adjusted therea[ er to recognise the Group’s share of the profi t or loss 
and other comprehensive income of the joint venture. When the Group’s share of losses of a joint 
venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that, 
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the joint venture), the Group disconঞ nues 
recognising its share of further losses. Addiঞ onal losses are recognised only to the extent that the 
Group has incurred legal or construcঞ ve obligaঞ ons or made payments on behalf of the joint venture.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

 An investment in a joint venture is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the 
investee becomes a joint venture. On acquisiঞ on of the investment in a joint venture, any excess of 
the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the idenঞ fi able assets and 
liabiliঞ es of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the 
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the idenঞ fi able assets and liabiliঞ es 
over the cost of the investment, a[ er reassessment, is recognised immediately in profi t or loss in the 
period in which the investment is acquired.

 The requirements of FRS 39 are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any 
impairment loss with respect to the Group’s investment in joint venture. When necessary, the enঞ re 
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with 
FRS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in 
use and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying amount, any impairment loss recognised forms 
part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in 
accordance with FRS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently 
increases.

 The Group disconঞ nues the use of the equity method from the date when the investment ceases to 
be a joint venture, or when the investment is classifi ed as held for sale. When the Group retains an 
interest in the former joint venture and the retained interest is a fi nancial asset, the Group measures 
the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on iniঞ al 
recogniঞ on in accordance with FRS 39. The diff erence between the carrying amount of the joint 
venture at the date the equity method was disconঞ nued, and the fair value of any retained interest 
and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest in the joint venture is included in the determinaঞ on 
of the gain or loss on disposal of the joint venture. In addiঞ on, the Group accounts for all amounts 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relaঞ on to that joint venture on the same 
basis as would be required if that joint venture had directly disposed of the related assets or liabiliঞ es.

 Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that joint venture 
would be reclassifi ed to profi t or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabiliঞ es, the Group 
reclassifi es the gain or loss from equity to profi t or loss (as a reclassifi caঞ on adjustment) when the 
equity method is disconঞ nued.

 When a Group enঞ ty transacts with a joint venture of the Group, profi ts and losses resulঞ ng from the 
transacঞ ons with the joint venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated fi nancial statements only 
to the extent of interests in the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group.

 PROVISIONS - Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or 
construcঞ ve) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to se� le the 
obligaঞ on, and a reliable esঞ mate can be made of the amount of the obligaঞ on.

 The amount recognised as a provision is the best esঞ mate of the consideraঞ on required to se� le the 
present obligaঞ on at the end of the reporঞ ng period, taking into account the risks and uncertainঞ es 
surrounding the obligaঞ on.  Where a provision is measured using the cash fl ows esঞ mated to se� le 
the present obligaঞ on, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash fl ows.

 When some or all of the economic benefi ts required to se� le a provision are expected to be recovered 
from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement 
will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

 REVENUE RECOGNITION - Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideraঞ on received or 
receivable.  Revenue is reduced for esঞ mated customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

 Sale of goods

 Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following condiঞ ons are saঞ sfi ed:

  The Group has transferred to the buyer the signifi cant risks and rewards of ownership of the 
goods;

  The Group retains neither conঞ nuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated 
with ownership nor eff ecঞ ve control over the goods sold;

  The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

  It is probable that the economic benefi ts associated with the transacঞ on will fl ow to the enঞ ty; 
and

  The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transacঞ on can be measured reliably.

 Revenue from electro-deposiঞ on coaঞ ng and other support services

 Revenue from electro-deposiঞ on coaঞ ng and other support services is recognised when such services 
are rendered.  No revenue is recognised if there are signifi cant uncertainঞ es regarding recovery of the 
consideraঞ on due.

 Interest income

 Interest income is accrued on a ঞ me basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the 
eff ecঞ ve interest rate applicable.

 Rental income

 The Group’s policy for recogniঞ on of revenue from operaঞ ng leases is described above.

 BORROWING COSTS - Borrowing costs directly a� ributable to the acquisiঞ on, construcঞ on, or 
producঞ on of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substanঞ al period of ঞ me 
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, unঞ l such ঞ me as 
the assets are substanঞ ally ready for their intended use or sale.  Investment income earned on the 
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is 
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisaঞ on.

 All other borrowing costs are recognised in profi t or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

 RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS - Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans 
are charged as an expense when employees have rendered the services enঞ tling them to the 
contribuঞ ons. Payments made to state-managed reঞ rement benefi t schemes, such as the Singapore 
Central Provident Fund, are dealt with as payments to defi ned contribuঞ on plans where the Group’s 
obligaঞ ons under the plans are equivalent to those arising in a defi ned contribuঞ on reঞ rement benefi t 
plan.

 EMPLOYEE LEAVE ENTITLEMENT - Employees enঞ tlements to annual leave are recognised when 
they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the esঞ mated liability for annual leave as a result of 
services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporঞ ng period.

 INCOME TAX - Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

 The tax currently payable is based on taxable profi t for the year.  Taxable profi t diff ers from profi t as 
reported in the statement of profi t or loss and other comprehensive income because it excludes items 
of income or expense that are taxable or deducঞ ble in other years and it further excludes items that 
are not taxable or tax deducঞ ble.  The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates (and 
tax laws) that have been enacted or substanঞ vely enacted in countries where the Company and its 
subsidiaries operate by the end of the reporঞ ng period.

 Deferred tax is recognised on diff erences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabiliঞ es in 
the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable 
profi t.  Deferred tax liabiliঞ es are generally recognised for all taxable temporary diff erences and 
deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profi ts will be available 
against which deducঞ ble temporary diff erences can be uঞ lised.  Such assets and liabiliঞ es are not 
recognised if the temporary diff erence arises from goodwill or from the iniঞ al recogniঞ on (other than 
in a business combinaঞ on) of other assets and liabiliঞ es in a transacঞ on that aff ects neither the taxable 
profi t nor the accounঞ ng profi t.

 Deferred tax liabiliঞ es are recognised for taxable temporary diff erences arising on investments in 
subsidiaries and joint venture, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary 
diff erence and it is probable that the temporary diff erence will not reverse in the foreseeable future.  
Deferred tax assets arising from deducঞ ble temporary diff erences associated with such investments 
and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be suffi  cient taxable 
profi ts against which to uঞ lise the benefi ts of the temporary diff erences and they are expected to 
reverse in the foreseeable future.

 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporঞ ng period and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that suffi  cient taxable profi ts will be available to 
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

 Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability 
is se� led or the asset realised based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substanঞ vely enacted by the end of the reporঞ ng period.  The measurement of deferred tax liabiliঞ es 
and assets refl ects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group 
expects, at the end of the reporঞ ng period, to recover or se� le the carrying amount of its assets and 
liabiliঞ es.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

 Deferred tax assets and liabiliঞ es are off set when there is a legally enforceable right to set off  current 
tax assets against current tax liabiliঞ es and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same 
taxaঞ on authority and the Group intends to se� le its current tax assets and liabiliঞ es on a net basis.

 Current and deferred tax are recognised as an expense or income in profi t or loss, except when 
they relate to items credited or debited outside profi t or loss (either in other comprehensive income 
or directly in equity), in which case the tax is also recognised directly outside profi t or loss (either in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respecঞ vely), or where they arise from the iniঞ al 
accounঞ ng for a business combinaঞ on.  In the case of a business combinaঞ on, the tax eff ect is taken 
into account in calculaঞ ng goodwill or determining the excess of the acquirer’s interest in the net fair 
value of the acquiree’s idenঞ fi able assets, liabiliঞ es and conঞ ngent liabiliঞ es over cost.

 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS AND TRANSLATION - The individual fi nancial statements of 
each Group enঞ ty are measured and presented in the currency of the primary economic environment 
in which the enঞ ty operates (its funcঞ onal currency).  The consolidated fi nancial statements of the 
Group, the statement of fi nancial posiঞ on and the statement of changes in equity of the Company are 
presented in Singapore dollars, which is the funcঞ onal currency of the Company and the presentaঞ on 
currency for the consolidated fi nancial statements.

 In preparing the fi nancial statements of the individual enঞ ঞ es, transacঞ ons in currencies other 
than the enঞ ty’s funcঞ onal currency are recorded at the rate of exchange prevailing on the date 
of the transacঞ on.  At the end of each reporঞ ng period, monetary items denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the end of the reporঞ ng period.  Non-monetary 
items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates 
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined.  Non-monetary items that are measured in 
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

 Exchange diff erences arising on the se� lement of monetary items, and on retranslaঞ on of monetary 
items are included in profi t or loss for the period.  Exchange diff erences arising on the retranslaঞ on 
of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in profi t or loss for the period except for 
diff erences arising on the retranslaঞ on of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are 
recognised in other comprehensive income.  For such non-monetary items, any exchange component 
of that gain or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income.

 For the purpose of presenঞ ng consolidated fi nancial statements, the assets and liabiliঞ es of the 
Group’s foreign operaঞ ons (including comparaঞ ves) are expressed in Singapore dollars using exchange 
rates prevailing at the end of the reporঞ ng period.  Income and expense items (including comparaঞ ves) 
are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuated 
signifi cantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transacঞ ons 
are used.  Exchange diff erences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in a separate component of equity under the header of foreign currency translaঞ on 
reserve.

 On the disposal of a foreign operaঞ on (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s enঞ re interest in a foreign 
operaঞ on, or a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operaঞ on), 
all of the accumulated exchange diff erences in respect of that operaঞ on a� ributable to the Group are 
reclassifi ed to profi t or loss.  Any exchange diff erences that have previously been a� ributed to non-
controlling interests are derecognised, but they are not reclassifi ed to profi t or loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

 In the case of a parঞ al disposal (i.e. no loss of control) of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operaঞ on, 
the proporঞ onate share of accumulated exchange diff erences are re-a� ributed to non-controlling 
interests and are not recognised in profi t or loss.

 On consolidaঞ on, exchange diff erences arising from the translaঞ on of the net investment in foreign 
enঞ ঞ es (including monetary items that, in substance, form part of the net investment in foreign 
enঞ ঞ es) are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate component of 
equity under the header of foreign currency translaঞ on reserve.

 Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisiঞ on of a foreign operaঞ on are treated as 
assets and liabiliঞ es of the foreign operaঞ on and translated at the closing rate.

 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS IN THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS - Cash and cash equivalents 
in the statement of cash fl ows comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, bank overdra[ s, and 
other short-term highly liquid investments that are readily converঞ ble to a known amount of cash and 
are subject to an insignifi cant risk of changes in value.

3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

 In the applicaঞ on of the Group’s accounঞ ng policies, which are described in Note 2, management is 
required to make judgements, esঞ mates and assumpঞ ons about the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabiliঞ es that are not readily apparent from other sources.  The esঞ mates and associated assumpঞ ons 
are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.  Actual results 
may diff er from these esঞ mates.

 The esঞ mates and underlying assumpঞ ons are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounঞ ng 
esঞ mates are recognised in the period in which the esঞ mate is revised if the revision aff ects only that 
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision aff ects both current and future 
periods.

 (i) Criࢼ cal judgements in applying the Group’s accounࢼ ng policies

  The following are the criঞ cal judgements, apart from those involving esঞ maঞ ons (see below), 
that management has made in the process of applying the Group’s accounঞ ng policies and that 
have the most signifi cant eff ect on the amounts recognised in the fi nancial statements.

  Classifi caঞ on of joint venture

  PNE Teknicast Sdn Bhd is a private limited company whose legal form confers separaঞ on 
between the parঞ es to the joint arrangement and the company itself. Furthermore, there is 
no contractual arrangement or any other facts and circumstances that indicate that the parঞ es 
to the joint arrangement have rights to the assets and obligaঞ ons for the liabiliঞ es of the joint 
arrangement.

  The investee is accounted for as a joint venture despite the Company’s 60% equity interest as 
the strategic operaঞ ng and fi nancial decisions require unanimous consent by the Company and 
the other shareholder. The day-to-day operaঞ on is independently managed by the management 
of the investee, which is appointed by the joint venture’s board of Directors.
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3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 
(cont’d)

 (i) Criࢼ cal judgements in applying the Group’s accounࢼ ng policies (cont’d)

  Classifi caঞ on of joint venture (cont’d)

  Accordingly, PNE Teknicast Sdn Bhd is classifi ed as a joint venture of the Group. See Note 12 for 
details.

  Control over SMC Industrial Pte Ltd

  Note 11 describes that in 2016, SMC Industrial Pte Ltd (“SMC”) is a subsidiary of the Group 
although the Group only owned 50% ownership interest in SMC. Based on the contractual 
arrangements between the Group and the other investor, the Group has the power to appoint 
and remove the majority of the board of Directors of SMC who have the power to direct the 
relevant acঞ viঞ es of SMC. All Directors of SMC, including one director who owns the 50% non-
controlling interest in SMC, are also members of the Company’s Board of Directors. Therefore, 
the Directors of the Company concluded that the Group has the pracঞ cal ability to direct the 
relevant acঞ viঞ es of SMC unilaterally and accordingly the Group has control over SMC.

  In 2017, the Group acquired the remaining 50% equity interest in SMC, which became a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group.

 (ii) Key sources of esࢼ maࢼ on uncertainty

  The key assumpঞ ons concerning the future, and other key sources of esঞ maঞ on uncertainty at 
the end of the reporঞ ng period, that have a signifi cant risk of causing a material adjustment to 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabiliঞ es within the next fi nancial year, are discussed below.

  Impairment of goodwill

  The Group tests goodwill for impairment annually or more frequently if there are indicators that 
the goodwill might be impaired. The goodwill relates exclusively to one cash-generaঞ ng unit 
(“CGU”). Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an esঞ maঞ on of the value in use of 
the CGU to which goodwill has been allocated. The value-in-use calculaঞ on requires the enঞ ty 
to esঞ mate the future cash fl ows expected to arise from the cash-generaঞ ng unit and a suitable 
discount rate in order to calculate present value. The carrying amount of goodwill at the end of 
the reporঞ ng period was $338,000 (2016: $338,000). Details of the goodwill are provided in 
Note 10 to the fi nancial statements.

  Allowance for doub� ul trade and other receivables

  The Group makes allowance for doub� ul debts based on an assessment of the recoverability 
of receivables where events or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may not be 
collecঞ ble. The idenঞ fi caঞ on of doub� ul debts required the use of judgement and esঞ mates. 
Where the expectaঞ on is diff erent from the original esঞ mate, such diff erence will impact 
the carrying amount of receivables and doub� ul debts expenses in the period in which such 
esঞ mate has been changed. Management has assessed the allowance for doub� ul receivables in 
respect of outside parঞ es as at September 30, 2017 to be $1,381,000 (2016: $1,437,000). The 
carrying amount of trade and other receivables is disclosed in Note 7 to the fi nancial statements.
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3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 
(cont’d)

 (ii) Key sources of esࢼ maࢼ on uncertainty (cont’d)

  Allowance for inventories

  At the end of each reporঞ ng period, the Group reviews the carrying amount of its inventories 
to ensure that they are stated at lower of cost or net realisable value. In assessing the net 
realisable value and making appropriate allowance, management idenঞ fi es inventories that are 
slow-moving, considers their physical condiঞ on, the market condiঞ on and prices for similar 
items. Management has assessed the allowance for inventories as at September 30, 2017 to be 
$200,000 (2016: $134,000). The carrying amount of inventories is disclosed in Note 8 to the 
fi nancial statements.

  Impairment in value of investment in subsidiaries (Note 11)

  Determining whether investment in subsidiaries is impaired involves the consideraঞ on of the 
performance of the subsidiaries and the market condiঞ ons in which the subsidiaries operate in.  
At the end of the reporঞ ng period, management of the Company has performed an impairment 
assessment of its investment in its subsidiaries.  As at September 30, 2017, the allowance for 
impairment loss is $10,450,000 (2016: $10,450,000).

  Depreciaঞ on of property, plant and equipment

  The Group depreciates its property, plant and equipment over their esঞ mated useful lives, a[ er 
taking into account their esঞ mated residual value using the straight-line method.  The esঞ mated 
useful life refl ects management’s esঞ mate of the periods that the Group intends to derive future 
economic benefi ts from the use of the Group’s property, plant and equipment.  The residual 
values refl ect management’s esঞ mated amount that the Group would currently obtain from 
disposal of the asset, a[ er deducঞ ng the esঞ mated costs of disposal, if the assets were already 
of the age and in the condiঞ on expected at the end of its useful life.  As at September 30, 2017, 
the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment is $27,289,000 (2016: $19,081,000) as 
disclosed in Note 9 to the fi nancial statements.

  Fair value measurements and valuaঞ on processes

  Some of the Group’s assets and liabiliঞ es are measured at fair value for fi nancial reporঞ ng 
purposes.

  In esঞ maঞ ng the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market-observable data to 
the extent it is available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third party 
qualifi ed valuers to perform the valuaঞ on. Management works closely with the qualifi ed external 
valuers to establish the appropriate valuaঞ on techniques and inputs to the model.

  Informaঞ on about the valuaঞ on techniques and inputs used in determining the fair value of 
various assets and liabiliঞ es are disclosed in Notes 4, 9 and 13.
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3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 
(cont’d)

 (ii) Key sources of esࢼ maࢼ on uncertainty (cont’d)

  Impairment of property, plant and equipment (Note 9)

  At the end of each reporঞ ng period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, 
plant and equipment to determine whether there is any indicaঞ on that those assets have 
suff ered an impairment loss. If any such indicaঞ on exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is 
esঞ mated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

  Converঞ ble notes (Note 18)

  Converঞ ble notes are regarded as compound instruments, consisঞ ng of a liability component 
and an equity component. The components of compound instruments are classifi ed separately 
as financial liabilities and equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual 
arrangement. 

  At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component is esঞ mated using the prevailing 
market interest rate for a similar non-converঞ ble instrument. Management has determined the 
value of the equity component of the converঞ ble notes to be insignifi cant.

4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

 (a) Categories of fi nancial instruments

  The following table sets out the fi nancial instruments as at the end of the reporঞ ng period:

Group Company
2017 2016 2017 2016
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial assets
Loans and receivables (including 
 cash and cash equivalents) 62,029 50,006 2,393 2,869
Insurance assets 3,359 3,316 – –

65,388 53,322 2,393 2,869

Financial liabiliঞ es
Amorঞ sed cost 59,689 43,910 6,617 6,371

 (b) Financial instruments subject to off se࣌  ng, enforceable master ne࣌  ng arrangements and similar 
agreements

  The Group does not have any fi nancial instruments which are subject to enforceable master 
neম  ng arrangements or similar neম  ng agreements.
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

 (c) Financial risk management policies and objecࢼ ves

  The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the 
Group’s risk management framework.

  The Group has a system of controls in place to create an acceptable balance between the cost 
of risks occurring and the cost of managing the risks.  Management conঞ nually monitors the 
Group’s risk management process to ensure that an appropriate balance between risk and 
control is achieved.  Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to refl ect 
changes in market condiঞ ons and the Group acঞ viঞ es.

  The Group is exposed to a variety of fi nancial risks, comprising market risk (including foreign 
currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

  There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to these fi nancial risks or the manner in 
which it manages and measures the risk.  Market risk exposures are measured using sensiঞ vity 
analysis indicated below:

  (i) Foreign exchange risk management

   The Group’s foreign exchange exposures arise mainly from the exchange rate movement 
of the funcঞ onal currencies of the respecঞ ve group enঞ ঞ es against Singapore dollar, 
United States dollar and Chinese Yuan.

   The Company has a number of investments in foreign subsidiaries whose net assets are 
exposed to currency translaঞ on risk. The Group does not currently designate its foreign 
currency denominated debt as a hedging instrument for the purpose of hedging the 
translaঞ on of its foreign operaঞ ons. The risk is managed through natural hedges. The 
Group enters into forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge certain of its foreign 
currency denominated trade receivables exposure (Note 32).

   The carrying amounts of foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary 
liabiliঞ es denominated in currencies other than the respecঞ ve Group enঞ ঞ es’ funcঞ onal 
currencies at the end of the reporঞ ng period are as follows:

Group Company
Liabiliঞ es Assets Liabiliঞ es Assets

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Singapore dollar 101 – 279 132 – – – –
United States
 dollar 18,913 26,841 12,675 15,996 1,283 861 162 178
Chinese yuan – – – 13,181 – – – –
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

 (c) Financial risk management policies and objecࢼ ves

  (i) Foreign exchange risk management (cont’d)

   Foreign currency sensi  vity

   The sensiঞ vity rate used when reporঞ ng foreign exchange risk to key management 
personnel is 10%, which is the change in a foreign exchange rate that management deems 
reasonably possible, which will aff ect outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary 
items at the end of the reporঞ ng period.

   If the relevant foreign currency weakens by 10% against the funcঞ onal currency of each 
Group enঞ ty, the eff ect on profi t or loss will increase (decrease) by:

Group Company
2017 2016 2017 2016
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Singapore dollar (18) (13) – –
United States dollar 624 1,085 112 68
Chinese Yuan – (1,318) – –

   If the relevant foreign currency strengthens by 10% against the funcঞ onal currency of 
each Group enঞ ty, the above will have an opposite eff ect.

  (ii) Interest rate risk management

   The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily 
to the Group’s debt obligaঞ ons with fl oaঞ ng interest rates.  The Group monitors the 
movements in interest rates on an ongoing basis and evaluates the exposure for its debt 
obligaঞ ons.

   Interest rate sensi  vity

   The sensiঞ vity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest 
rates for cash and cash equivalents placed with and borrowing from banks and fi nancial 
insঞ tuঞ ons in Singapore, Malaysia and Indonesia at the end of the reporঞ ng period.

   For fl oaঞ ng rate liabiliঞ es, the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of liability 
outstanding at the end of the reporঞ ng period was outstanding for the whole year.
A 50 basis point increase or decrease is used when reporঞ ng interest rate risk internally 
to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the 
reasonably possible change in interest rates.
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

 (c) Financial risk management policies and objecࢼ ves

  (ii) Interest rate risk management (cont’d)

   Interest rate sensi  vity (cont’d)

   If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher (lower) with all other variables held 
constant, the Group’s profi t for the year ended September 30, 2017 would decrease 
(increase) by $196,000 (2016: $177,000).

   No analysis is prepared at the Company level as the impact is not expected to be material.

   The Group’s sensiঞ vity to interest rates has increased during the current year mainly due 
to the increase in average bank borrowings.

  (iii) Credit risk management

   Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligaঞ ons 
resulঞ ng in a fi nancial loss to the Group.  The Group has adopted the policy of only 
dealing with creditworthy counterparঞ es as a mean of miঞ gaঞ ng the risk of fi nancial 
losses from default.  Credit risk is managed through the applicaঞ on of credit approvals, 
credit limits and monitoring procedures.  Where appropriate, the Group obtains collateral 
from its customers.  Cash terms, advance payments and le� er of credits are required for 
customers of lower credit standing.  An allowance for impairment is made where there is 
an idenঞ fi ed loss event which, based on previous experience, is evidence of a reducঞ on in 
the recoverability of the cash fl ows.

   As at September 30, 2017, 73.4% (2016: 81.4%) of trade receivables for the Group 
relate to amounts due from three (2016: three) major customers. The Group manages 
concentraঞ on of credit risk by performing credit analysis procedures to assess the 
potenঞ al customers’ credit quality and defi nes credit limits by customer before off ering 
credit term to any new customer.

   The maximum amount the Company could be forced to settle under the financial 
guarantee contract in Note 30, if the full guaranteed amount is claimed by the 
counterparty to the guarantee is $40,975,000 (2016: $2,723,000). Based on expectaঞ ons 
at the end of the reporঞ ng period, the Group considers that it is more likely than not 
that no amount will be payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate is 
subject to change depending on the probability of the counterparty claiming under the 
guarantee which is a funcঞ on of the likelihood that the fi nancial receivables held by the 
counterparty which are guaranteed suff er credit losses.

   The carrying amount of fi nancial assets recorded in the fi nancial statements, grossed 
up for any allowances for losses, and the exposure to defaults from fi nancial guarantees 
above, represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of 
the value of any collateral obtained.

   The Group places its cash with reputable fi nancial insঞ tuঞ ons.
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

 (c) Financial risk management policies and objecࢼ ves

  (iii) Credit risk management (cont’d)

   The credit risk for trade and other receivables based on the informaঞ on provided to key 
management is as follows:

Group Company
2017 2016 2017 2016
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

By geographical areas:

Singapore 7,533 741 2,125 2,544
People’s Republic of China 36,066 30,846 – –
Malaysia 2,827 2,489 – –
Indonesia 598 1,341 – –
Thailand 1,714 2,948 – –
South Korea 177 472 – –
Others 3,334 2,292 – –

52,249 41,129 2,125 2,544

  (iv) Liquidity risk management

   The Group maintains suffi  cient cash and cash equivalents, and internally generated cash 
fl ows to fi nance their acঞ viঞ es. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity 
requirements and its compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains 
suffi  cient reserves of cash and adequate commi� ed lines of funding from major fi nancial 
insঞ tuঞ ons to meet its liability requirements in the short and longer term.

   As at September 30, 2017, the Company’s current liabilities of $6,617,000
(2016: $4,471,000) exceeded its current assets by $4,214,000 (2016: $1,592,000). The 
Company is the ulঞ mate holding company for all its subsidiaries, and the Group has 
posiঞ ve working capital of $9,056,000 (2016: $13,035,000). Accordingly, management is 
of the opinion that the Group has suffi  cient working capital to meet the Company’s short 
term working capital requirements.



NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended September 30, 2017

Sen Yue Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2017 89

4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

 (c) Financial risk management policies and objecࢼ ves

  (iv) Liquidity risk management (cont’d)

   Liquidity and interest risk analyses

   Non-derivaঞ ve fi nancial liabiliঞ es

   The following tables detail the remaining contractual maturity for non-derivaঞ ve fi nancial 
liabiliঞ es. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash fl ows of 
fi nancial liabiliঞ es based on the earliest date on which the Group and the Company 
can be required to pay.  The table includes both interest and principal cash fl ows.  The 
adjustment column represents the possible future cash flows attributable to the 
instrument included in the maturity analysis which is not included in the carrying amount 
of the fi nancial liabiliঞ es on the statements of fi nancial posiঞ on.

   The maximum amount that the Company could be forced to se� le under the fi nancial 
guarantee contract in Note 30, if the full guaranteed amount is claimed by the 
counterparty to the guarantee, is $40,975,000 (2016: $2,723,000). The earliest period 
that the guarantee could be called is within 1 year (2016: 1 year) from the end of the 
reporঞ ng period. As menঞ oned in Note 4(c)(iii), the Group considers that it is more likely 
that no amount will be payable under the arrangement.

Weighted
average
eff ecঞ ve

interest rate

On
demand
or within

1 year

Within
2 to

5 years Adjustment Total
% $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

GROUP

2017
Non-interest bearing – 9,876 63 – 9,939
Finance lease liability 
 (fi xed rate) 5.77 260 606 (50) 816
Trade bills (variable rate) 2.83 36,593 – (1,007) 35,586
Converঞ ble notes (fi xed rate) 8.00 2,006 – (106) 1,900
Loan faciliঞ es (variable rate) 3.75 11,878 – (430) 11,448

60,613 669 (1,593) 59,689

2016
Non-interest bearing – 6,217 41 – 6,258
Finance lease liability 
 (fi xed rate) 4.94 118 152 (13) 257
Trade bills (variable rate) 2.86 29,455 – (818) 28,637
Converঞ ble notes (fi xed rate) 8.00 – 2,158 (258) 1,900
Loan faciliঞ es (variable rate) 2.38 7,021 – (163) 6,858

42,811 2,351 (1,252) 43,910
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

 (c) Financial risk management policies and objecࢼ ves

  (iv) Liquidity risk management (cont’d)

   Liquidity and interest risk analyses (cont’d)

   Non-derivaঞ ve fi nancial liabiliঞ es (cont’d)

Weighted
average
eff ecঞ ve

interest rate

On
demand
or within

1 year

Within
2 to

5 years Adjustment Total
% $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

COMPANY

2017
Non-interest bearing – 3,434 – – 3,434
Converঞ ble notes (fi xed rate) 8.00 2,006 – (106) 1,900
Loan faciliঞ es (variable rate) 3.64 1,330 – (47) 1,283

6,770 – (153) 6,617

2016
Non-interest bearing – 2,610 – – 2,610
Converঞ ble notes (fi xed rate) 8.00 – 2,158 (258) 1,900
Loan faciliঞ es (variable rate) 3.16 1,920 – (59) 1,861

4,530 2,158 (317) 6,371

   Non-derivaঞ ve fi nancial assets

   Except for other receivables and insurance assets as disclosed in Notes 7 and 13, 
substanঞ ally all fi nancial assets of the Group and Company are on demand or due within 
one year.

   Derivaঞ ve fi nancial instruments

   The Group’s derivaঞ ve fi nancial instruments comprise forward foreign currency contracts 
and commodity forward contracts which are measured at fair value at the end of the 
reporঞ ng period. The Group’s derivaঞ ve fi nancial instruments are insignifi cant as at the 
end of the reporঞ ng period. See Note 32 for more informaঞ on on derivaঞ ve fi nancial 
instruments.
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

 (c) Financial risk management policies and objecࢼ ves

  (v) Fair value of fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabiliঞ es

   Fair value of the Group’s fi nancial assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis

   Some of the Group’s fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabiliঞ es are measured at fair value at 
the end of each reporঞ ng period. The following table gives informaঞ on about how the fair 
values of these fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabiliঞ es are determined (in parঞ cular, the 
valuaঞ on technique(s) and inputs used). See Note 32 for more informaঞ on on derivaঞ ve 
fi nancial instruments, which are insignifi cant as at the end of the reporঞ ng period.

   Insurance assets

Fair value as at

Fair value 
hierarchy

Valuaঞ on technique 
and key input

Signifi cant 
unobservable 

input

Relaঞ onship of 
unobservable 
inputs to fair 

value
September 
30, 2017

September 
30, 2016

$’000 $’000

3,359 3,316 Level 2 Confirmation from 
the  respect ive 
insurers on the cash 
surrender value as 
at year end.

N/A N/A

   Fair value of the Group’s fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabili  es that are not measured at fair 
value on a recurring basis

   Management considers that the carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade 
and other current receivables and payables and other liabiliঞ es recorded at amorঞ sed cost 
in the fi nancial statements approximate their respecঞ ve fair values due to the relaঞ vely 
short-term maturity of these fi nancial instruments. In respect of the fi nancial assets 
and fi nancial liabiliঞ es recorded at amorঞ sed cost whose maturity is more than a year, 
management also considers that such fi nancial instruments approximate their fair values. 
The fair values of other classes of fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabiliঞ es are disclosed in 
the respecঞ ve notes to the fi nancial statements.

 (d) Capital management policies and objecࢼ ves

  The Group’s objecঞ ves when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to conঞ nue 
as a going concern and to maintain an opঞ mal capital structure to maximise shareholder value. 
In order to maintain or achieve an opঞ mal capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount 
of dividend payment, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, buy back issued shares, 
obtain new borrowings or sell assets to reduce borrowings. The Group’s overall strategy remains 
unchanged from the prior year.

  The capital structure of the Group consists of equity a� ributable to owners of the Company, 
comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings.
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

 (d) Capital management policies and objecࢼ ves (cont’d)

  The Group is required to maintain a minimum net worth (share capital, accumulated profi t/loss, 
and all reserves) of not less than $15,000,000 (2016: $12,000,000).  This externally imposed 
capital requirement has been complied with as of the fi nancial year ended September 30, 2016 
and September 30, 2017.

  Management also reviews fi nancial measures and posiঞ on of the Group on a regular basis to 
monitor if the Group fulfi ls the fi nancial covenants prescribed in its banking faciliঞ es. As 
at September 30, 2017, the Group was in compliance with all externally imposed capital 
requirements.

5 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

 Some of the Group’s transacঞ ons and arrangements are with related parঞ es and the eff ect of these 
on the basis determined between the parঞ es is refl ected in the fi nancial statements. The balances are 
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand unless otherwise stated.

 During the year, the Group entered into the following transacঞ ons with related parঞ es:

Group
2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Purchases of plant and equipment – joint venture – 162
Rental income - joint venture – 30

 Compensaࢼ on of Directors and key management personnel

 The remuneraঞ on of Directors and other members of key management during the year was as follows:

Group
2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Short term benefi ts 2,004 2,097
Post-employment benefi ts 78 100

2,082 2,197

 The remuneraঞ on of Directors and key management is determined by the remuneraঞ on commi� ee 
having regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.
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6 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Group Company
2017 2016 2017 2016
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash at banks and in hand 2,509 2,681 278 325
Fixed deposits 7,898 6,223 – –
Cash and cash equivalents in statements 
 of fi nancial posiঞ on 10,407 8,904 278 325
Fixed deposits pledged with fi nancial 
 insঞ tuঞ ons (7,898) (6,223) – –
Bank overdra[  (Note 15) (711) (975) – –
Cash and cash equivalents in statement 
 of cash fl ows 1,798 1,706 278 325

 Fixed deposits with fi nancial insঞ tuঞ ons amounঞ ng to approximately $7,898,000 (2016: $6,223,000) 
have been pledged to fi nancial insঞ tuঞ ons for banking faciliঞ es granted to the Group (refer to 
Note 15).

 Fixed deposits interest at an average rate of 0.51% (2016: 0.48%) per annum and for a tenure of 
approximately 228 days (2016: 210 days).

7 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group Company
2017 2016 2017 2016
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current
Trade receivables from outside parঞ es 47,706 40,075 – –
Deposits and other receivables 5,918 2,464 – 1
Prepayments 221 218 10 10
Tax recoverables 6 27 – –
Subsidiaries (Note 11) – – 2,115 2,543
Allowance for doub� ul receivables
- Trade (6) (8) – –
- Non-trade (1,375) (1,429) – –

52,470 41,347 2,125 2,554

Non-current
Prepayments 677 740 – –
Total 53,147 42,087 2,125 2,554
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7 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (cont’d)

 The table below is an analysis of trade receivables as at year ended:

Group Company
2017 2016 2017 2016
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Not past due and not impaired 35,687 22,500 – –
Past due but not impaired (i) 12,013 17,567 – –
Sub-total 47,700 40,067 – –

Impaired receivables - individually assessed
 - Past due more than 12 months with 
   no indicaঞ on of intenঞ on to repay 6 8 – –
Less:  Allowance for impairment (6) (8) – –
Total trade receivables, net 47,700 40,067 – –

 The average credit period on sales of goods is 60 to 180 days (2016: 60 days). No interest is charged 
on overdue trade receivables.

 Included in the Group’s trade receivable balance are debtors with a carrying amount of $12,013,000 
(2016: $17,567,000) which are past due at the end of the reporঞ ng period for which the Group has 
not provided as there has not been a signifi cant change in credit quality and the amounts are sঞ ll 
considered recoverable.  The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

 In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group considers any change in the credit 
quality of the trade receivable from the date credit was iniঞ ally granted up to the end of the reporঞ ng 
period.  Accordingly, management believes that there is no further impairment required in excess of 
the allowance for doub� ul debts.

 Non-trade amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured and interest-free, and are repayable on 
demand.  There are no impairment losses arising from the outstanding balances.

 The Group’s other receivables are interest-free and repayable on demand. The Group has not 
recognised any allowance for impairment on other receivables as management is of the view that these 
receivables are recoverable.
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7 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (cont’d)

 (i) Ageing of trade receivables that are past due but not impaired:

Group Company
2017 2016 2017 2016
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Less than 1 month overdue 10,361 8,278 – –
1 to 3 months overdue 1,420 3,651 – –
3 to 6 months overdue 69 4,325 – –
6 to 12 months overdue 163 1,313 – –

12,013 17,567 – –

  Movements in the allowance for doub� ul receivables:

Group
2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Balance at beginning of the year 1,437 1,327
Amounts wri� en off  during the year (1) (56)
Increase in allowance recognised in profi t or loss 4 62
Exchange diff erence (59) 104
Balance at end of the year 1,381 1,437

8 INVENTORIES

Group
2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Raw materials 3,660 3,269
Work-in-progress 113 111
Inventory-in-transit 1,770 1,307
Finished goods 229 262

5,772 4,949

 The cost of inventories recognised as an expense includes $64,000 (2016: $1,000) in respect of write-
downs of inventory to net realisable value.
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9 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Valuaঞ on Cost

Total

Freehold
land and 
buildings

Leasehold
land and 
buildings

Plant and 
equipment

Furniture,
fi ম  ngs 

and offi  ce 
equipment

Renovaঞ on 
and

installaঞ on
Motor

vehicles Computers
Group $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cost/Valuaঞ on
At October 1, 2015 7,690 8,986 6,812 1,116 657 458 369 26,088
Addiঞ ons 32 – 369 33 7 59 16 516
Disposals (52) – (55) (1) (48) – (1) (157)
Wri� en off – – (203) (151) (32) – (116) (502)
Revaluaঞ on of properঞ es – (600) – – – – – (600)
Exchange diff erences 822 264 543 36 30 20 13 1,728
At September 30, 2016 8,492 8,650 7,466 1,033 614 537 281 27,073
Addiঞ ons 6 7,462 1,524 120 124 15 8 9,259
Disposals – (4,000) (176) (123) (254) (16) – (4,569)
Wri� en off – – (40) (5) – – – (45)
Revaluaঞ on of properঞ es – 4,538 – – – – – 4,538
Exchange diff erences (195) (167) (520) (39) (18) (2) (8) (949)
At September 30, 2017 8,303 16,483 8,254 986 466 534 281 35,307

Accumulated depreciaঞ on:
At October 1, 2015 80 39 4,729 787 385 88 330 6,438
Depreciaঞ on 78 890 397 85 68 74 25 1,617
Disposals (38) – (55) (1) (48) – (1) (143)
Wri� en off – – (203) (150) (32) – (116) (501)
Eliminated on revaluaঞ on – (563) – – – – – (563)
Exchange diff erences 612 6 452 29 16 1 10 1,126
At September 30, 2016 732 372 5,320 750 389 163 248 7,974
Depreciaঞ on 77 1,127 481 92 73 87 18 1,955
Disposals – (558) (167) (123) (254) (16) – (1,118)
Wri� en off – – (27) (4) – – – (31)
Eliminated on revaluaঞ on – (235) – – – – – (235)
Exchange diff erences (3) (24) (468) (27) (12) – (8) (542)
At September 30, 2017 806 682 5,139 688 196 234 258 8,003

Impairment:
At October 1, 2015 and 
September 30, 2016 – 18 – – – – – 18
Exchange diff erences – (3) – – – – – (3)
At September 30, 2017 – 15 – – – – – 15

Carrying amount:
At September 30, 2017 7,497 15,786 3,115 298 270 300 23 27,289
At September 30, 2016 7,760 8,260 2,146 283 225 374 33 19,081
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9 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont’d)

 The carrying amount of the Group’s plant and equipment includes an amount of $1,142,000
(2016: $242,000) secured in respect of assets held under fi nance leases.

 As at September 30, 2017, freehold land and buildings and leasehold land and building of the Group 
with an aggregate carrying amount of $16,549,000 (2016: $6,466,000) are pledged as security to 
secure bank loans (Note 15).

 Fair value measurement of the Group’s freehold and leasehold land and buildings

 The Group’s land and buildings are stated at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the 
date of revaluaঞ on, less any subsequent accumulated depreciaঞ on and subsequent accumulated 
impairment losses. The fair value measurement on a leasehold land and building was performed as at 
September 30, 2016, which was subsequently disposed by the Group during the year. The fair value 
measurement on a leasehold land and building acquired by the Group during the year was performed 
as at September 30, 2017. The fair value measurements were performed by independent valuers not 
connected with the Group, who have appropriate qualifi caঞ ons and recent experience in the fair value 
measurement of the properঞ es in the relevant locaঞ ons. The remainder of the Group’s freehold and 
leasehold land and buildings were not revalued in 2017 and 2016 as management had determined that 
there were no signifi cant changes to the fair value as at September 30, 2017 and 2016

 The valuaঞ on for freehold land and buildings is an esঞ mated amount for which a property could be 
exchanged on the date of valuaঞ on between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length 
transacঞ on and the values are based on actual sales transacঞ ons for properঞ es that are similar to the 
freehold land and buildings held by the Group during the year. The valuaঞ on for leasehold land and 
buildings is an esঞ mated amount based on the Direct Comparison Method and Investment Method 
of Valuaঞ on which is the generally accepted valuaঞ on approach under the Internaঞ onal Valuaঞ on 
Standards. In esঞ maঞ ng the fair value of the freehold and leasehold land and buildings, the highest 
and best use of the freehold and leasehold land and buildings are their current use. There has been no 
change to the valuaঞ on technique during the year.

 Details of the Group’s land and buildings and informaঞ on about the fair value hierarchy as at 
September 30, 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Fair value as 
at September 

30, 2017
Group $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Non-fi nancial assets measured at fair value
Freehold land and buildings – 7,497 – 7,497
Leasehold land and buildings – 15,786 – 15,786

– 23,283 – 23,283
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9 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont’d)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Fair value as 
at September 

30, 2016
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Non-fi nancial assets measured at fair value
Freehold land and buildings – 7,760 – 7,760
Leasehold land and buildings – 8,260 – 8,260

– 16,020 – 16,020

 As at September 30, 2017, the carrying amount of the Group’s freehold and leasehold land and 
buildings stated at valuaঞ on would have been $4,999,000 (2016: $5,080,000) and $9,954,000
(2016: $4,402,000), respecঞ vely, had the freehold land and buildings and leasehold land and buildings 
been carried at cost less accumulated depreciaঞ on.

 The impairment loss of $15,000 (2016: $18,000) was determined in 2015 based on the fair value of 
the property carried out by an independent valuer, KJPP Renggamis, Hamid & Rekan.

10 GOODWILL

Group
$’000

Cost:
At September 30, 2016 and September 30, 2017 338

Carrying amount:
At September 30, 2016 and September 30, 2017 338

 Goodwill acquired in the business combinaঞ on had been allocated, at acquisiঞ on, to SMC Industrial 
Pte Ltd.

 The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment or more frequently if there are indicaঞ ons that 
goodwill might be impaired.

 The recoverable amount of the goodwill is determined from value in use calculaঞ ons. The key 
assumpঞ ons for the value in use calculaঞ ons are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and 
expected changes to selling prices and direct costs during the period. Management esঞ mates discount 
rates using post-tax rates that refl ect current market assessments of the ঞ me value of money and 
the risks specifi c to SMC Industrial Pte Ltd. The growth rates are based on industry growth forecasts. 
Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on past pracঞ ces and expectaঞ ons of future 
changes in the market.

 The Group prepares cash fl ow forecasts derived from the most recent fi nancial budgets approved by 
management for the next fi ve years and extrapolates cash fl ows for the following fi ve years based 
on an esঞ mated growth rate of 7.4% to 20.6% (2016: 8.5% to 11.6%). This rate does not exceed the 
average long-term market growth rate.
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10 GOODWILL (cont’d)

 The rate used to discount the forecast cash fl ows is approximately 12% (2016: 12%).

 As at September 30, 2017 and 2016, any reasonably possible change to the key assumpঞ ons applied is 
not likely to cause the recoverable amounts to be below the carrying amount.

11 SUBSIDIARIES

Company
2017 2016
$’000 $’000

At cost
Unquoted equity shares, at cost 31,486 24,922
Loans to a subsidiary 10,518 11,392

42,004 36,314
Impairment loss (10,450) (10,450)
Carrying amount 31,554 25,864

 Loans to a subsidiary are unsecured and interest-free as at the reporঞ ng date.  The se� lement of 
the loans is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future.  As the loans represent, 
in substance, a part of the Company’s net investment in the subsidiary, they are stated at cost less 
accumulated impairment loss.

 Movement in the allowance for impairment:

Company
2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Balance at beginning of year 10,450 11,910
Reversal of impairment recognised in profi t or loss – (1,460)
Balance at end of year 10,450 10,450

 The Company carried out a review of the recoverable amounts of its investment in subsidiaries where 
there was an indicaঞ on that the investments had suff ered an impairment loss. The review concluded 
that no further impairment (2016: reversal of impairment of $1,460,000) is required on the carrying 
amount of the investments. The recoverable amount is determined based on the esঞ mated fair value 
less cost to sell of the underlying assets of the individual subsidiary.
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11 SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)

 The subsidiaries of the Company are set out below:

Name of subsidiary

Country of 
incorporaঞ on 
and operaঞ on

Proporঞ on 
of ownership 
interest and 

voঞ ng power 
held Principal acঞ vity

2017 2016
% %

Held by the Company
CED System Sdn. Bhd. (b) Malaysia 100 100 ED coaঞ ng
Hong Nam Industry (M) Sdn. Bhd. (b) Malaysia 100 100 ED coaঞ ng
Macore Technology (M) Sdn. Bhd. (b) Malaysia 100 100 ED coaঞ ng
PNE Marvellous Sdn. Bhd. (b) Malaysia 100 100 Property investment holding
PNE Micron Engineering Pte Ltd (a) Singapore 100 100 Metal stamping
PNE Micron Engineering Sdn. Bhd. (b) Malaysia 100 100 Metal stamping
PNE Micron (Kuala Lumpur) Sdn. Bhd. (b) Malaysia 100 100 ED coaঞ ng
PNE Precision Sdn. Bhd. (b) Malaysia 100 100 Metal stamping
PNE Resources Pte Ltd (a) Singapore 100 100 Trading of commodiঞ es
PNE-Sino Pte Ltd (a) Singapore 100 100 Investment holding
SMC Industrial Pte Ltd (a) Singapore 100 50 Trading of commodiঞ es

Held by PNE-Sino Pte Ltd
PT. PNE Indonesia (d) Indonesia 100 100 ED coaঞ ng
PT Le Royaume PNE (d) Indonesia 100 100 Investment holding

Held by SMC Industrial Pte Ltd
SMC Industrial (HK) Limited (d) Hong Kong 100 – Waste management
SMC Industrial (UK) Co Ltd (d) United Kingdom 100 – Waste management

 (a) Audited by Deloi� e & Touche LLP, Singapore.

 (b) Audited by overseas pracঞ ces of Deloi� e Touche Tohmatsu Limited. 

 (c) During the year, the Group acquired the remaining 50% equity interest in SMC, which became a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of the Group. 

 
 (d) Not audited for consolidaঞ on purposes as management is of the opinion that the results of the subsidiary for the year is 

insignifi cant.
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11 SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)

 The following schedule shows the eff ects of changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary 
that did not result in change of control, on the equity a� ributable to owners of the parent:

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Amount paid on changes in ownership interest in subsidiary 6,564 –
Non-controlling interest acquired (9,195) –
Diff erence recognised in capital reserves (2,631) –

 Informaঞ on about the composiঞ on of the Group’s wholly-owned subsidiaries at the end of the 
fi nancial year is as follows:

Principal acঞ vity
Country of incorporaঞ on 
and operaঞ on

Number of wholly-owned 
subsidiaries

2017 2016

Metal stamping Singapore, Malaysia 3 3
Investment holding company Singapore, Indonesia 2 2
Property investment holding Malaysia 1 1
ED coaঞ ng Malaysia, Indonesia 5 5
Trading of commodiঞ es Singapore 2 1
Waste management Hong Kong, United Kingdom 2 –

15 12

 In 2016, SMC was the only non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group that has material non-
controlling interest. However, it has become a wholly-owned subsidiary during the year.

 Summarised fi nancial informaঞ on in respect of SMC is set out below. The summarised fi nancial 
informaঞ on below represents amounts before intragroup eliminaঞ ons.

2016
$’000

Current assets 44,046
Non-current assets 8,667
Current liabilities (34,826)
Non-current liabilities (538)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 8,675
Non-controlling interests 8,675
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11 SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)

2016
$’000

(restated)

Revenue 130,535
Expenses (131,889)
Profi t (Loss) for the year (1,354)

Profi t (Loss) a� ributable to owners of the Company (677)
Profi t (Loss) a� ributable to non-controlling interests (677)
Profi t (Loss) for the year (1,354)

Other comprehensive income for the year (30)
Other comprehensive income a� ributable to owners of the Company (15)
Other comprehensive income a� ributable tonon-controlling interests (15)
Other comprehensive income for the year (30)

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year (1,384)
Total comprehensive income (loss) a� ributable to owners of the Company (692)
Total comprehensive income (loss) a� ributable tonon-controlling interests (692)
Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year (1,384)

Net cash infl ow from operaঞ ng acঞ viঞ es 1,280
Net cash infl ow (ou� low) from invesঞ ng acঞ viঞ es (1,545)
Net cash infl ow (ou� low) fi nancing acঞ viঞ es (415)
Net cash infl ow (ou� low) (680)

12 JOINT VENTURE

Group
2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Cost of investment in joint venture – 1,175
Share of post-acquisiঞ on losses – (1,175)

– –
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12 JOINT VENTURE (cont’d)

 Details of the joint venture at the end of the reporঞ ng period is as follows:

Name of joint venture Principal acঞ vity

Country of 
incorporaঞ on 
and operaঞ on

Proporঞ on of 
ownership interest 
and voঞ ng rights 

held by the Group  
2017 2016

% %

PNE Teknicast Sdn. Bhd. Spray-painঞ ng, powder 
coaঞ ng, organic coaঞ ng, metallic-
fi nishing-technology coaঞ ng and silk-
screening

Malaysia – 60

 The investee is accounted for as a joint venture despite the Company’s 60% equity interest as the 
strategic operaঞ ng and fi nancial decisions require unanimous consent by the Company and the other 
shareholder. The day-to-day operaঞ on is independently managed by the management of the investee, 
which is appointed by the joint venture’s board of directors.

 On April 20, 2016, the above joint venture commenced members’ voluntary liquidaঞ on and was 
dissolved on September 20, 2017. 

13 INSURANCE ASSETS

Group
2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Keyman life insurance policies at fair value:
Balance at beginning of year 3,316 1,808
Addiঞ ons – 1,496
Increase in fair value recognised in profi t or loss 66 192
Exchange diff erence (23) (180)
Balance at end of year 3,359 3,316

 The keyman life insurance policies relate to life insurance contracts purchased by one of the 
subsidiaries - SMC for one of its execuঞ ve directors – Mr Koh Mia Seng. The total insured amount of 
the three contracts (2016: three contracts) are US$10,000,000 ($13,494,000) [(2016: US$10,000,000 
($13,596,000)]. The contracts will mature on the date when the insured person reaches the age of 100, 
or death of the insured person whichever is earlier. At the ঞ me of death of the insured person, 100% 
of the insured amount plus the accumulated investment returns will be payable to the Group.
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13 INSURANCE ASSETS (cont’d)

 At the end of the reporঞ ng period, the cash surrender value of keyman life insurance policies is 
US$2,488,950 ($3,359,000) [(2016: US$2,438,000 ($3,316,000)]. The difference between the 
premiums of US$2,898,000 ($3,940,000) paid and iniঞ al cash surrender value of US$2,433,000 
($3,308,000) at incepঞ on date is recorded as prepayments (Note 7) and amorঞ sed over 13 to 19 years.

 The fair value of investment-linked keyman life insurance policies is based on the total cash surrender 
value of the contracts stated in the annual statements of these policies (Level 2).

 The keyman life insurance policies are pledged to banks to secure banking faciliঞ es granted to the 
Group (Note 15).

14 DEFERRED TAX

 The following are the major deferred tax liabiliঞ es and assets recognised and the movements thereon, 
during the current and prior reporঞ ng periods:

GROUP

Accelerated 
tax

depreciaঞ on

Revaluaঞ on
of land and

buildings Others Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At October 1, 2015 376 993 (52) 1,317
Credit to:
- Profi t or loss (Note 27) (3) (137) (65) (205)
- Other comprehensive income (Note 27) – (46) (2) (48)
Exchange diff erences 31 31 (5) 57
At September 30, 2016 404 841 (124) 1,121
(Credit) Charge to:
- Profi t or loss (Note 27) (32) (111) (6) (149)
- Other comprehensive income (Note 27) – 444 1 445
Exchange diff erences (6) 6 (11) (11)
At September 30, 2017 366 1,180 (140) 1,406
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14 DEFERRED TAX (cont’d)

 Certain deferred tax liabiliঞ es and assets have been off set in accordance with the Group’s accounঞ ng 
policy.  The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances (a[ er off set) for the purpose of 
presenঞ ng on statement of fi nancial posiঞ on:

Group
2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Deferred tax liabiliঞ es 1,455 1,147
Deferred tax assets (49) (26)

1,406 1,121

 Subject to the agreement by the tax authoriঞ es in the relevant foreign tax jurisdicঞ ons in which 
the Group operates and condiঞ ons imposed by law, the Group has unuঞ lised tax losses, unuঞ lised 
reinvestment allowances, unuঞ lised capital allowances and tax incenঞ ves of $4,664,000, $3,319,000, 
$775,000 and $12,000 (2016: $5,745,000, $3,312,000, $1,106,000 and $12,000) for off set against 
future profi ts, respecঞ vely. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the tax losses due 
to the unpredictability of future profi t streams.

15 BANK OVERDRAFTS, LOANS AND TRADE BILLS

Group Company
2017 2016 2017 2016
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Bank overdra[ s 711 975 – –
Loans 10,737 5,883 1,283 1,861
Trade bills 35,586 28,637 – –

47,034 35,495 1,283 1,861

 Due to the existence of a callable clause in the term loan facility agreements, the non-current porঞ on 
of the loans were treated as a current liabiliঞ es.

 Term loan facilities of $283,000 (2016: $860,000) and revolving credit facility of $1,000,000 
(2016: $1,000,000) are secured over certain freehold land and buildings of the Group (Note 9).

 Term loan faciliঞ es of $1,020,000 (2016: $1,273,000) and overdra[  facility of $31,000 (2016: $Nil) are 
secured on the following:

 a. First party legal charge over certain freehold land and buildings of the Group (Note 9);

 b. Deposits pledged with a fi nancial insঞ tuঞ on amounঞ ng to $35,000 (2016: $Nil); and

 c. Corporate guarantee given by the Company.
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15 BANK OVERDRAFTS, LOANS AND TRADE BILLS (cont’d)
 
 Trade faciliঞ es of $1,818,000 (2016: $1,458,000) are secured on the following:

 a. Deposits pledged with a fi nancial insঞ tuঞ on amounঞ ng to $1,013,000 (2016: $1,005,000) 
(Note 6);

 b. Joint and several guarantees by certain Directors; and 

 c. Corporate guarantee given by the Company.  

 Term loans of $4,879,000 (2016: $Nil), revolving credit faciliঞ es of $2,055,000 (2016: $2,070,000), 
trade facilities of $19,129,000 (2016: $12,171,000) and overdraft facility of $140,000 (2016: 
$492,000) are secured on the following:

 a. Mortgages over a leasehold land and building of a subsidiary with carrying amount of 
$12,000,000 (2016: $4,000,000) (Note 9);

 b. Deposits pledged with a fi nancial insঞ tuঞ on of $2,610,000 (2016: $2,400,000) (Note 6);  

 c. Guarantees by a Director of the subsidiary; 

 d. Assignment of two life insurance policies assured on a Director of the subsidiary (Note 13); and

 e. Corporate guarantee given by the Company.

 Trade facilities of $6,424,000 (2016: $9,993,000) and overdraft facility of $498,000
(2016 : $483,000) are secured on the following:

 a. Deposits pledged with fi nancial insঞ tuঞ on of $507,000 (2016: $505,000) (Note 6);

 b. Guarantees by a Director of the subsidiary;

 c. Assignment of one life insurance policy assured on a Director of the subsidiary (Note 13); and

 d. Corporate guarantee given by the Company.

 Revolving credit faciliঞ es of $1,500,000 (2016: $Nil) and trade faciliঞ es of $3,241,000 (2016: $Nil) are 
secured on the following:

 a. Deposits pledged with a fi nancial insঞ tuঞ on of $1,850,000 (2016: $Nil) (Note 6); and

 b. Guarantees by a Director of the subsidiary. 
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15 BANK OVERDRAFTS, LOANS AND TRADE BILLS (cont’d)

 Trade faciliঞ es of $4,974,000 (2016: $Nil) and overdra[  facility of $42,000 (2016 : $Nil) are secured 
on the following:

 a. Deposits pledged with fi nancial insঞ tuঞ on of $1,850,000 (2016: $Nil) (Note 6);

 b. Guarantees by a Director of the subsidiary; and

 c. Corporate guarantee given by the Company.

 In 2016, term loans of $680,000 and trade faciliঞ es of $5,015,000 were secured by deposits pledged 
with a fi nancial insঞ tuঞ on of $2,243,000 (Note 6).

 Management is of the opinion that the carrying amount of the bank overdra[ s, loans and trade bills 
approximate their fair value due to market interest rate charged.

16 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Group Company
2017 2016 2017 2016
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current
Outside parঞ es, trade 6,072 4,397 – –
Subsidiaries, non-trade (Note 11) – – 2,249 2,182
Accrued expenses 2,329 1,233 511 375
Amount due to a Director (Note 5) 674 – 674 –
Other payables 801 587 – 53

9,876 6,217 3,434 2,610
Non-current
Other payables 63 41 – –
Total 9,939 6,258 3,434 2,610

 Trade payables principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs. The 
average credit period on purchase of goods is 30 days (2016: 30 days). No interest is charged on the 
outstanding balance of trade payables.

 Amounts due to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and are repayable on demand.
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17 FINANCE LEASES

Minimum lease
payments

Present value of minimum 
lease payments

2017 2016 2017 2016
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

GROUP
Amounts payable under fi nance leases:
Within one year 260 118 238 110
In the second to fi [ h years inclusive 606 152 578 147

866 270 816 257
Less: Future fi nance charges (50) (13) – N/A
Present value of lease obligaঞ ons 816 257 816 257
Less:  Amount due for se� lement within 

12 months (shown under current 
liabiliঞ es) (238) (110)

Amount due for se� lement a[ er 12 months 578 147

 It is the Group’s policy to lease certain of its plant and equipment under fi nance leases. The leases bear 
an average interest rate of 3.1% to 4.4% (2016: 3.7% to 4.7%) per annum and are repayable over an 
average lease term of 5 years. Interest rates are fi xed at the contract dates, and thus expose the Group 
to fair value interest rate risk. All leases are on a fi xed repayment basis with no arrangements entered 
into for conঞ ngent rental payments.

 The Group’s obligaঞ ons under fi nance leases are secured by the lessors’ ঞ tle to the leased assets.

18 CONVERTIBLE NOTES

 The converঞ ble notes (“Notes”) were issued on October 30, 2015 and January 18, 2016, and will 
mature on April 30, 2018 and July 18, 2018 respecঞ vely. The Notes accrue interest at 8% per annum 
with interest payable semi-annually unঞ l se� lement date. 

 The Notes are converঞ ble at an iniঞ al conversion rate of $0.072 per ordinary share. The conversion 
price may be further adjusted for certain specifi ed diluঞ ve and other events. 

 The holders of the Notes may tender their Notes for conversion for a period of 2.5 years from the 
date of issue, for a minimum principal amount of $300,000 in any single transacঞ on (unless consent is 
received from the Company), without limitaঞ on, by giving at least 7 business days’ noঞ ce in wriঞ ng to 
the Company. 

 The net proceeds received from the issue of the Notes have not been split between the liability 
element and an equity component, as management has deemed the fair value of the embedded 
conversion opঞ on to be insignifi cant.
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19 SHARE CAPITAL

Group and Company
2017 2016 2017 2016

Number of ordinary shares $’000 $’000
‘000 ‘000

Issued and paid up:
At the beginning of year 637,809 637,809 34,366 34,366
Issued during the year 226,471 – 5,889 –
At the end of year 864,280 637,809 40,255 34,366

 During the year, the Company issued 226,471,000 ordinary shares amounঞ ng to $5,889,000 as part of 
the consideraঞ on for the acquisiঞ on of the remaining 50% equity interest in SMC (Note 11).

 Fully paid ordinary shares, which have no par value, carry one vote per share and carry a right to 
dividends as and when declared by the Company.

20 MERGER DEFICIT

 The merger defi cit arises from the diff erence between the nominal value of shares issued by the 
Company and the nominal value of shares of subsidiaries acquired under the common control method 
of accounঞ ng.

21 TRANSLATION RESERVE

 Exchange diff erences relaঞ ng to the translaঞ on from the funcঞ onal currencies of the Group’s foreign 
subsidiaries into Singapore dollars are brought to account by recognising those exchange diff erences 
in other comprehensive income and accumulaঞ ng them in a separate component of equity under the 
header of foreign currency translaঞ on reserve.

22 REVALUATION RESERVE

 The revaluaঞ on reserve arises on the revaluaঞ on of land and buildings. Where revalued buildings are 
sold, the porঞ on of property revaluaঞ on reserve that relates to that asset, and is eff ecঞ vely realised, is 
transferred directly to retained earnings.
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22 REVALUATION RESERVE (cont’d)

Group
2017 2016
$’000 $’000

At the beginning of the year 6,481 6,496
Revaluaঞ on increase (decrease) 3,962 (15)
Reversal of deferred tax liabiliঞ es on disposal of property 367 –
Disposal of property (392) –
Transfer of revaluaঞ on surplus to retained earningsupon disposal 
 of property (2,352) –
At the end of the year 8,066 6,481

23 CAPITAL RESERVE

 The capital reserve represents the eff ects of changes in ownership interests in a subsidiary when there 
is no change in control (Note 11).

24 REVENUE

Group
2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Sales of goods 195,133 141,409
Revenue from the provision of electro-deposiঞ on coaঞ ng services 12,065 10,785
Others – 30

207,198 152,224
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25 OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Group
2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Rental income 221 30
Interest income 44 23
Scrap sales 39 40
Recovery of other receivables previously wri� en off 16 287
Fair value increase in insurance assets 66 192
Management and administraঞ ve fees 507 547
Others 30 90

923 1,209

26 FINANCE COSTS

Group
2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Interest expenses on:
- bank overdra[ , loans and trade bills 1,492 1,101
- obligaঞ ons under fi nance leases 25 10

1,517 1,111

27 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Group
2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Current tax expense
- Current year 1,072 611
- (Over) Underprovision in prior years (5) 59

1,067 670
Deferred tax expense relaঞ ng to
- Originaঞ on and reversal of temporary diff erences (234) (221)
- Underprovision in prior years 85 16

(149) (205)

Income tax expense for the year 918 465
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27 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (cont’d)

 Domesঞ c income tax is calculated at 17% (2016: 17%) of the esঞ mated assessable profi t for the 
year.  Taxaঞ on for other jurisdicঞ ons is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdicঞ ons.

 The total charge for the year can be reconciled to the accounঞ ng profi t (loss) as follows:

Group
2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Profi t (Loss) before income tax 3,514 (1,038)

Tax at statutory rate at 17% 597 (176)
Eff ects of diff erent tax rates of subsidiaries reporঞ ng in other
 jurisdicঞ ons 175 168
Income exempt from taxaঞ on (31) (220)
Non-deducঞ ble expenses 337 545
Deferred tax assets not recognised – 106
Uঞ lisaঞ on of deferred tax benefi ts previously not recognised (240) (33)
(Over) Underprovision of income tax in prior years (5) 59
Underprovision of deferred tax in prior years 85 16
Total income tax expense 918 465

 Income tax relaঞ ng to each component of other comprehensive income

Group
2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Deferred tax

Revaluaঞ on of land and buildings 811 (46)
Post-employment benefi ts liability 1 (2)
Disposal of building (367) –
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28 PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

 Profi t (Loss) for the year has been arrived at a[ er charging (crediঞ ng):

Group
2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Depreciaঞ on of property, plant and equipment

Depreciaঞ on of property, plant and equipment 1,955 1,617

Employee benefi ts expense (including Directors’ remuneraঞ on)

Directors’ remuneraঞ on:
- of the Company 1,408 1,291
- of subsidiaries 72 156

1,480 1,447

Directors’ fees:
- of the Company 100 107

Staff  costs (including Directors’ remuneraঞ on) 8,114 8,332
Defi ned contribuঞ ons plans 428 450
Defi ned benefi ts plans 31 34
Total employee benefi ts expense 8,573 8,816

Others

Reversal of other receivables previously wri� en off – (287)
Net foreign exchange loss 180 2,167
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (7) 4
Property, plant and equipment wri� en off 14 1
Inventories wri� en down 63 1
Cost of inventories recognised as expense 190,088 140,314

Audit fees paid to auditors:
- Auditors of the Company 150 133
- Other auditors 45 47

195 180

Non-audit fees paid to auditors of the Company – –
Aggregate amount of fees paid to auditors 195 180
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29 EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

 The calculaঞ on of the basic and diluted earnings per share a� ributable to the ordinary owners of the 
Company is based on the following data:

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of basic
 earnings per share 792,926 637,809

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of diluted
 earnings per share 792,926 637,809

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Earnings

Profi t (loss) a� ributable to owners of the Company 2,076 (826)

Basic earnings (loss) per share (cents) 0.26 (0.13)

Fully diluted earnings (loss) per share (cents) 0.26 (0.13)

 The potenঞ al ordinary shares to be converted under the converঞ ble notes are anঞ -diluঞ ve as the 
conversion would result in a higher diluted earnings per share than the basic earnings per share (2016: 
lower diluted loss per share than the basic loss per share). As at September 30, 2016 and 2017, the 
Company has a balance of $1,900,000 converঞ ble notes, which can be converted into 26,388,887 
shares, a[ er disregarding fracঞ onal enঞ tlements of the holders.

 There were no diluঞ on of earnings per share (2016: no diluঞ on of loss per share) for the fi nancial year 
ended September 30, 2017 as there were no potenঞ al ordinary shares outstanding.
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30 COMMITMENTS

 (a) Operaঞ ng lease arrangements

  The Group as lessee

Group
2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Minimum lease payments under operaঞ ng leases included in 
 the profi t or loss 204 175

  The Group leases a number of warehouse and factory faciliঞ es under operaঞ ng leases. The 
leases typically run for a period of two years, with an opঞ on to renew the lease a[ er that date.  
Lease payments are increased every two years to refl ect market rentals.

  At the end of the reporঞ ng period, the commitments in respect of non-cancellable operaঞ ng 
leases for warehouse and factory were as follows:

Group Company
2017 2016 2017 2016
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Future minimum lease payments
 payable:

Within one year 642 62 – –
In the second to fi [ h years inclusive 1,751 44 – –
A[ er fi ve years 2,266 – – –

Total 4,659 106 – –

  The Group as lessor

  The Group sublets its property in Singapore.

  At the end of the reporঞ ng period, the Group has contracted with a tenant for the following 
future minimum lease payments:

Group Company
2017 2016 2017 2016
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Future minimum lease payments
 payable:

Within one year 556 – – –
In the second to fi [ h years inclusive 232 – – –

   A[ er fi ve years – – – –
Total 788 – – –
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30 COMMITMENTS (cont’d)

 (b) Financial guarantee contracts

  The Company has issued fi nancial guarantees to banks in respect of banking faciliঞ es extended 
to its subsidiaries.

  A provision is recognised based on the Company’s esঞ mate of the ulঞ mate cost of se� ling 
all claims incurred but unpaid at the reporঞ ng date. The provision is assessed by reviewing 
individual claims and tested for adequacy by comparing the amount recognised and the amount 
that would be required to se� le the guarantee contract.

  The principal risk to which the Company is exposed is credit risk in connecঞ on with the 
guarantee contracts it has issued. The credit risk represents the loss that would be recognised 
upon a default by the parঞ es to which the guarantees were given on behalf of. To miঞ gate 
these risks, management conঞ nually monitors the risks and has established processes including 
performing credit evaluaঞ ons of the parঞ es it is providing the guarantee on behalf of.

  There are no terms and condiঞ ons a� ached to the guarantee contracts that would have a 
material eff ect on the amount, ঞ ming and uncertainty of the Company’s future cash fl ows.

  The intra-group fi nancial guarantees are eliminated in preparing the consolidated fi nancial 
statements. Esঞ mates of the Company’s obligaঞ on arising from fi nancial guarantee contracts 
may be affected by future events, which cannot be predicted with any certainty. The 
assumpঞ ons made may well vary from actual experience so that the actual liability may vary 
considerably from the best esঞ mates.

  Intra-group financial guarantees comprise guarantees granted by the Company to 
banks in respect of banking faciliঞ es extended to subsidiaries amounঞ ng to $46,039,000 
(2016: $4,634,000) of which $40,975,000 (2016: $2,723,000) was drawn down as at September 
30, 2017. The fi nancial guarantees expire between 1 and 5 years.
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31 SEGMENT INFORMATION

 (a) Reportable segments

  For the purpose of resource allocaঞ on and assessment of segment performance, the Group’s 
chief operaঞ ng decision makers have focused on the business operaঞ ng units which in turn, are 
segregated based on the types of goods supplied and services provided.

  The Metal components and tool and die segment, ED coaঞ ng segment and commodiঞ es 
segment off er diff erent products and services, and are managed separately because they require 
diff erent technology and markeঞ ng strategies.  For each of the segments, the Group’s CEO who 
is the chief operaঞ ng decision maker reviews internal management reports on at least a monthly 
basis.  The following summary describes the operaঞ ons in each of the Group’s reportable 
segments:

   Metal components and tool and die - includes manufacturing and sale of perforated 
materials, speakers nets, tool, die and other metal components.

   ED coaঞ ng - includes electro-deposiঞ on (ED) coaঞ ng services and secondary process.

   Commodiঞ es -trading of commodiঞ es, which include copper, stainless steel and other 
special alloy.

   Others - corporate

  There are varying levels of integration between the Metal components and ED coating 
reportable segments.  This integraঞ on includes ED coaঞ ng services for metal component, shared 
customers, sale of equipment and provision of maintenance services and rental of industrial 
properঞ es.  Inter-segment pricing is determined on an arm’s length basis.

  Informaঞ on regarding the results of each reportable segment is included below. Performance is 
measured based on segment profi t before income tax, as included in the internal management 
reports that are reviewed by the Group’s CEO.  Segment profi t is used to measure performance 
as management believes that such informaঞ on is the most relevant in evaluaঞ ng the results of 
certain segments relaঞ ve to other enঞ ঞ es that operate within these industries.
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31 SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d)

 (a) Reportable segments (cont’d)

  Informaঞ on regarding the Group’s reportable segments is presented below. The measurement 
basis of the Group’s reportable segments is in accordance with its accounঞ ng policy.

Metal 
components 

and tool 
and die

ED
Coaঞ ng Commodiঞ es Others

Inter-
segment

eliminaঞ on Group
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2017
Revenue 3,480 12,295 191,720 1,180 (1,477) 207,198
Cost of sales (2,548) (8,049) (180,006) (34) 549 (190,088)
Segment result 932 4,246 11,714 1,146 (928) 17,110

Other operaঞ ng income 923
Distribuঞ on costs (1,166)
Administraঞ ve expenses (10,191)
Other operaঞ ng expenses (1,645)
Finance costs (1,517)

Profi t before income tax 3,514
Income tax expense (918)
Profi t for the year 2,596

Segment assets 6,417 15,936 79,316 40,635 (41,943) 100,361
Segment liabiliঞ es 1,526 8,692 55,374 20,410 (24,313) 61,689

Other segment informaঞ on
Addiঞ ons to non-current
 assets 31 230 9,026 – (28) 9,259
Depreciaঞ on expenses 33 791 1,105 26 – 1,955
Revaluaঞ on of properঞ es – – 3,962 – – 3,962
Fair value change of 
 insurance assets – – 66 – – 66
Exchange diff erences on
  translaঞ on of foreign 
operaঞ ons (487)
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31 SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d)

 (a) Reportable segments (cont’d)

Metal 
components 

and tool 
and die

ED
Coaঞ ng Commodiঞ es Others

Inter-
segment

eliminaঞ on Group
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2016
Revenue 3,209 11,048 138,300 1,250 (1,583) 152,224
Cost of sales (2,152) (7,513) (131,208) (141) 700 (140,314)
Segment result 1,057 3,535 7,092 1,109 (883) 11,910

Other operaঞ ng income 1,209
Distribuঞ on costs (1,124)
Administraঞ ve expenses (8,711)
Other operaঞ ng expenses (3,211)
Finance costs (1,111)

Loss before income tax (1,038)
Income tax expense (465)
Loss for the year (1,503)

Segment assets 6,620 16,402 56,696 36,385 (37,402) 78,701
Segment liabiliঞ es 1,574 9,591 39,545 21,188 (26,498) 45,400

Other segment informaঞ on
Addiঞ ons to non-current
 assets 10 343 162 1 – 516
Depreciaঞ on expenses (32) (790) (749) (46) – (1,617)
Revaluaঞ on of properঞ es – – (30) – – (30)
Fair value change of 
 insurance assets – – 192 – – 192
Exchange diff erences on
  translaঞ on of foreign 
operaঞ ons 517
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31 SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d)

 (b) Geographical informaঞ on

  The Group’s revenue from external customers and informaঞ on about its segment assets (non-
current assets excluding investments in joint venture and deferred tax assets) by geographical 
locaঞ on are detailed below:

Revenue Non-current assets
2017 2016 2017 2016
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Singapore 5,362 5,530 18,139 9,004
People’s Republic of China 94,578 47,803 – –
Malaysia 11,148 8,350 10,175 10,488
Indonesia 3,182 2,565 3,349 3,983
South Korea 11,337 15,654 – –
Taiwan 55,839 58,045 – –
Japan 11,587 5,664 – –
Others 14,165 8,613 – –
Total 207,198 152,224 31,663 23,475

  Non-current assets presented comprise property, plant and equipment, goodwill, other 
receivables and insurance assets.

 (c) Informaঞ on about major customers

  The Group’s customer base includes two (2016: one) customers from its commodities 
segment with whom transacঞ ons amounted 34.3% (2016: 17.5%) of the Group’s revenues.  
In 2017, revenues generated from these customers amounted to approximately $71,004,000 
(2016: $26,565,000). Details of concentraঞ on of credit risk arising from these customers are set 
out in Note 4.
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32 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

 Forward foreign exchange contracts

 The Group uঞ lises forward foreign exchange contracts to manage its exposure to signifi cant foreign 
exchange transacঞ ons on its future transacঞ ons and cash fl ows. The Group is party to a variety 
of forward foreign exchange contracts in the management of its exchange rate exposures. The 
instruments purchased are primarily denominated in the currencies of the Group’s principal markets.

 At the end of the reporঞ ng period, the total noঞ onal amounts of derivaঞ ve fi nancial instruments to 
which the Group is commi� ed to are as follows:

Group Company
2017 2016 2017 2016
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Forward foreign exchange contracts
-  Buy Singapore dollar sell United States 

dollar 951 948 – –

 The average maturity period for forward foreign exchange contracts is 1 months (2016: 3 months).
 
 Forward commodity contracts

 The Group uঞ lises forward commodity contracts to manage the fl uctuaঞ ons in world nickel and copper 
prices.

 At the end of the reporঞ ng period, the total noঞ onal amounts of derivaঞ ve fi nancial instruments to 
which the Group is commi� ed to are as follows:

Group Company
2017 2016 2017 2016
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Purchase forward commodity contracts
- Copper 218 240 – –

Sell forward commodity contracts
- Copper 451 240 – –

 The average maturity period for forward commodity contracts is 3 months (2016: 3 months).

 The Group does not apply hedge accounঞ ng for both types of derivaঞ ve fi nancial instruments. The fair 
value of the derivaঞ ve fi nancial instruments are insignifi cant as at the end of the reporঞ ng period.
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No. Locaঞ on Descripঞ on Exisঞ ng use Tenure  Gross fl oor 
area (sq [ ) 

1 No. 16 Jalan Mahir 5
Taman Perindustrian Cemerlang
81800 Ulu Tiram 
Johor Darul Takzim
Malaysia

3 Storey offi  ce 
and factory 
building

Offi  ce/
factory

Freehold  46,827 

2 No. 21 Jalan Gemilang 3
Taman Perindustrian Cemerlang
81800 Ulu Tiram 
Johor Darul Takzim
Malaysia

2 Storey offi  ce 
and factory 
building

Offi  ce/
factory

Freehold  18,472 

3 No. 23 Jalan Gemilang 3
Taman Perindustrian Cemerlang
81800 Ulu Tiram 
Johor Darul Takzim
Malaysia

2 Storey offi  ce 
and factory 
building

Offi  ce/
factory

Freehold  18,472 

4 No. 25 Jalan Gemilang 3
Taman Perindustrian Cemerlang
81800 Ulu Tiram 
Johor Darul Takzim
Malaysia

2 Storey offi  ce 
and factory 
building

Offi  ce/
factory

Freehold  14,403 

5 No. 27 Jalan Gemilang 3
Taman Perindustrian Cemerlang
81800 Ulu Tiram 
Johor Darul Takzim
Malaysia

2 Storey offi  ce 
and factory 
building

Offi  ce/
factory

Freehold  14,403 

6 No. 29 Jalan Gemilang 3
Taman Perindustrian Cemerlang
81800 Ulu Tiram 
Johor Darul Takzim
Malaysia

2 Storey offi  ce 
and factory 
building

Offi  ce/
factory

Freehold  14,403 

7 Plot 97, Jalan PKNK 1
Rancang Industrial Park
Kawasan Perusahaan Sungai 
Petani (LPK)
08000 Sungai Petani
Kedah Darul Aman
Malaysia

2 Storey offi  ce 
and factory 
building

Offi  ce/
factory

Leasehold
60 years

from 
23/11/1994

to
22/11/2054

 25,373 
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No. Locaঞ on Descripঞ on Exisঞ ng use Tenure  Gross fl oor 
area (sq [ ) 

8 Plot 98 Jalan PKNK 1
Rancang Industrial Park
Kawasan Perusahaan Sungai 
Petani (LPK)
08000 Sungai Petani
Kedai Darul Aman
Malaysia

2 Storey offi  ce 
and factory 
building

Offi  ce/
factory

Leasehold
60 years

from 
23/11/1994

to
22/11/2054

 18,966 

9 Plot 99 Jalan PKNK 1
Rancang Industrial Park
Kawasan Perusahaan Sungai 
Petani (LPK)
08000 Sungai Petani
Kedah Darul Aman
Malaysia

2 Storey offi  ce 
and factory 
building

Offi  ce/
factory

Leasehold
60 years

from 
23/11/1994

to
22/11/2054

 19,648 

10 Plot 100 Jalan PKNK 1
Rancang Industrial Park
Kawasan Perusahaan Sungai 
Petani (LPK)
08000 Sungai Petani
Kedah Darul Aman
Malaysia

2 Storey offi  ce 
and factory 
building

Offi  ce/
factory

Leasehold
60 years

from 
23/11/1994

to
22/11/2054

 25,669 

11 Lot 19 Jalan Jaya Seঞ a 26/3, 
Secঞ on 26
Hicom Industrial Estate
40400 Shah Alam
Selangor Darul Ehsan
Malaysia

2 Storey offi  ce 
and factory 
building

Offi  ce/
factory

Freehold  43,897 

12 HGB No 10344 
(Oakwood Cluster)
Cibatu Alam Permai Complex
Jalan Alam Permai I 33 Cibatu
Cikarang Selatan
17550 Bekasi
Indonesia

2 storey 
building

Hostel Leasehold
13 years

from 
15/08/2011

to
24/09/2024

 2,583 

13 GB No 2154
Pasirsari Kawasan Industri
Karyadeka Pancamurni 
Block B Kav.
1 Pasirsari 17550 Cikarang Bekasi
Indonesia

2 Storey offi  ce 
and factory 
building

Offi  ce/factory Leasehold
25 years

from 
08/08/2001

to
24/09/2026

 91,795 
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No. Locaঞ on Descripঞ on Exisঞ ng use Tenure  Gross fl oor 
area (sq [ ) 

14 3 Jalan Pesawat
Singapore 619361

2 Storey offi  ce 
and factory 
building

Offi  ce/
factory

Leasehold
60 years

from 
01/01/1968

to
31/12/2028

 117,790 
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Share Capital

Issued and Fully Paid-up Capital : S$ 40,255,000
Number of shares : 864,280,038
Treasury Shares : Nil
Subsidiary holdings held : Nil
Number of Shareholders : 723
Class of Equity Security : Ordinary Shares
Voঞ ng Rights of Ordinary Shareholders : One vote for each ordinary share

% of the aggregate number of treasury shares and subsidiary holdings held against the total number of issued 
share in issue (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) – 0%

RANGE OF SHAREHOLDINGS
NO. OF 

SHAREHOLDERS %
NO. OF 
SHARES %

1-99   15   2.07 104 0.00
100 – 1,000   32   4.43 25,648 0.00
1,001 – 10,000 163 22.54 844,600 0.10
10,001 – 1,000,000 465 64.32 77,388,030 8.95
1,000,001 AND ABOVE   48   6.64 786,021,656 90.95

723 100.00 864,280,038 100.00

MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS LIST – TOP 20

NO. NAME
NO. OF

SHARES HELD %

1 KOH MIA SENG 369,109,046 42.71
2 DI LINGBIN 100,000,000 11.57
3 LIEW NYOK WAH   62,000,000   7.17
4 CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD   21,865,800   2.53
5 GAN KIM KUAN SERENE   13,270,000   1.54
6 CHEW CHOO LING   12,882,300   1.49
7 SING KHANG MIANT   12,581,700   1.46
8 TAN BEE HONG   12,567,000   1.45
9 OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LTD   12,278,400   1.42
10 DBS NOMINEES PTE LTD   12,189,410   1.41
11 TAN KIM KIM   11,621,000   1.34
12 YANG WENHUA     9,350,000   1.08
13 PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD     8,683,900   1.00
14 PEH SENG THONG     6,783,000 0.78 
15 TAY MEI LING SERENE     6,459,000   0.75
16 ANG KIM LYE     6,438,500   0.74
17 LIM CHIN TONG     6,420,800   0.74
18 TAN KONG SIN     6,177,900   0.71
19 TAN PAI LI     6,000,000   0.69
20 YU LIHONG     6,000,000   0.69

702,677,756 81.27
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Substanঞ al Shareholders
as shown in the Register of Substanঞ al Shareholders

Direct Interest Deemed Interest 
S/No Name of Shareholders No. of shares % No. of shares %

1 KOH MIA SENG 369,109,046 42.71 –   –   
2 DI LINGBIN 100,000,000 11.57 –   –   
3 LIEW NYOK WAH 62,000,000 7.17 –   –   

Shareholding Held in Hands of Public

Based on informaঞ on available to the Company as at 15 December 2017, approximately 37.26% of the 
issued ordinary shares of the Company was held by the public and therefore, Rule 723 of the Lisঞ ng Manual 
Secঞ on B: Rules of Catalist of the Singapore Exchange Securiঞ es Trading Limited, is complied with.
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeঞ ng of Sen Yue Holdings Limited (the “Company”) 
will be held at 3 Jalan Pesawat, Singapore 619361 on Monday, 22 January 2018 at 10.00 a.m. (the “AGM”) to 
transact the following businesses:-

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Statement and the Audited Financial Statements of the Company 
and the Group for the fi nancial year ended 30 September 2017 together with the Independent 
Auditors’ Report thereon. Resoluঞ on 1

2. To re-elect the following Directors of the Company retiring pursuant to Regulation 89 of the 
Company’s Consঞ tuঞ on:-

 
 (a) Mr Liew Nyok Wah; and Resoluঞ on 2

 (b) Mr Low Ka Choon Kevin Resoluঞ on 3

 [See Explanatory Note (i)]
 
4. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$96,250 for the fi nancial year ended 30 September 

2017. (FY2016: S$107,440) Resoluঞ on 4

5. To re-appoint Messrs Deloi� e & Touche LLP as the Auditors of the Company and authorise the 
Directors of the Company to fi x their remuneraঞ on. Resoluঞ on 5

6. To transact any other ordinary business which may properly be transacted at an Annual General 
Meeঞ ng.

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and, if thought fi t, to pass the following Resoluঞ ons as Ordinary Resoluঞ ons, with or without any 
amendments:

7. Authority to issue shares in the capital of the Company pursuant to Secঞ on 161 of the Companies 
Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore (“Companies Act”) and Rule 806 of the Lisঞ ng Manual Secঞ on B: Rules 
of Catalist (“Catalist Rules”) of Singapore Exchange Securiঞ es Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”)

  Resoluঞ on 6

 That pursuant to Secঞ on 161 of the Companies Act and Rule 806 of Catalist Rules of the SGX-ST, 
authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company:-

    
 (a) (i) allot and issue share in the capital of the Company (“Shares”) (whether by way of rights, 

bonus or otherwise); and/or
  
  (ii) make or grant off ers, agreements or opঞ ons (collecঞ vely, “Instruments”) that might or 

would require Shares to be issued, including but not limited to the creaঞ on and issue of 
(as well as adjustments to) opঞ ons, warrants, debentures or other Instruments converঞ ble 
into Shares,

  
  at any ঞ me and upon such terms and condiঞ ons and for such purposes and to such person as 

the Directors may in their absolute discreঞ on deem fi t; and
   



NOTICE OF
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Sen Yue Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2017128

 (b) (notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Resoluঞ on may have ceased to be in force); 
issue Shares in pursuance of any Instruments made or granted by the Directors while this 
Resoluঞ on was in force,

   
 provided that:
    
 (1) the aggregate number of Shares to be issued pursuant to this Resoluঞ on (including Shares to 

be issued in pursuance of the Instruments, made or granted pursuant to this Resoluঞ on) shall 
not exceed 100 percent of the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and 
subsidiary holdings) in the capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-
paragraph (2) below), of which the aggregate number of Shares to be issued other than on a 
pro-rata basis to shareholders of the Company (including Shares to be issued in pursuance of 
the Instruments, made or granted pursuant to this Resoluঞ on) shall not exceed 50 percent of the 
total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in the capital of 
the Company (as calculated in accordance with the sub-paragraph (2) below);

   
 (2) (subject to such manner of calculaঞ on and adjustments as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST) 

for the purpose of determining the aggregate number of Shares that may be issued under sub-
paragraph (1) above, the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary 
holdings) shall be based on the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and 
subsidiary holdings) in the capital of the Company at the ঞ me this Resoluঞ on is passed, a[ er 
adjusঞ ng for:

   
  (a) new Shares arising from the conversion or exercise of converঞ ble securiঞ es;
  
  (b) new Shares arising from exercising share opঞ ons or vesঞ ng of share awards which are 

outstanding or subsisঞ ng at the ঞ me this Resoluঞ on is passed, provided that the share 
opঞ ons or share awards (as the case may be) were granted in compliance with Part VIII of 
Chapter 8 of the Catalist Rules; and

  
  (c) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidaঞ on or subdivision of Shares;
  
 (3) in exercising the authority conferred by this Resoluঞ on, the Company shall comply with the 

provisions of the Catalist Rules for the ঞ me being in force (unless such compliance has been 
waived by the SGX-ST), all applicable legal requirements under the Companies Act, and 
otherwise, and the Company’s Consঞ tuঞ on for the ঞ me being; and

   
 (4) unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeঞ ng, such authority conferred shall 

conঞ nue to be in force unঞ l the conclusion of the next annual general meeঞ ng of the Company 
or the date by which the next annual general meeঞ ng of the Company is required by law to be 
held, whichever is earlier.   

 [See Explanatory Note (ii)]    

By Order of the Board

Wee Woon Hong
Company Secretary

Singapore,
5 January 2018
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Explanatory Notes:

(i) Mr Liew Nyok Wah will, upon re-elecঞ on as a Director of the Company, remain as an Execuঞ ve Director of the Company.

 Mr Low Ka Choon Kevin will, upon re-elecঞ on as a Director of the Company, remain as the Chairman of the Nominaঞ ng 
Commi� ee and a member of the Audit and Remuneraঞ on Commi� ees. The Board considers Mr Low Ka Choon Kevin to be 
independent for the purposes of Rule 704(7) of the Catalist Rules of the SGX-ST.

(ii) The Ordinary Resoluঞ on 6 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company from the date of this AGM unঞ l the date 
of the next annual general meeঞ ng of the Company, or the date by which the next annual general meeঞ ng of the Company is 
required by law to be held or such authority is varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeঞ ng, whichever is the earlier, 
to allot and issue Shares, make or grant Instruments converঞ ble into Shares and to issue Shares pursuant to such Instruments. 
The aggregate number of Shares (including Shares to be made in pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this 
Resoluঞ on) which the Directors may allot and issue under this Resoluঞ on shall not exceed 100% of the total number of issued 
Shares, excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings. For issues of Shares other than on a pro-rata basis to all shareholders, 
the aggregate number of Shares and converঞ ble securiঞ es to be issued shall not exceed 50% of the total number of issued shares, 
excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings at the ঞ me this Resoluঞ on is passed.

Notes:-

(1) A shareholder of the Company enঞ tled to a� end and vote at the AGM may appoint not more than two proxies to a� end and vote 
in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company.

(2) Intermediaries such as banks and capital markets services licence holders which provide custodial services and are members of the 
Company may appoint more than two proxies provided that each proxy is appointed to exercise the rights a� ached to diff erent 
shares held by the member.

(3) The instrument appoinঞ ng a proxy, duly executed, must be deposited at the Company’s Share Registrar, M & C Services Private 
Limited, at 112 Robinson Road, #05-01, Singapore 068902 not less than 48 hours before the ঞ me appointed for holding the AGM.

(4) The instrument appoinঞ ng a proxy must be signed by the appointor or his a� orney duly authorised in wriঞ ng. Where the 
instrument appoinঞ ng a proxy is executed by a corporaঞ on, it must be executed either under its common seal or under the hand 
of any offi  cer or a� orney duly authorised.

(5) A Depositor’s name must appear on the Depository Register maintained by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited as at 72 hours 
before the ঞ me fi xed for holding the AGM in order for the Depositor to be enঞ tled to a� end and vote at the AGM.

PERSONAL DATA PRIVACY

Where a member of the Company submits an instrument appoinঞ ng a proxy(ies) and/or representaঞ ve(s) to a� end, speak and vote at 
the AGM and/or any adjournment thereof, a member of the Company (i) consents to the collecঞ on, use and disclosure of the member’s 
personal data by the Company (or its agents) for the purpose of the processing and administraঞ on by the Company (or its agents) of 
proxies and representaঞ ves appointed for the AGM (including any adjournment thereof) and the preparaঞ on and compilaঞ on of the 
a� endance lists, proxy lists, minutes and other documents relaঞ ng to the AGM (including any adjournment thereof), and in order for the 
Company (or its agents) to comply with any applicable laws, lisঞ ng rules, regulaঞ ons and/or guidelines (collecঞ vely, the “Purposes”), (ii) 
warrants that where the member discloses the personal data of the member’s proxy(ies) and/or representaঞ ve(s) to the Company (or 
its agents), the member has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) and/or representaঞ ve(s) for the collecঞ on, use and disclosure 
by the Company (or its agents) of the personal data of such proxy(ies) and/or representaঞ ve(s) for the Purposes, and (iii) agrees that 
the member will indemnify the Company in respect of any penalঞ es, liabiliঞ es, claims, demands, losses and damages as a result of the 
member’s breach of warranty.



 SEN YUE HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Company Registraঞ on No.: 200105909M)
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

PROXY FORM
(Please see notes overleaf before compleঞ ng 
this form)

IMPORTANT:
1. An Investor who holds shares under the Central Provident Fund Investment 

Scheme (“CPF Investor”) and/or the Supplementary Reঞ rement Scheme 
(“SRS Investors”) (as may be applicable) may a� end and cast his vote(s) at the 
AGM in person. CPF and SRS Investors who are unable to a� end the AGM 
but would like to vote, may inform their CPF and/or SPS Approved Nominees 
to appoint the Chairman of the AGM to act as their proxy. In which case, the 
CPF and SRS Investors shall be precluded from a� ending the AGM.

2. This proxy form is not valid for use by CPF and SRS investors and shall be 
ineff ecঞ ve for all intents and purported to be used by them.

*I/We,  (Name)  (NRIC/Passport No.)

of  (Address)
being a member/members of Sen Yue Holdings Limited (the “Company”), hereby appoint: 

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proporঞ on of Shareholdings
No. of Shares %

*and/or (delete as appropriate)

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proporঞ on of Shareholdings
No. of Shares %

as my/our proxy/proxies to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeঞ ng (the “AGM”) of the 
Company to be held at 3 Jalan Pesawat, Singapore 619361 on Monday, 22 January 2018 at 10.00 a.m. and at any 
adjournment thereof. If no specifi c direcঞ on as to voঞ ng is given or in the event of any other ma� er arising at the 
AGM and at any adjournment thereof, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voঞ ng at his/her discreঞ on.

Please tick here if more than two proxies will be appointed (Please refer to note 3). This is only applicable for 
intermediaries such as banks and capital markets services licence holders which provide custodial services.

All resoluঞ ons put to the vote at the AGM shall be decided by way of poll

No. Resoluঞ ons For Against
ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. Adopঞ on of the Directors’ Statement and the Audited Financial Statements of 
the Company and the Group for the fi nancial year ended 30 September 2017 
together with the Independent Auditors’ Report thereon

2. Re-elecঞ on of Mr Liew Nyok Wah as a Director

3. Re-elecঞ on of Mr Low Ka Choon Kevin as a Director

4. Approval of payment of Directors’ fees of S$96,250 for the fi nancial year 
ended 30 September 2017

5. Re-appointment of Messrs Deloi� e & Touche LLP as Auditors of the Company 
and authorise the Directors to fi x their remuneraঞ on

SPECIAL BUSINESS

6. Authority to allot and issue shares pursuant to Secঞ on 161 of the Companies 
Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore 

(Please indicate your vote “For” or “Against” with a ঞ ck [√] within the box provided. Alternaঞ vely, please indicate 
the number of votes as appropriate) 

Dated this  day of  , 2018

Signature of Shareholder(s)
or Common Seal of Corporate Shareholder
*Delete where inapplicable

Total number of Shares in No. of Shares

(a) CDP Register

(b) Register of Members
 





Notes:

1. Please insert the total number of shares held by you. If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository Register (as 
defi ned in Secঞ on 81SF of the Securiঞ es and Futures Act, Chapter 289 of Singapore), you should insert that number. If you have 
shares registered in your name in the Register of Members of the Company, you should insert that number. If you have shares 
entered against your name in the Depository Register and shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should 
insert the aggregate number. If no number is inserted, this form of proxy will be deemed to relate to all the shares held by you.

2. A shareholder of the Company enঞ tled to a� end and vote at the AGM of the Company may appoint not more than two proxies to 
a� end and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company.

3. Intermediaries such as banks and capital markets services licence holders which provide custodial services and are members of the 
Company may appoint more than two proxies provided that each proxy is appointed to exercise the rights a� ached to diff erent 
shares held by the member. In such event, the relevant intermediary shall submit a list of its proxies together with the informaঞ on 
required in this proxy form to the Company.

4. The instrument appoinঞ ng a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the Company’s Share Registrar, M & C Services Private 
Limited, at 112 Robinson Road, #05-01, Singapore 068902 not less than 48 hours before the ঞ me appointed for the AGM.

5. Where a shareholder of the Company appoints more than one proxy, he/she shall specify the number of shares to be represented 
by each proxy, failing which, the appointment shall be deemed to be in the alternaঞ ve.

6. The instrument appoinঞ ng a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his a� orney duly authorised in 
wriঞ ng. Where the instrument appoinঞ ng a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporaঞ on, it must be executed under its common 
seal or under the hand of its a� orney or by an offi  cer on behalf of the corporaঞ on.

7. Where an instrument appoinঞ ng a proxy or proxies is signed on behalf of the appointor by an a� orney or other authority, the 
power of a� orney or authority or a notarially cerঞ fi ed copy thereof must be lodged with the instrument of proxy, failing which the 
instrument of proxy may be treated as invalid.

8. A corporaঞ on which is a member may authorise by resoluঞ on of its directors or other governing body such person as it thinks fi t 
to act as its representaঞ ve at the AGM, in accordance with Secঞ on 179 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore.

9. The Company shall be enঞ tled to reject an instrument of proxy which is incomplete, improperly completed, illegible or where 
the true intenঞ ons of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instrucঞ ons of the appointor specifi ed on the instrument of 
proxy. In addiঞ on, in the case of shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject an instrument of proxy if the 
member, being the appointor, is not shown to have shares entered against his name in the Depository Register as at 72 hours 
before the ঞ me appointed for holding the AGM, as cerঞ fi ed by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.

PERSONAL DATA PRIVACY:

Where a member of the Company submits an instrument appoinঞ ng a proxy(ies) and/or representaঞ ve(s) to a� end, speak and vote at 
the AGM and/or any adjournment thereof, a member of the Company (i) consents to the collecঞ on, use and disclosure of the member’s 
personal data by the Company (or its agents) for the purpose of the processing and administraঞ on by the Company (or its agents) of 
proxies and representaঞ ves appointed for the AGM (including any adjournment thereof) and the preparaঞ on and compilaঞ on of the 
a� endance lists, proxy lists, minutes and other documents relaঞ ng to the AGM (including any adjournment thereof), and in order for the 
Company (or its agents) to comply with any applicable laws, lisঞ ng rules, regulaঞ ons and/or guidelines (collecঞ vely, the “Purposes”), (ii) 
warrants that where the member discloses the personal data of the member’s proxy(ies) and/or representaঞ ve(s) to the Company (or 
its agents), the member has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) and/or representaঞ ve(s) for the collecঞ on, use and disclosure 
by the Company (or its agents) of the personal data of such proxy(ies) and/or representaঞ ve(s) for the Purposes, and (iii) agrees that 
the member will indemnify the Company in respect of any penalঞ es, liabiliঞ es, claims, demands, losses and damages as a result of the 
member’s breach of warranty.
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